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PREFACE

N THE arable area of this Province of Ontario the fields,
I whether flat or undulating, offer no obstacle to the plough.

The houses are sturdy, roomy dwellings, often of brick

or stone. The spacious barns are an index of prosperity.
The cattle in the pastures are sleek-coated aristocrats; doubt-
less with certificates of registration hanging above their stalls.
At easy distances apart are public schools and churches. It is
a country established, settled, content; a Province of infinite
loveliness, of rich contrasts in every landscape. The grace of
elm-trees, of grain and Indian corn; the color of triangular
spruces, of birches, of Autumn maples and of brass-leaved
poplars; the noise of meadow-larks, of hurrying streams, of
the breaking waves on the broad Lake beaches—these are
the treasures of beauty which are the inheritance of the people.

Yet the site of the City of Toronto, now the pulsing heart
of the Province, was an unbroken forest in 1793 and the whole
of Upper Canada a wilderness of hardwood and pine. By toil
and hardship, through suffering, disputation, conflict and even
battle, the wilderness, although lovely in itself, has been trans-
formed into a new excellence, and this brave City has risen
to a place of power and influence in the Dominion of Canada
and in the world. To unfold the romantic story of its building
is the purpose of this book. How far the performance falls
short of the splendor of the subject the Editor does not dare
seriously to consider.

Official historical materials relating to the early settlement
of Upper Canada and its Capital are limited, by reason of the
burning of the first Government records by the Americans in
1813, and the destruction of the Montreal Parliament Build-
ings in 1849 by a mob. Copies of many documents thus de-
stroyed have been secured from private individuals and from
the Public Records Office in London for the Dominion and the
Provincial Archives but these are only fragments compared to
the mass of material which has been lost. It is only in recent
vears that the Journals of the earliest Parliament have been
published by the Provincial Archives and original printed copies
of the early Statutes are rare. The Minutes of the City Coun-
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cil of Toronto are complete from 1834, the year of incorpora-
tion, but many correspondence files which should supplement
those Minutes, and in a measure clothe the skeleton with flesh,
are missing.

Unofficial records are more common. The papers of Judge
Powell, Hon. Robert Baldwin, Hon. Peter Russell, Bishop
Strachan, Sir John Beverley Robinson and others are of great
value, but there must be other family records of importance
which have not vet been made available to the student. Much
can be gleaned from early newspaper files, though here again
is a lack. For the period between 1812 and 1820 or thereabouts,
few newspapers exist. In the field of original inquiry Dr.
Scadding, Mr. John Ross Robertson, Mr. C. C. James, Mr.
Justice Riddell and Miss Lizars have done invaluable work and
the Editor and his associates owe much to them.

To Dr. George H. Locke and staff of the Toronto Public
Library, to the Librarian of the Provincial Parliament and his
assistants, to Lieutenant-Colonel Fraser, the Provincial Archiv-
ist, and to Dr. Arthur G. Doughty, the Dominion Archivist,
thanks are due. One must not omit acknowledgement of the
co-operation of Mr. W. A. Littlejohn, City Clerk, of Mr. Thomas
Sanderson, his assistant, and of the Special Writers. These
last have been very patient in their dealings with the Editor.

It is not possible to name all who have been helpful. Their
name is legion and their courtesy, infinite. The work of
collecting material has involved a labor of over two years and
until September, 1922, was under the supervision of Mr. John
Lewis. At that time the onerous nature of his newspaper
work compelled him to resign; and the present Editor took
over the task.
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CHAPTER I.
THE FRENCH OCCUPATION

CITY, like an individual, has Personality. Even the most unob-
A servant traveller can discern the distinctive quality of “atmosphere”

which differentiates Baltimore from New York, Detroit from Cleve-
land, London from Paris. That “atmosphere” is not to be discovered in
streets and buildings alone. It is more elusive. In a modern city the con-
tour of the skyline, and the appearance of the buildings along the principal
avenues may change utterly every ten years, but the spirit of the community
remains constant, determining the attractiveness, or otherwise, of the place
to visitors and to residents.

It may be that the dominant thoughts of the majority of the people found
in a community may give that community its “color” or its soul. If that be
true, the story of the making of any great city must necessarily be worth tell-
ing. It has been the scene of struggle and conflict; in business, in politics,
in all the relationships of men. The savor of an old romance or the memory
of an ancient tragedy clings about this street or that. The culture of the
community may trace itseli to the sacrifice of a lover of learning, long since
dead, who mortgaged his farm to help erect the first college building. There
is a fascination in the spectacle of life. Where else is it so varied, so full
of interest, as in the centres of population?

Toronto, the chief city of the Canadian Province of Ontario, is the home
of about 600,000 people; and at least 400,000 more are found in the district
tributary to it. How it rose, from an unbroken forest on the margin of Lake
Ontario, to its present position as a place desirable above all others in the
eyes of the citizens is the subject of the following pages.

N THE first years of the Seventeenth Century when the French began
Ithe exploration of Canada, the peninsula now known as Western Ontario
was occupied mainly by three tribes of Indians; the Hurons, established
in the district between Lake Simcoe and the Georgian Bay, the Petuns or
Tobacco Nation inhabiting the region from the Nottawasaga River to Lake
Huron, and the Neutrals, whose villages ranged towards the south and west
as far as Lake Erie and the Detroit River. The Hurons were at enmity with
the powerful Iroquois, or Five Nations who lived south and east of Lake
Ontario. These Nations, from west to east, were the Senecas, Cayugas,
Onondagas, Oneidas and Mohawks. It has been suggested that the Neutrals
were on good terms with the belligerents because they controlled large
deposits of flints in the Niagara peninsula which both sides required for
arrow-heads and axes. That may or may not be true. If the Neutrals
were the munition dealers of their time, the business was soon ended by
the coming of iron axes and firearms. Neutrality did not save them from
calamity. Ultimately their nation was destroyed by an Iroquois incursion.
All these tribes were of the same racial stock and differed materially
from the nomadic Algonquins found chiefly in the Laurentian country but
often wandering farther south. They lived in villages, practised a rude
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agriculture and had a distinctive social organization and national tradition.
The Hurons were the first to come in touch with the French explorers on
the St. Lawrence. Every summer they made the long canoe-trip from
the Georgian Bay, through French River, Lake Nipissing, the Mattawa
River and the Ottawa, bringing furs to the lower end of the Island of
Montreal or even as far as Three Rivers and Quebec. These peltries were
bartered for iron weapons, trinkets and brandy, and thus the great fur
trade of North America had its beginnings.

Samuel de Champlain was anxious to cultivate the good will of both
the Hurons and the Algonquins, that his plans of exploration in the interior
of the Continent might be furthered. Therefore in the year after the
founding of Quebec, he agreed to accompany and assist an Algonquin war-
party against the Iroquois. On this expedition, which went by way of
the Richelieu River, Lake Champlain was discovered and named. On July
29th, 1609, near Crown Point the Iroquois were encountered. The next
day a battle was fought in which the muskets of Champlain and his two
French companions turned the scale. The Iroquois, terrified by the fire-
arms, were defeated and the victors returned triumphant to the St. Lawrence.
This petty skirmish, for it was little more, had much historical importance.
It definitely ranged the powerful Iroquois confederation against the French,
was the excuse for innumerable incursions and massacres that tormented
the colony of Canada for more than one hundred years, and thus was one
of the prime causes of the final overthrow of French power in 1759,

Having assisted the Algonquins, Champlain acceded to the demand
of the Hurons that some day he should give them support against the
common enemy. He exacted one condition, that as soon as convenient
the Hurons should admit to their country a Christian missionary. Six years
elapsed before the time was considered opportune.

Meanwhile an Algonquin Chief of the Upper Ottawa named Iroquet
was so friendly that Champlain unfolded to him a plan whereby one of
the young Frenchmen might be trained as an interpreter. He suggested
that this youth should go up the Ottawa with the Indians and remain with
them during the winter of 1610 and 1611. Iroquet readily consented, but
when he brought the matter before his tribesmen objections were raised.
It was feared that should any accident befall the young man, vengeance
for his death or injury might be exacted by the French. In view of this
opinion among his followers the Chief refused to carry out the arrange-
ment. ’

Champlain told the tribe that his continued friendship depended upon
them taking the lad as Iroquet had promised. “You are not children,” he
said, “to break your promises in this manner.” After further considera-
tion the Chief suggested that the French should accept in exchange a young
Indian named Savignon and take him across the sea. Thus the life of the
one should be a guarantee for the life of the other. The arrangement
was mutually satisfactory. Savignon saw the glories of Paris which later
he described to his kinsmen, and Etienne Brulé saw the wonders of lake
and hill, forest and stream between the St. Lawrence and Lake Huron,
which afterwards he described in the closest detail to Champlain.
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At least six youths were sent into the woods by the founder of Quebec,
Brulé, Nicolet, Marsolet, Hertel, Marguerie and Vignau. These lived for
a greater or less time with the Indians and acquired sufficient of their
language to act in future as interpreters. Champlain does not say specific-
ally that Etienne Brulé was the youth who went with Iroquet, but in 1618
he declared that Brulé had been among the Indians for eight years. The
testimony also of the Récollet Brother, Sagard-Théodat, the first historian
of Canada, indicates that no other could have been intended in the follow-
ing sentences by Champlain “I had a young lad who had already spent
two winters at Quebec (1608-09, and 1609-10) and who desired to go with
the Algonquins (and Hurons) to learn their language. I thought it well
to send him, because he could see the country, also the great lake, observe
the rivers, the people, the mines, and other rare things, so as to report
truth about all this. He accepted the duty with pleasure.”

Meanwhile Champlain returned to France, and by the summer of 1611
was again on the St. Lawrence to meet the trading flotilla from the Huron
country and the Upper Ottawa. He restored Savignon to his people, and
wrote concerning Brulé, “I saw also my servant. The boy had learned the
Huron language very well.” One of the Huron chiefs said also that his
people had never seen a Frenchman except Champlain’s servant. From
July 1611 to July 1615 the only contemporary mention of Brulé was that
he lived among the savages. There is abundant justification for the opinion
that Etienne Brulé ‘“‘the pioneer of pioneers,” the first of the courewrs de
bois, was the first white man to see this pleasant Province of Ontario.

The summer of 1615 saw the consummation of Champlain’s alliance
with the Hurons, and his start for their distant home. The Indians had
accepted a missionary and Father Joseph Le Caron, a Récollet priest, left
Lachine with the main canoe flotilla on July 6th or 7th, 1615. Twelve armed
Frenchmen were with this party. Champlain with Brulé and another French
companion, and seven Indians left on July 9th in two canoes. It was a
long and toilsome journey; three weeks of paddling and the crossing of
no fewer than 35 portages—one of them nine miles long. In some minor
rapids the Indians did not trouble to land, but waded, shoving the canoes
forward to reach some convenient eddy where paddling might be renewed.
So the explorers came to the mouth of the French River, and thence by way
of “Freshwater Sea” (Mer Douce) as Champlain called Georgian Bay,
threaded their way among the thirty thousand islands to the shores of
Machedash Bay.

Le Caron was conducted to the palisaded village of Carhagouha across
the headland to the westward where a separate cabin was erected for him.
Champlain landed on August 1st at Otouacha about four miles below the
present town of Penetanguishene, and on the other side of the bay. During
the next two weeks Champlain was conducted by his Huron guides to all
the important villages of the settlement. He came to Carhagouha, on
August 12th, where he met Father Le Caron, heard the first mass celebrated
in Ontario, and participated in the singing of Te Deum Laudamus. The
war-party of the Hurons was assembling, the point of concentration being
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Cahiagué on the shore of Lake Simcoe,* near the present town of Hawke-
stone.

They determined to journey towards the enemy’s country by way of
the Trent River route, emerging from that chain of inland lakes and rivers
into the Bay of Quinté, then coasting around the eastern end of the great
Lake to the neighborhood of the present Oswego.

The Hurons had received word that five hundred warriors of the Caran-
touanais tribe, living south of the Iroquois country, probably along the
Susquehanna River, would willingly assist in the attack upon the common
enemy. It was necessary to send a scouting party to acquaint these south-
ern allies of the place of rendezvous and the time fixed for the junction of
the two forces. Twelve of the most stalwart Hurons were chosen for this
special duty which necessarily was toilsome and dangerous, since a part
of the way lay through the enemy country of the Senecas.

Brulé sought and obtained permission to accompany the scouts. They
crossed Lake Simcoe, came through the Holland River marshes, crossed
a portage to the headwaters of the Humber and floated down that fine stream
to Lake Ontario. Etienne Brulé was the first European to see the noble
shore-curve of Humber Bay. The date was probably September 10th, 1615.
William Shakespeare had still seven months to live.

The two canoes coasted around the western end of Lake Ontario and
came to the Niagara River. It i1s unlikely that Brulé saw the Falls of
Niagara at this time. There was need of haste, and the route probably lay
south-east of the present town of Lewiston. Through the forests and marsh-
es the Huron scouts took their way, meeting only one hostile party which
they surprised and defeated, killing four men and capturing two. They
reached Carantouan safely and delivered their message.

Because the war-party subsequently organized was slow in setting
out, the Carantouanais missed the rendezvous by two days, and the Hurons
with Champlain were defeated. Brulé remained with this tribe during the
winter and was able to explore “a river that flows in the direction of
Florida to the sea.” It is believed that he followed the Susquehanna to
the Chesapeake, and then retraced his course to Carantouan.

With the Spring of 1617 Brulé and his Huron companions started back
through the Seneca country towards Lake Ontario. This time they en-
countered a superior force and were compelled to scatter for safety. Dur-
ing two days Brulé was lost in the forest. Finally discovering a trail he
followed it and walked into a Seneca village. At first he was kindly
received, since he denied that he was a Frenchman. The Chief believed
him, but the warriors were more suspicious. They seized him, stretched
him on the ground (probably pegging him out) and applied the forms of
torture which Indians rejoiced to administer. They tore out his finger-

* The Huron name for this body of water was Ouentaroni, or the Lake-Where-
Fish-Are-Speared. According to the late Father Jones, S.J., the eminent antiquarian,
the word “Ouenta’” means a small fish. The place-name Ontario, therefore, has in
itself a reference to the lakes and rivers which water the Province so plentifully,
and give the countryside such enduring beauty and charm. The transfer of the name
“Lake Ontario’” from the small body of water to the large one farther south is one
of the curiosities of history.
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nails with their teeth, applied glowing coals to his body and plucked out
his beard by handfuls. They would have killed him, had not the torture
been interrupted by a furious thunderstorm. The Indians may have imagin-
ed that this storm was a heavenly rebuke. In any case the Chief released
the prisoner, bound up his wounds and treated him kindly. When he had
recovered sufficiently to march he was conducted to Lake Ontario and
found his way back to the Huron country. Thence in 1618 he returned
to the site of Three Rivers, meeting Champlain on July 7th.

What a story he had to tell of the Empire he had seen! How he could
have thrilled the courts of Europe if he had chosen to cross the sea! But
he was still Champlain’s servant. He had a love for savage life and his
friends were in Huronia. Besides there were stories of a great lake north
and west of the Mer Douce. So he rejoined the Indians, coming down again
with the trading flotillas in 1620 and 1621, but spending the time between in
exploration. Sagard says: “At about 80 or 100 French leagues from the
Hurons there is a mine of red copper from which the interpreter Brulé
showed me a large ingot when he came back from a journey he made to a
neighboring nation with a man named Grénolle.”

Year by vear he reported to Champlain the result of his inquiries and
his observations and undoubtedly the uncanny accuracy of Champlain’s
map published in 1632 but probably drawn in 1629 is due to the information
which Brulé brought. But the “servant” lost caste with Champlain when
he acted as pilot for one of the ships of Kirke, the Englishman who captured
Quebec in 1629. He returned to the Hurons while the French were being
sent back to their own country, but three years later he became involved
in a quarrel. The Indians clubbed him to death, and his body was cooked
and eaten. De Brébeuf, the Jesuit missionary, testified in 1635 that he had
seen the place (Toanché)* “where poor Etienne Brulé had been barbarously
and treacherously murdered.”

Champlain after the defeat of 1616 had returned to Huronia by the
Trent waterway, reaching Cahiagué on December 23rd. After a few days’
rest he joined Father Le Caron at Carhagouha and between January 15th
and February 15th, 1616 they two made a journey to the Petun villages.
While, in later years, the Petuns were concentrated in the Blue Hills, it
is believed by antiquaries that at this time their country ranged all the
way from the neighborhood of Stayner to the peak of the Bruce Peninsula
and the east coast of Lake Huron. Concerning this little journey Sagard
says: “He (Le Caron) passed over as far as the Nation of the Petuns, where
he met with more suffering than consolation in his dealings with these
barbarians. They offered him no hearty welcome nor gave sign that his
visit was at all pleasing, acting, it may be, at the instigation of their medicine-
men or magicians who had no wish to be thwarted in or condemned for
their mummeries. So that after a short stay the good Father was constrain-
ed to return to his Hurons, where he remained until it was time for them
to go down to Quebec for the annual barter.”

* The village was not far from Lot 3, Concession 19 of the present Township of
Tiny. Some day a memorial of the first explorer of Ontario might well be erected
in this neighborhood.
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After the departure of Le Caron and Champlain in 1617 neither mission-
aries nor explorers other than Brulé appeared again in the Huron peninsula
of Ontario for six years. Meanwhile Father Le Caron had been in Europe
and had secured reinforcements for the mission. By the middle of August
1623 he, with Father Nicholas Viel and Brother Gabriel Sagard-Théodat
(the historian) were established in the Huron country and remained there,
living near Carhagouha, until the Spring of 1624. Then it was determined
that Le Caron and Sagard should return to the Récollet house at Quebec
to secure necessary supplies. Father Viel remained at the mission until May,
1625. On the way to Quebec, after having passed all the dangers of the long
trade-route, he came to the swift water of the Riviére des Prairies to the
north of the Island of Montreal. Here, whether by accident or by the design
of two or three Indian ruffians, his canoe was upset and he was drowned, in
company with a young Indian convert named Auhaitsic, or “Little Fish.”
There is a suburban village, erroneously called “Ahuntsic” established in
our day on the shore of the “Back River” in plain sight of the Sault au
Récollet.

In 1625 the Jesuits first came to Quebec, having been invited by the
Récollets. The first missionaries were Father Charles Lalemant, Father
Jean de Brébeuf and Father Ennemond Massé who came over from France
in company with two Jesuit lay brothers and a Récollet friar named Joseph
de la Roche d’Aillon. It was found impossible to proceed to the Huron
country until the following year and by that time three more Jesuits had
arrived from oversea. When the Hurons came to the St. Lawrence in the
summer of 1626 they agreed, although reluctantly, to convey three mission-
aries to their country. Accordingly on August lst or thereabouts Father
de Brébeuf, Father Anne de Noué and the Récollet Father d’Aillon stepped
into their canoes and by the end of the month were living at the village
of Toanché a little west of the shore of Penetanguishene Bay.

Father de la Roche d’Aillon had instructions from his superior, Father
Le Caron, to visit the Neutral Nation where no priest had ever been. Ac-
cordingly he set out on October 18th, 1626 in company with two French-
men named respectively Grénolle and La Vallée. (Grénolle was Brulé’s
companion). It is believed that his route was through Grey and Welling-
ton counties and then by way of the Grand River. He was with the Neutrals
about three months, returning to the Jesuit mission about the middle of
March, 1627. That year Father de Noué returned to Quebec, having found
it impossible to learn the vowel-ridden Huron language. D’Aillon left in
1628 and for a year Father Jean de Brébeuf was in Huronia alone.

The sudden appearance in the St. Lawrence of the Kirke brothers,
English sea-raiders, and the prevalence of famine in the colony made it
necessary for De Brébeuf to return to Quebec. He was there on July
19th, 1629, when the Kirkes demanded the surrender of the citv. On the
following day the English entered Quebec and for three years Canada
remained in their possession. The country was ceded back to France by
the Treaty of St. Germain-en-Laye on March 29th 1632. Meanwhile the
missionaries were in France.
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By the Spring of 1634 the Jesuits had returned; Father Paul Le Jeune
being established as Superior at Quebec, and Fathers de Brébeuf, Antoine
Daniel and Ambroise Davost proceeding to Huronia. From that time on-
ward for ten years the Huron Mission became more and more important.
The Fathers built a fort named Ste. Marie on the River Wye and by 1640
this Residence was the home of 15 Jesuit priests and as many Brothers
and domestics. Its ruins may be traced today. Missions were established
in all the principal villages and also in the Petun and Neutral country.
The Hurons were nominally Christian, although they were slow to change
their traditional cruelty towards prisoners.

~Meanwhile the Iroquois were growing more and more troublesome.
They waylaid French and Huron hunting parties, prepared ambushes at
the portages, becoming bolder and more relentless with every success.
Father Isaac Jogues was captured on August 3rd 1642, carried into the
Iroquois country and tortured. He was ransomed by the Dutch Governor
of Albany, Van Corlear, and returned to France. A vear later he was again
in Canada, swinging his paddle, intoning the mass, acting as special envoy
of the French Governor to his former captors and finally going to the
Mohawks as a missionary. He was slain by a tomahawk in the hands of
an infuriated Indian on October 16th, 1646, near the present village of
Auriesville, N.Y.

In 1648 eighteen missionaries were in Huronia. Then came the first
fierce gust presaging the coming storm. St. Joseph, or Teanaustaiae, was
a fortified village beautifully situated on a height overlooking the Cold-
water River. At sunrise on July 4th, 1648, Father Antoine Daniel went
to his chapel to say mass. While the service was in progress the war-cry
of the Iroquois was heard. During the night the enemy had silently
labored at the stockade, undermining the heavy posts with hatchets. At
last a practicable breach was made and into the village they came, an army
of red demons straight from the Pit.

Some attempt at a stand was made by the surprised Hurons, but it
was of short duration. Soon the village was a shambles. Those who
escaped in the first onset ran in a frenzy of terror to the church. Amid
the lamentations of women, children and old men, so many called aloud
for baptism that the priest dipped his handkerchief in the font and baptised
the people by aspersion. Meanwhile he comforted them with heroic words:
“Brothers, to-day we shall be in Paradise.”

At last the invaders come even to the Church. Calmly the priest opens
the door and stands unarmed before them. He questions them. They
pause, abashed, but only for a moment. A musket ball stretches Father
Daniel upon the ground. He is riddled with arrows, his cassock is stripped
from him and his brave body mutilated. Then, the torch! The church,
filled with dead and dying, flames up, a red terror in the midst of that dark
forest. The bloodstained body of the Jesuit is cast into the fire, and the
Iroquois withdraw before the Huron war-parties of revenge can be as-
sembled.

For fourteen years Father Antoine Daniel had labored in Huronia.
He walked with savages on earth. He walks with better company to-
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day, “with Barak and Samson, with David also and Samuel, and with the
prophets, who through faith subdued kingdoms, wrought righteousness,
obtained promises, stopped the mouths of lions, quenched the violence of
fire, out of weakness were made strong.”

During the rest of the summer of 1648 there were no further incursions
in force by the enemy, and by winter the Hurons believed that they were safe
until the ice broke up. But 1,200 Iroquois braved the dangers and dis-
comforts of a winter march in order to make a surprise attack. They took
care to arrive at night outside the stockaded village of St. Ignace some three
miles from St. Louis in a south-easterly direction. Placing warriors in
ambush along the line of retreat, the main body broke through the palisade
and began the massacre. Of the startled fugitives who streamed along
the forest path only three escaped. These came, breathless, to St. Louis.

Scarcely had they told their story when the van of the enemy’s forces
appeared and the Huron warriors gave battle. Many of the women and
children had time to escape in the direction of the fort at Ste. Marie, and
the Indians urged the two priests at St. Louis to follow their example.
They refused. Soon the Iroquois had beaten down all resistance and had

fired all the cabins. Father Jean de Brébeuf and Father Gabriel Lalemant
were captured.*

Back to St. Ignace the yelling victors took their way contemptuous
of possible danger from the other Huron communities. The priests were
stripped and bound to posts to make a holiday for demons. Their finger-
nails were torn off ; they were beaten with great fury. A renegade Huron
mocked De Brébeuf and the rites of the Church by baptising him with
boiling water. He did not quail but preached, telling again and again the
story of the Cross until an Iroquois cut off his lips and his tongue. A collar
of red-hot hatchets was flung about his neck, a belt of bark, full of pitch,
was girt about him and then set on fire. So on and on through the long
March day he endured “as seeing Him who is invisible.” He was captured
in the early morning. He died at four in the afternoon. Father Lalemant,
whose tortures were not less bitter, lived until the morning of March 17th.

Huronia was ended, as a mission field, as the nucleus of civilization,
and as the home of the Huron Indians. Some fled to the St. Mary River.
A remnant accompanied by the Jesuits made their way to the Island of
St. Joseph (now Christian Island) where another fort was established and
occupied on June 15th, 1649. But the Iroquois held the island so closely
invested that any hunting party which crossed to the mainland was sure
to encounter enemies in ambush. The colony on the island was reduced to
a state of famine, and on June 10th, 1650, priests and people took canoes
for Quebec, to live under the shelter of the guns. The descendants of the
broken nation are found to-day in the village of Lorette, and in the Wyan-
dotte tribe settled in the neighborhood of Detroit.

In the years 1650 and 1651 the Petuns and the Neutrals ceased to exist
as separate clans. Such warriors as were not slain in battle or given to
the torture were adopted into one or other of the Iroquois tribes, as were

* Nephew of Father Charles Lalemant, Superior of the Canadian Mission.
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practically all the women, and the western peninsula of Ontario became
a wilderness indeed, visited only by wandering Algonquin hunters.

Lake Ontario was avoided by French traders and explorers, and for
the best of reasons. It was an Iroquois lake, a wiare clausuin dominated
from Niagara to the Thousand Islands by the cunning fighters who plotted
the ruin of the French Colony as they had plotted the ruin of the French-
men’s native allies. In 1666 De Tracy led a considerable force of soldiers,
militiamen, adventurers and Indians against the Mohawks and captured
all their more important villages. The effects of this early punitive expedi-
tion was to dampen the fighting ardor of the enemy and to open Lake
Ontario to French missionaries and explorers.

Robert Cavelier, Sieur de La Salle, a native of Rouen, came to Canada
in 1666, an elder brother being a Sulpician priest in Montreal. The Superior
of the order of St. Sulpice, Abbé Quéylus, was attracted by the energy of
the young man and gave him a grant of land near the Rapids afterwards
called Lachine. Some Seneca Indians told him of the existence of a pleasant
river, to the south of the Lake region, which flowed onward to tidewater.
Naturally La Salle assumed that its course was continually westward to
the “Vermilion Sea” known to-day as the Gulf of California. Was this
the western road to China? La Salle’s imagination kindled at the thought,
and immediately he sought permission from Governor De Courcelles and
Intendant Talon to go exploring. The permission was given, provided La
Salle paid his own expenses. Accordingly he sold his seigneurie, outfitted
fourteen men and procured four canoes.

Meanwhile the Sulpicians were emulous of the Jesuits and desired to
go a-missioning to the more remote Indian tribes. They had already
established a station at Quinté, on the Bay of the same name, where Abbé
Fénelon and Abbé Dollier de Casson were stationed. It was proposed that
Dollier should lead an expedition towards the West, and at the suggestion
of Governor De Courcelles, he joined forces with La Salle, undoubtedly
to the distaste of that hardy and opinionated leader. Dollier had with him
Abbé Galinée, a priest-surveyor, and seven men.

The expedition started from the head of the Rapids on July 6th, 1669,
and reached Lake Ontario on August 2nd. Coasting up the south shore the
explorers came to the present site of Charlotte where Dollier remained
in charge of the canoes, while La Salle and Galinée visited the chief Seneca
village in an attempt to secure guides. They were not successful, but a
visitor in the village from an Iroquois outpost near Burlington offered to
guide them to his home and show a better way to the Great River. The
party reached the outpost, called Otinawatawa, on September 24th and the
Chief gave to La Salle a Shawanoe prisoner who declared that the great
river named the Ohio could be reached in six weeks.

Before a start could be made Louis Joliet arrived in the village. He
had been exploring Lake Superior, had returned, by way of Detroit and
along the north coast of Lake Erie to the mouth of the Grand River; thence
to the portage which brought him to the neighborhood of Burlington Bay.
Joliet reported that the Pottawattamies of the northwest were in dire need
of the Gospel. Accorlingly the priests determined to go in that direction.
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La Salle had no intention of seeing his own plans balked in this manner,
so he pleaded sickness and embarked, ostensibly for Montreal.

Dollier and Galinée descended the Grand River and finding Lake Erie
in the grip of an Autumn tempest, camped first on Long Point and then at
Point Pelee. In the spring of 1670 they were at Detroit, the first officially
recorded passage of the Strait by white men. Thence they paddled to
Sault Ste. Marie, found the territory occupied by Jesuits, and so returned
to Montreal by French River and the Ottawa. La Salle in the meantime
had gone to Onondaga, found a guide and started for the Ohio. Some of
his men deserted, returned to Montreal and named the Rapids “La Chine”
in derision of the project to reach China by westward travel. But La Salle
discovered the river he sought and sailed down it as far as the rapids below
Louisville, Kentucky. On his return to Montreal he showed himself hostile
towards the Sulpicians and thus gained the confidence of Governor Frontenac,
who granted him the trade monopoly of Fort Frontenac, the fortified
post established in 1673 at the present site of Kingston—as a French sentinel
in the Iroquois front-yard.

La Salle, in the hope of prosecuting his discoveries still further, returned
to France and interested a merchant named La Motte de Lussiére who came
to Canada with him in 1678. An expedition was planned to start from
Fort Frontenac. Accordingly on Nov. 18th, 1678, La Motte and Father
Hénnepin, a Récollet friar of adventurous disposition and imaginative tem-
perament, set sail in a ten-ton vessel for Niagara. The lake was stormy
and in order to get partial shelter from a furious north-west wind they came
tacking up the North Shore. On November 26th they reached the Indian
town of Teiaiagon not far from Toronto Bay and ran into the mouth of
a River, supposedly the Humber. It is improbable that this “town” was a
settled community such as those of the Iroquois. More likely, it was an
encampment of tepees, such as the Indians of Algonquin strain, like the
Mississaugas, would erect for the hunting season.

While the little vessel was in shelter the frost came and the sailors
had to cut the ice with axes to free the ship. On December 5th she was
again in clear water and headed for Niagara. La Motte built the first
fortified post on the Niagara River, not far from Lewiston—greatly to the
disgust of the Senecas, and Father Hénnepin wrote the first detailed de-
scription of the Falls of Niagara.

Thus by 1678 the north shore of Lake Ontario was thoroughly known.
Though Fort Niagara soon became a French post of importance, it was
seventy years before any attempt was made to establish a fort at Toronto.
During that period the rivalry between the French colonists and the British
settlements of New England grew ever keener. English-speaking frontiers-
men and French coureurs de bois were in frequent collision. Outlying set-
tlements were in constant danger, since the Iroquois were variable in their
affections and doubtful as to their allegiance. A weak Governor in Quebec
sent them trooping to the English. The presence of a man of action in the
French fortress found them more friendly towards France. More than once
four of the Five Nations were at peace with the French while the fifth tribe
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of the Confederacy was lying in wait along the St. Lawrence for the appear-
ance of a lonely canoe with possible captives in it.

The fur trade was the source of the trouble. France was supreme
along the Upper Lakes and as far as the Mississippi, discovered by Joliet
and Marquette in 1672. The Hudson’s Bay Company gave the English com-
mand of the North, and the New Englanders controlled the area between
the Atlantic Coast and the Niagara River. It had been found that the
Indians, like merchants of a later date, were willing to sell their furs to
the first bidders. Therefore both parties sought to place trading posts at
outlying points convenient to the junction of main trails and waterways.

Sieur de la Salle wrote in his Memoir of 1684 that almost all the peltries
purchased by the English came by Lake Ontario, except such as were brought
from the Illinois country by way of the Ohio River. He continued: “The
English have attempted by means of the Iroquois to attract the Ottaouacs
to themselves. They were to go to them by the route leading from Lake
Huron to the village called Teiaiagon, and would have effected it had not
M. de Frontenac interposed his Fort.”

De Nouville wrote to the Ministry on October 9th, 1686: “M. de la
Durantaye is collecting people to fortify himself at Michilimackinac, and
to occupy the other passage at Toronto which the English might take to
enter Lake Huron. In this way our Englishmen will find somebody to
speak to.”

Still there were no permanent fortifications in this region. although
the route from Lake Huron, by way of Lake Simcoe and the Humber, was
used more and more. The portages were short and easy and all the dangers
of the stormy Lakes were eliminated. Not until after the English Fort
of Choueguen (Oswego) was established did the French bestir themselves.

An official report from De la Jonquiére and Bigot, dated October 1st,
1749, contained the following: “On being informed that the Northern Indians
ordinarily went to Choueguen with their peltries, by way of Toronto, on
the northwest side of Lake Ontario, 25 leagues from Niagara and 75 from
Fort Frontenac, it was thought advisable to establish a post at that place
and to send an officer, fifteen soldiers and some workmen to construct a
small stockaded fort there. Its expense will not be great; the timber is
transported there and the remainder will be conveyed by the barks belong-
ing to Fort Frontenac. Too much care cannot be taken to prevent these
Indians continuing their trade with the English and to furnish them at this
post with all their necessaries, even as cheaply as at Choueguen. Messrs.
de la Jonquiére and Bigot will permit some canoes to go there on license
and will apply the funds as a gratuity to the officer in command.” Intend-
ant Bigot supplemented this despatch as follows: “The King will reap
great advantage if we can accomplish the fall of Choueguen by disgusting
the Indians with that place, and this can be effected only by selling goods
cheaply to them. Mr. Bigot will attend to this. He proposes to oblige
those who will exploit Toronto to sell their goods at a reasonable price.”
The situation of the Fort was on the shore within the present Exhibition
Park, and is marked by a monument. The name chosen was that of the
French Colonial Minister.
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Antoine Louis Rouillé, Comte de Jouey, was born on June 7th, 1689.
He was Councillor in the Parlement of Paris in 1711 and Intendant of Com-
merce in 1725. He was placed at the head of the Royal Library in 1732
and gave his patronage to the translators of De Thou, Guichardini and other
eminent writers. In 1744 he was appointed Councillor of State and Com-
missioner of the India Company, and on April 26th, 1749, succeeded Comte
de Maurépas as Colonial Minister. He filled that office until July 28th,
1754, when he was transferred to the Department of Foreign Affairs, which
he resigned in July 1757. He died at his country seat at Neuilly on Sept-
ember 20th, 1761.

The fort or post was a square of 30 toises to the side (191.7 feet) with
flanks of 15 feet. The “curtains” formed the buildings of the fort. There
must have been some notion that the fort might form the nucleus of a town,
for the King of France approved of a proposed settlement at Toronto. The
information was conveyed to M. Duquésne, by a letter from the Colonial
Minister dated June 16th, 1752. The growing tension between France and
England probably made any such settlement impossible. The French were
too much concerned in keeping the Indians loyal by presents and by brandy
to consider any colonization project.

It must be remembered that the main object of Fort Rouillé was to
undersell the English. Therefore supplies were brought to Toronto in
great quantities and for the Indians who came paddling down the Humber
every day was bargain day. The Abbé Picquet, a Sulpician who made a
canoe-trip about Lake Ontario, in 1751, remarked in his journal on the
excellence of his entertainment and upon the heap of stores assembled
at the Fort.

In a Census of Indian tribes, dated 1736, and supposedly compiled by M.
de la Chauvigniere, it is said that the Mississaugas were found at Quinté,
at the River Toronto and finally at the head of the L.ake. There were about
150 in all. But the travelling Indians from the north and west, were per-
haps more enterprising than the Mississaugas and they must have had
their cupidity excited by a glimpse at this French treasure house.

De Vaudreuil, while Governor of Canada, wrote to the Colonial Minister
on August 30th, 1752, declaring that the country was menaced by a general
conspiracy as between the English and the Indians. “We must fear even
for Toronto,” he declared. He explained that the storekeeper of Toronto
had written to M. de Vercheres, Commandant at Fort Frontenac, expressing
apprehensions over the actions of the Saulteux or Chippawa tribe. They
had dispersed themselves about the head of Lake Ontario, and since the
Post was surrounded he doubted not but that they had some evil design.
De Vaudreuil continued: “My Lord, it is the English who are inducing the
Indians to destroy the French. They would give a good deal to get the
savages to destroy Fort Toronto on account of the essential injury it does
their trade at Choueguen.”

Six years later the question between the French and English in America
was not the mere profit of this or that trading post, but the ultimate suprem-
acy of one or other over a Continent. On Sept. 2nd, 1758, De Vaudreuil wrote
to M. de Massaie “If the English should make their appearance at Toronto
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I have given orders to burn it at once and to fall back upon Niagara.”
Pouchot, the French commander at Fort Niagara, relates in his Memoirs the
story of an Indian project in 1757 to massacre the garrison: “The Mississakes
(Mississaugas) who were to go to Montreal assembled to the number of
ninety at Toronto, where there was a garrison of ten men; although there
was a large supply of goods, the trade at this post being in the hands of
Mr. Varrin. The Indians formed a plan of murdering this little garrison,
and of pillaging the fort. Mr. de Noyelle, who commanded there, was
notified by a French domestic among them that the Indians were only wait-
ing news from Detroit to execute their design, and despatched a canoe with
two men to Niagara, a distance of 30 leagues, to solicit help. Mr. Pouchot
at once sent M. de la Ferte, Captain of Sarre, and M. de Pinsun, an officer
of Béarn with sixty-one men, there being a swivel gun in each batteau.”

The expedition reached Toronto at four o’clock on the evening of the
next day and found the Indians in their huts near the fort. A volley of
artillery fire and musketry above the heads of the Indians brought them
into a better frame of mind. They confessed that a massacre had been
contemplated but gave as a reason that some one had given them bad news,
“how that the French troops were coming to kill them, that we had made
a treaty with the Flatheads, their enemies, that the English had beaten
us, that we were concealing ourselves and other stuff of the sort.” In
Pouchot’s opinion the only real reason was that they felt themselves in force,
and wanted to get a supply of brandy for nothing.

Fort Rouillé was never a militarv post. That distinction was reserved
for Fort Niagara. When the long struggle between French and English
approached its point of climax in the summer of 1759 an English expedition
under General Prideaux and Sir William Johnson marched westward to-
wards Fort Niagara. Pouchot, the French commander, following instruc-
tions, burned the Fort at Toronto, withdrew the garrison and put the
Niagara fortress in posture of defence. The siege was long, but the French
were vastly outnumbered and finally surrendered to Sir William Johnson,
General Prideaux having been killed. Pouchot’s map of Lake Ontario,
afterwards published in his Memoirs of the War is a most interesting
document. The Humber is clearly shown, with “Toronto” at its junction
with the Lake. The Island appears as a peninsula and is so marked
“presqu’isle.” *

After the capture of Niagara Sir William Johnson detailed Lieutenant
Francis with 30 men to cross the Lake and reconnoitre Fort Toronto. All
they found were the charred remains of the building and stockade-posts.
A Chippawa Indian chief returned to Niagara with Francis and accepted
a British medal to hang about his neck in place of the French one he was
wearing.

One year after the Battle of the Plains of Abraham, General Amherst
sent a force of 200 Rangers under Major Robert Rogers to take possession

* Guillaume Delisle’s map of 1703 shows an unnamed dot at the site of Toronto.
A map by Herman Moll, dated 1720 names the present Lake Simcoe “Lake Toronto’”
and Machedash Bay as “Bay of Toronto.” M. Bellin, a French engineer, published a

map in 1755 which marked Lake Simcoe as ‘“Lake Taronto.” but gave no indication
of a settlement at the mouth of the Humber,
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of the Lake country. The expedition came up the St. Lawrence in fifteen
whaleboats and on September 30th, 1760, was at the mouth of the Humber.
The Journal of the officer in command reported that around the place
“where the French formerly had a fort” there was a tract of about 300
acres of cleared land. ‘

On December 3rd, 1767, Sir William Johnson wrote a long report to
the Earl of Shelburne. An extract from that document follows: “Every
step our traders take beyond the Posts is attended at least with some
risque and a very heavy expense, which the Indians must feel as heavyly
on the purchase of their commodities. Is it not reasonable to suppose
that thev would rather employ their Idle time in quest of a cheap market,
than sit down with such slender returns as they must receive in their
own villages? As a proof of which I shall give one instance concerning
Toronto on the north shore of Lake Ontario, formerly dependant on Niagara,
which, notwithstanding the assertion of Major Rogers ‘that even a single
Trader would not think it worth attention to supply a dependant Post’
vet I have heard Traders of long experience and good circumstances
afirm that for the exclusive trade of that place for one season they would
willingly pay £1,000, so certain were they of a quiet market from the cheap-
ness at which they could afford their goods their.” Any woodsman of
easy morals who could meet an Indian fur-train and display either French
brandy or English rum was likely to do a profitable business, to the dis-
advantage of the trade-monopolist.

In 1774 the Quebec Act was passed, delimiting the boundaries of
the Province of Quebec, guaranteeing to French Canadians the free exercise
of their religion, establishing French civil law and English criminal law,
and providing for the appointment of a lLegislative Council. Two years
later the Thirteen States were on the verge of revolt. Not the least of
their grievances was the breadth of the concessions in this legislation.
The boundary section of the Act declared that the Province of Quebec
extended northward to the territories of the Hudson’s Bay Company,
westward from Lake Erie to the Ohio River and along the Ohio to the
Mississippl.

This is not the place for a review of the American Revolution, but
the terms of peace signed at Paris on November 30th, 1782 and proclaim-
ed on September 3rd, 1783, had an important bearing on the formation of
Upper Canada and its history. The British commission surrendered
without adequate reason to the United States that empite known to-day
as the American Middle West, but secured as a make-weight an under-
taking from the United States Government to recommend to each of the
States the passage of a general amnesty Act. This suggested measure was
for the benefit of Loyalists in the Republic, whose syvmpathies had been
continually with the King. They had suffered many indignities, injuries
and losses in the heat engendered by civil war; their property had been
seized and many of them were under indictment as traitors to the winning
side.

The request of Congress was flouted by all the States save South
Carolina and the Federal authority was not strong enough to require the
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observance of the spirit of the treaty. The continued persecution of
“Tories” forced thousands of them into exile, and under these circum-
stances Great Britain resolutely refused to implement the section of the
Treaty fixing the boundary between Canada and the United States. For
that reason Niagara remained a British Fort and red-coat garrisons still
sat in Detroit, at Oswego and at Michilimackinac. Moreover, at the direct
instruction of Lord Dorchester a British Fort was built on the Maumee
River near the western border of the present State of Ohio. The
Indians of the district south and west of Detroit insisted that no American
settlers should come north of the Ohio River. The Americans were con-
vinced that Dorchester would welcome a renewal of war and would let
loose the Mohawks, now settled on the Grand River to scalp, burn and
destroy. The British officials, on the other hand, were convinced that the
aim of the Americans was to overwhelm Upper Canada, destroy British
interests on the Continent and pursue the Tories to the ends of the earth.
Thus the hostility between Monarchy and Republic was as bitter as it
had ever been.

The Loyalists had a sore experience. Those of the Southern Colonies
went to the West Indies. The ‘“Tories” of New York and the New
England States went to Canada. About 3,000 claimed compensation from
the British Government. By 1790, 1,680 of these claims had been allowed
with a total award of £1,887,548. By far the greater number made no
direct claim, but emigrated to the Canadian woods and were given grants
of money and land by the Government of Canada. It is estimated that
the compensation for losses reached $18000,000 and the land grants
3,000,000 acres.

Captain Bonnycastle, writing of this period said: “The western part
of Canada, abandoned after the Conquest as an Indian hunting ground,
or occupied at its western extremity on Lake Erie by a few French
colonists began now to assume importance. Those excellent men, who pre-
ferred to sacrifice life and fortune rather than forego the enviable dis-
tinction of being British subjects, saw that this vast field afforded a sure
and certain mode of safety and of honorable retreat; and accordingly in
1783, 10,000 were enumerated in that portion of Canada, who, under the
proud title of United Empire Loyalists had turned their backs forever
upon the new-fangled republicanism and treason of the country of their
birth.”

In those days Albany was on the frontier of the wilderness. Lovalists
frequently went northward from Albany, by way of the Mohawk River
and Wood Creek, thence by a portage to Oneida Lake and down the river
to Oswego. Once on Lake Ontario there were three routes; to the Bay
of Quinté, to the Niagara District and Burlington, and to the neighbor-
hood of Long Point on Lake Erie. Many others took the land route by
way of ill-trodden forest trails in the Iroquois country to Niagara. They
had good friends in the Indians whose sympathies with the British set
them at hot variance with the ungentle republican frontiersmen.

Many of the founders of prominent Canadian families made the toil-
some journey into exile. One of the picturesque figures of the time was
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Captain Lippincott of New Jerscy, married to Esther Borden of Borden-
town in the same State. During the war he had served in the British army,
and his temper was not improved by the excesses of some American hot-
heads. A Loyalist named Peter White, a relative of Lippincott, had been
killed by a Captain Huddy. Huddy was captured with two others and
arrangements were made for an exchange of prisoners. Two of the men
were duly exchanged, but Lippincott, on army orders, hanged Huddy at
Sandy Hook near New York, on April 12th, 1782, and pinned on the cloth-
ing of the corpse this notice “Up goes Huddy for Peter White.” Washing-
ton required of the British authorities the surrender of Lippincott. The
demand was refused. Whereupon the Americans announced that Captain
Asgill, a British officer-prisoner, would be hanged in Lippincott’s place.
Captain Asgill’s mother went from London to Paris and besought the
good offices of the Court of France with Washington to save the life of her
son. As a result of diplomatic representation by the French Government the
American decision was revoked.

Meanwhile Captain Lippincott escaped to Canada. In 1793 he was
granted 3,000 acres in the Township of Vaughan. He lived and died in
Richmond Hill, and his daughter, Esther Borden Lippincott, was married
in 1806 to Colonel George Taylor Denison, the first of that distinguished
name.

The system of land grants approved by the Governor of Canada for
Loyalist army men provided that a field officer should receive 5,000 acres,
a captain 3,000 acres, a subaltern, 2,000, and a private soldier, 200 acres.
Generous grants were made also to loyalists who had not been in active
service but whose dislike of republicanism drove them across the Cana-
dian Border. Nine vears after the close of the Revolutionary War the
population of the present Province of Ontario was over 12,000, though as
vet no permanent settlement had been established at Toronto.
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CHAPTER IL

THE FOUNDING OF UPPER CANADA

EN of sufficient character, resolution and endurance to journey for
M hundreds of miles on foot or in open boats merely because they
were particular as to what flag sheltered them were the founders of
Ontario. Though the journey from the States to Canada was long and
toilsome, the immigrants coming from Europe had fully as much need of
fortitude. They faced a vovage of two months in dirty cockle-shells,
unnecessarily dignified by the name of ships. The peak of discomfort was
reached in the steerage quarters of such vessels. The food was scanty
and mean. The crews often consisted of brutish men, restrained from
mutiny and robbery only by force, and generally speaking the officers
had the smallest claim to gentility. Dr. Johnson, knowing the conditions,
said on one occasion to James Boswell, his biographer, that no sane man
would become a sailor “if he could contrive to get into a jail.” His liberty
was no less restricted in prison, and commonly the food was better. Yet
the jails at that period were mere sink-holes of filth and fever.

The immigrant having arrived at Quebec found his troubles only be-
ginning. The journey to Kingston against a swift current was full of
hardships, and even on Lake Ontario travel in an open batteau for more
than 200 miles must have lacked “the evanescent grace of charm” particu-
larly during the stormy months of Autumn. Conditions at home must have
been bitter to drive Englishmen, Scots, and Irishmen to Upper Canada.
Only the most venturesome and determined men and women made the
trial, but their hardihood and resolution helped to build this Province of
Ontario and were transmitted to the second and third generation.

As the settlements began to rise Government officers perceived that
it would be neither possible nor desirable to withhold from these pioneers
a measure of self government. At that time Canada was ruled from
Quebec by the Governor and an appointed Council of not fewer than 17
members and while that form of administration was not distasteful to
the French habitants, wholly unused to the licentious excitement of elec-
tions, it was bitterly resented by English-speaking residents of Montreal
and the Eastern Townships.

These folk, like the TLoyalists who came to the shores of Lake Ontario
and Lake Erie, were for the most part Colonial-born. They had lived
under the free institutions of the Town Meeting and the Assembly which
were fully established in New England, and many of them had been con-
vinced that the British Government in its dealings with the Thirteen
States had been unduly harsh. They had parted company with their neigh-
bors on the proper method to correct their grievances, rather than by deny-
ing that grievances existed. Moreover they had suffered in body, mind and
estate because of their loyalty and had a right to expect a large measure
of consideration from Great Britain.

39
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Lord Dorchester, formerly Sir Guy Carleton, was no apostle of demo-
cracy, but he realized that the time had come for the organization of a
new Province and of representative Assemblies. He informed the Govern-
ment of his conclusion. Therefore in 1791 Parliament passed the “Consti-
tutional Act” whereby Upper and Lower Canada were established. Seignor-
ial tenure and French Civil Law actually obtained in the French settlements
which were based on Montreal and Quebec, but the grants of land made to
the Loyalists had been in fee simple following English practice. There was
a clear division already existing between the “custom” of the French and
that of the English settlements. The Constitutional Act made the separation
legal,

It provided that each Province should have a Lieutenant Governor,
an appointive Legislative Council and a Legislative Assembly elected by
the people and sitting for four years. The Governor of Canada continued
to live in Quebec. In theory the Lieutenant Governor of Upper Canada was
under his authority, but ultimately, distance and other considerations
rendered the head of the English-speaking Province practically independent.

Many details of government, such as the relative powers of the Gover-
nor and Lieutenant Governor were not defined in the statute, but were left
to the “King’s pleasure” and no provision was made for the Legislative
Assembly to have any vital influence on the course of the administration.
The government was placed in the hands of the Executive. A vote of
want of confidence in the Legislature could have only a moral effect.

It was a time when students of politics in all countries were won by
the theory that there should be complete separation of the executive, legis-
iative and judicial functions of government. The Constitution of the United
States of America was written in the light of that theory, and to this day
the President and his Council are not directly controlled by Congress.
For two years after the Congressional elections the American Senate and
House of Representatives may be in opposition to the President’s admini-
stration, without the power of influencing that administration save in-
directly. On the contrary, in British countries the Government must resign
as soon as it ceases to command a majority in the representative House.
That happy condition of affairs is the result of reforms which have come
gradually. It would not be possible in our time for any British Govern-
ment to have the broad and practically unreviewed powers which were ex-
ercised by George III. and his Cabinet—despite the Bill of Rights.

The Constitutional Act of 1791 had within itself the germs of decay,
but at the time it made a fair appearance to English Parliamentarians, parti-
cularly since the Government contemplated for Canada the granting of
hereditary titles and the supporting of an Established Church. It was said to
be “no mutilated constitution, but the very image and transcript of that of
Great Britain.” This utterance was made by the first Lieutenant-Governor,
Lt. Col. John Graves Simcoe, with whom the separate history of Upper
Canada begins.

Simcoe was born in 1752 and served the King in the 35th and 40th
Regiments of Foot during the war against the American revolutionists.
In 1777 he was a Major, in temporary command of the Queen’s Rangers,
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and in 1781 he was gazetted Lieutenant-Colonel. A period of retirement
followed. He was married in 1782 to Elizabeth Posthuma Gwillim, the
daughter of one of Wolfe’s brigade-majors at the Siege of Quebec, and in
1790 was elected to the British House of Commons. During the debate on
the Constitutional Act he spoke in favor of the organization of another
Province. His Parliamentary career was short, for in 1791 he was named
as Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada and sailed on September 26th
in company with Mrs. Simcoe and two of their six children, Sophia and
Francis Gwillim. On his arrival at Quebec the proclamation was made,
dividing the colony into two Provinces, but since only one of the men
selected for his Executive Council was in the country it was not possible
for the Lieutenant-Governor to be sworn in. Not until June 8th, 1792, was he
able to leave Quebec for Kingston. He and his party travelled in batteaux,
On July Ist, Lt.-Col. Simcoe took the oath of office in the Protestant
Church of Kingston. His Legislative Council consisted of William Osgoode,
Chief Justice, Alexander Grant, Peter Russell, James Baby, John Munro,
Richard Cartwright, jr., Robert Hamilton and Richard Duncan. William
Robertson was named but never served and in 1793 his place was taken
by Captain Zneas Shaw. The Executive was made up of the first four
named.

The Lieutenant-Governor with his family and a sufficient staff arrived
at Newark, now Niagara-on-the-Lake, on July 26th, 1792, Newark was the
most considerable community in the country, and Navy Hall, a large
wooden building erected by Governor Haldimand for the comfort and con-
venience of naval officers serving on the Lakes, was considered suitable
for the Government offices, and the Assembly Chamber. The Legislative
Council needed less space since there were only nine members; a building
formerly used as a barracks by Butler’s Rangers, served the purpose.

While at Kingston the Lieut. Governor had issued a proclamation (July
16th, 1792) dividing the Province into nineteen counties for electoral pur-
poses, and fixing the date for the election of members to the Assembly.

He had also appointed the following officials: Major Littlehales, Military
Secretary; Col. Talbot, aide-de-camp; Robt. I. D. Gray, Solicitor-General;
John Small, clerk of the Executive Council; William Jarvis, civil secretary;
Peter Russell, Receiver General; D. W. Smith, Surveyor General; Thos
Ridout and William Chewett, Assistants to the Surveyor General; Peter
Clark, Clerk of the Legislative Council; Col. John Butler, Superintendent
of Indian Affairs.

The members of the first Legislative Assembly of Upper Canada, elect-
ed on August 27th, 1792, were as follows: GLENGARRY,: John Macdonell
(Speaker) and Hugh Macdonell; STORMONT, Jeremiah French; DUNDAS,
Alexander Campbell; GRENVILLE, Ephraim Jones; LEEDS and FRONT-
ENAC, John White; ADDINGTON and ONTARIO, Joshua Booth; PRINCE
EDWARD and ADOLPHUSTOWN, Philip Dorland (replaced by Philip
Vanalstine) ; LENNOX, HASTINGS, and NORTHUMBERLAND, Hazleton
Spencer; DURHAM, YORK and 1st. LINCOLN, Nathaniel Pettit; 2nd.
LINCOLN, Benjamin Pawling; 3rd. LINCOLN, Parshall Terry; 4th LIN-
COLN and NORFOLK, Isaac Swayzie; SUFFOLK, (now Elgin) and ES-
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SEX, D. W. Smith; KENT (2) Francis Baby and William Macomb. Mr.
Dorland, the member for Prince Edward, was a Quaker and refused to take
the oath.* For that reason he was not counted “a fit and proper person.”
Conscientious objections were not too tenderly considered in those times.

\'analstine was a lovalist from the neighborhood of Albany, who had
seen military service. Indeed, the whole house was a nest of fighters. John
Macdonell, elected Speaker, had been a Captain in Butler's Rangers, a corps
distinctly unpopular in the United States. Hugh Macdonell, his brother,
had been a lieutenant in the King’s Royal Regiment of Foot of New York.
Before the Revolution they had lived in the Mohawk Valley.

Jeremiah French, a Vermont loyalist, had served in the King’s Royal
Regiment. His wife, Eliza Wheeler, had been expelled from Albany and
from New York because of her opinions. Ephraim Jones had been
a Massachusetts loyalist, and Joshua Booth had lived in New York State
until his opinions made it necessary for him to depart, and probably to fight.
Hazelton Spencer marched from Vermont into the King’s Royal Regiment.
Nathaniel Pettit was a Pennsylvania loyalist, as also was Benjamin Paw-
ling. The latter had been a Captain in Butler’s Rangers.

lsaac Swayzie had been a scout, “the pilot to the New York army,” as
Dorchester said. The murder of his wife by Americans made him their im-
placable foe. His services to the “Tories” and to the King made him a
marked man and he had many narrow escapes from capture. On one occa-
sion he was concealed in a cellar when Americans burst into the house.
Failing to find him they bayonetted his younger brother, and the blood
dripped down on him. Parshall Terry had been a lieutenant in Butler’s
Rangers. D. W. Smith was a lieutenant in the Fifth Foot, in garrison at
Niagara. \illiam Macomb lived at Detroit and had a brother who favored
the A\mecrican side of the controversy. That brother’s son, Alexander, was a
United States General in 1812 and from 1828 to 1841 he was Commander-in-
Chief of the United States forces.**

The Governor’s Executive Councillors were all members of the Upper
appointive House. Osgoode was the Speaker. The only representative of
the Administration who had a seat in the Assembly was John White, Attor-
ney-General, of Leeds and Frontenac. For the most part the members were
of the settler class, a fact which disturbed Simcoe not a little. He would
have been better pleased if the men elected had been of a higher social
status. He wrote to the Secretary for the Colonies: “It was by good for-
tune that the temporary residence I made at Kingston created sufficient in-
fluence to enable us to bring Attorney General White into the House.”
Clearly the elective Chamber was onlv a debating society, and responsible
government was vet a long way off.

The main business of the first session, which opened at Newark on Scp-
tember 17, 1792, and prorogued October 15th. was to declare that the laws
of Quebec were without force in Upper Canada, to establish the laws of
" % Not until 1883 was it possible for a Member of the British House of Commons

to substitute affirmation for the oath. The law was changed as a result of the noisy
and unedifying Bradlaugh case.

*% These personal details concerning the first legislators of Upper Canada were

collected by the late Mr, C, C. James and appear in a paper read by him before the
Royal Society of Canada.
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England, to provide for the building of Court Houses and Jails in the four
districts into which the Province was divided, and to establish trial by jury.
These districts as originally established by Lord Dorchester on July
24th, 1788, were named Lunenburg, Mecklenburg, Nassau and Hesse, their
respective limits being from the Quebec border to Gananoque, from Ganan-
oque to the Trent, from the Trent to Long Point, and from Long Point
to Detroit. For three of them lay Judges had been named. Hon. Wm.
Dummer Powell of Hesse was the first professional judge in Upper Canada.
The first Legislature re-named the districts Eastern, Midland, Home and
Western. A bill was introduced to validate marriages, which had not been
solemnized by an ordained clergvman. Owing to the sparseness of the
population marriages had been performed under a Quebec ordinance by
magistrates and military officers. The Bill was withdrawn, after some dis-
cussion, that the Government might communicate with the Colonial Office.
With minor modifications it was introduced and passed at the second scssion.
At the arrival of Col. Simcoe in Upper Canada the Fort of Niagara was
still held by British troops; two companies of the Fifth Foot under Major
Smith. But the Governor knew the terms of the Boundary Treaty with
the United States and realized that in time that fortress would be evacuated
and handed over to the Republic. Therefore he was convinced that
Newark was not a suitable site for the capital of the new Province. One
of his first tasks after meeting the Legislature in 1792 was to seek for a
seat of Government which would be out of range of a possible enemy’s
guns. The scope of his preliminary journeys is indicated by the following
extracts from Mrs. Simcoe’s diary.*
“1793. Jan. 10. The Governor set out to walk to Burlington Bay, about
fifty miles from here.
Jan. 17. The Governor returned at five to-day from his walk to
Burlington Bay. He was delighted with the beauty of the country

and the industry of the inhabitants. . . . He lodged every night in
houses where he was accommodated with a clean room and a good
fire.”

During January Col. Simcoe and his staff made a more extended pedes-
trian tour, by way of the present cities of Brantford, L.ondon, and Chatham
to Detroit.

Mrs. Simcoe wrote on March 10th: “The Governor returned. He found
his expectations perfectly realized as to the goodness of the country on the
banks of La Tranche (named The Thames by Col. Simcoe on July 16, 1792),
and is confirmed in his opinion that the fork of the river is the most proper
site for the capital of the country to be called New London, on a fine, dryv
plain, without underwood, but abounding in good oak trees.”

Lieut.-Governor Simcoe recommended the selection of London as the
capital, but the Governor of Canada, Lord Dorchester, did not favor the
suggestion. He would have preferred Kingston. His choice of Toronto
was due in part to the excellence of the harbor, but in part to a compromise.

On May 2nd, 1793, Col. Simcoe, accompanied by seven officers, coasted
around the Lake in a batteau to inspect the north shore. On May 13th

* Wdited and published by Mr. John Ross Robertson.
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Mrs. Simcoe wrote: “Colonel Simcoe returned from Toronto and speaks
in praise of the harbor and a fine spot near it, covered with large oaks,
which he intends to fix upon as the site for a town.”

Arrangements were made for an official summer visit to the new town-
site, and on July 20th one hundred men of the Queen’s Rangers, in charge
of Captain Shaw, crossed the lake in batteaux.* Two days later Captain
Smith followed in the schooner “Caldwell.” Within a week Mrs. Simcoe
sailed on the “Mississauga” and at 8 o’clock on the morning of July 30th
was in Toronto harbor. The Governor probably was a few days later in
arriving.  Mrs. Simcoe’s entry in her Diary for July 30th here follows:
“The Queen’s Rangers are encamped opposite to the ship. After dinner we
went on shore to fix a spot whereon to place the canvas house, and we
chose a rising ground, divided by a creek from the camp, which is ordered to
be cleared immediately.” The “rising ground” was close to the present
Queen’s Wharf at the southern end of Bathurst Street, and the stream was
Garrison Creek, long ago transformed into an underground sewer.

The “canvas house” which served as the Governor’s residence, had orig-
inally belonged to Captain Cook, the circumnavigator. It was bought by
Col. Simcoe in London, at a sale of the explorer’s effects.

Mrs. Simcoe’s enthusiasm never flagged. One day she was exploring
the Peninsula, which did not become an Island until 1854, when the lake
broke through the narrow sandbar. Another day she was going to the
townsite, east of (George Street, on the waterfront, where she met Mr.
Alexander Aitkens, the surveyor who was laying out the first streets. Again
she was in a small boat examining the remarkable heights to the eastward.
“The shore is extremely bold,” she wrote, “and has the appearance of chalk
cliffs.” She and her husband entertained themselves by the suggestion that
they might build a summer house there and call it Scarborough. On another
occasion they visited “the creek which is to be called the River Don.” There
was a little journey to the site of the old French Fort, but no buildings or
remains of buildings were discoverable. Wherever she went the Governor’s
lady was charmed with the natural beauty of the forest and the shore, and
she sketched indefatigably. She was younger than her husband, perhaps a

* The Queen’s Rangers, originally known as Rogers’s Rangers was raised in
Connecticut and about New York by Colonel Robert Rogers, who had visited Toronto
in 1760. It had a strength of 400 men. In 1776 Rogers was named Governor of
Michilimackinac and was succeeded in command of the Rangers first by Colonel
French, then by Major Weymess, and finally by Major John Graves Simcoe. The
corps was disbanded in 1782, but was revived in Canada during 1791. The men
enlisted were old soldiers of the regular regiments, strengthened by a draft of
discharged English regulars which arrived in Canada in 1792. Lieut.-Col. Simcoe
resumed the command and stationed the regiment at York where the men were
used in clearing lands intended for public use and in opening military roads, such
as Dundas and Yonge Streets. The regiment was finally disbanded in 1802.

The daily ration of the regular soldier consisted of 1 pound of flour, 1 pound
of salt pork, 4 ounces of rice and a little butter. It was delivered at a charge of
6d. a day which was deducted from the man’s pay. The regulations concerning
the appearance of the regular infantry were very strict. The hair was powdered
or made white by a slab mixture of whitening and pomatum, all belts were pipe-
clayed and all buttons made bright. The costume consisted of white trousers,
a scarlet tunie, with cross belts and a cocked hat. This was for soldiers of the
line, such as the Fifth Foot. The Queen’s Rangers and other semi-irregulars were
in dark green, and may be considered as the ancestors of the Rifle Brigade. Any
regiment sent to Canada remained seven years in the country and did garrison
duty for three years in one place.
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shade less stately and serious, though not less courtly, and seemed to be
wholly fascinated by the novelty of the wilderness.

Hon. Peter Russell, the Receiver-General, came to Toronto Bay at the
end of August 1793, to attend a Council summoned by the Governor. \While
he was impressed with the excellence of the site for a town the crudity of
all things appealed to his sense of humor. He wrote as follows to his
sister at Newark under date of September 1st: “The Governor and Mrs.
Simcoe received me very graciously but you can have no conception of
the misery in which they live, the canvas house being their only residence,
in one room of which they lie, and see company, and in the other end—
the nurse, children squawling, etc. An open bower covers us at dinner
and a tent with a small table and three chairs serves us for a Council
Room. We had a Council of half-an-hour yesterday, and another to-day,
after Church,* of three hours. But many more will be required before we
can get through the multiplicity of important business that awaits our
decision. I attended His Excellency yesterday up (the shore to) the Town,
about two miles from our camp. Nothing can be pleasanter than this
beautiful Bason, bounded on one side by a number of low, sandy penin-
sulas, and on the other by a bluff bank of 60 feet, from which extends
back a thick wood of huge forest trees. The town occupies a flat about
50 yards from the water. The situation I believe healthy as the ground
is perfectly dry, and consists for the present of four ranges of squares,
each court containing five squares and each square two rows of houses,
four in each row. The ranges of squares are bounded by board streets,
and the front of the houses are to be 46 feet in length and to be built after
a model, with columns, facing the water.

“When this plan is to be carried into execution the Lord only knows—
for no attempt has been yet made by any intended inhabitants except Mr.
Robinson, who is making preparations for erecting a small back house.
His Excellency makes much difficulty about getting either Town or farm
lots. I am in doubt whether I shall trouble him with an application for
myself. 1 have reminded him of the Waillcocks, and obtained front lots
with a farm lot attached, of 100 acres each. Denison’s farm lot I could
not obtain because I could not promise that he would come to settle.

“His Excellency has fallen so much in love with the land that he in-
tends to reserve from population the whole front, from the Town to the
Fort, a space of nearly three miles, so that if we have a town on this
principle, it must be fed from the Bay of Quinte instead of its fertile
neighborhood. The air on the opposite side is clear and healthy, and (there
is) a hard sand of several miles to ride or drive a carriage on. The Chief
Justice and I are to return, I hope, on the ‘Mississauga,” but fear she will
not be unloaded these six days yet.”

Hon. Mr. Russell’s unfeigned enthusiasm over the site of the dream-
town was expressed again in a letter to Mr. Gray of Montreal, dated
September 16th: “I am charmed with the situation of the proposed city

* The first record of a Protestant service. As there is no reference to the
presence of a chaplain it is possible that Colonel Simcoe himself read the prayers,
as the military officer in command.
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of York in the Bay of Toronto, and the fertility of the country round it;
both which, for beauty, safety and convenience exceeds everything the
most partial and prejudiced wishes can form.”

It is not surprising that Mr. Russell soon mended his doubts as to the
advisability of applying for land. On September 4th the Council granted
the petition of the Hon. Peter Russell for a front town lot and for Lot
No. 14 of the first concession (100 acres).

On August 26th, 1793, an official Order signed by E. B. Littlehales.
major of brigade, was issued, to the effect that the Lieutenant-Governor,
having received information of the success of His Majesty’s arms under
His Royal Highness the Duke of York, by which Holland was saved from
the invasion of the French, had determined to change the name of Toronto
to that of York. The order was effective from August 27th and on that
date a salute of 21 guns was fired to commemorate the event.

In Europe the times were out of joint. On January 21st of the year
1793, Executioner Samson, ci-devant brewer, showed the Parisian mob the
head of King Louis. In a few days England signified to Citizen Chauvelin,
the French Ambassador, that he must quit the country within a week.
Carlyle says: “England has donned the red coat; and marches with Roval
Highness of York—whom some once spake of inviting to be our King.
Changed that humor now; and ever more changing, till no hatefuller thing
walk this Earth than a denizen of that tyrannous Island; and Pitt be
declared and decreed with effervescence, l'ennemi du genre humain, the
enemy of mankind.”

It is not surprising that an English officer, fresh from a long wrestle
with republicanism in America, and aghast at the depths of disloyalty to
which France had fallen, should display enthusiasm at a victory over these
regicides, however unimportant in the course of history that victory might
be. Two days after the forest capital was named York the French Com-
mittee of Public Safety was putting ail France under requisition for military
purposes, and the Reign of Terror had begun. Marie Antoinette was
guillotined on October 17th. The news did not reach York until the 1st
of March. The world was a dim and doubtful place altogether before the
time of the electric telegraph and the railway. We do not clearly appreciate
the mystery of that darkness. The little Court at Newark gave orders for
the wearing of mourning in honor of the Queen of France, and a dance
that had been arranged was postponed.

The social pleasures of Mrs. Simcoe and her friends were not neg-
lected. Writing to Mrs. Hunt who had charge of her children left
in England, the Governor’s lady said: “There are as many feathers,
flowers and gauze dresses at our balls, which are every fortnight, as at a
Honiton assembly, and seldom less than eighteen couples.” While this
entry had reference to the society of Newark the spirit of gaiety that made
the ball so fine was transferred to the north shore of the LLake when Mrs.
Simcoe finally moved to York. However rude were the surroundings,
however stern the wilderness and the men who conquered it there was a
centre of refinement and intelligence at the capital of Upper Canada in
these early days.
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With Great Britain and France at war the United States Government
was in a difficult position. Washington’s declaration of neutrality created
two hostile parties, one in favor of the French Jacobins, the other opposed.
The British naval proclamation concerning contraband of war, and the
vigorous activity of privateers on both sides still further inflamed the French
party in the Republic. Genét, the ambassador from the “regicide State”
became so active in fitting out privateers, with American crews, that he
became a public nuisance, and his recall was demanded by Washington.

The singular state of American foreign relations at this period is
explained with much clarity by Mr. Brooks Adams in the Proceedings of
the Massachusetts Historical Society for 1911. “Washington performed
(in 1795) an important service for his country which is unrecognized.
This service was the establishment of a defensible frontier against the
British which made permanent independence possible; for nothing can be
more certain than that the union of these States would have been dismem-
bered had the British in 1812 held the commanding positions along the
Great Lakes which they held in 1789. \Washington recovered for the United
States the famous \Western Posts, Oswego, Detroit, Niagara, Mackinac
and the rest, the key to the valley of the Hudson and the Mississippi, from
which the American flank could always be turned and their rear attacked.
The price Washington paid for these posts was the abandonment of the
French alliance which had been established by the Treaties of 1778. He
paid the price by accepting the Jay Treaty in 1795. (This is more gener-
allv known in Canada and Great Britain as the Treatv of Amity and Com-
merce). In retaliation for this breach of faith the French made reprisals,
and Washington’s successor compensated the French for the abrogation of
the Treaties by abandoning to them the claims of the American merchants
whom they had robbed.

“After 1796, France did not pretend to search American ships as a
belligerent visiting neutral vessels under certain well-established legal limita-
tions and guarantees, for the purpose of restraining the smuggling of
contraband of war from the neutral to an enemy. On the contrary she
avowedly captured and confiscated them by way of reprisal for national
injuries. The French complained that through the violation by America
of her treaty obligations, France had sustained great injuries. The Amer-
ican Government declined to make compensation. France thereupon in-
demnified herself out of American commerce, and from the first insisted
that she should either be allowed to keep the spoil she had taken, the United
States assuming the payment of the losses which American citizens had
sustained; or else that America, receiving compensation, should acknow-
ledge her treaty obligations. and assist France in her war against Great
Britain.”

Pinckney, Marshall and Gerry went to Paris as American commission-
ers to discuss the question. On March 18th, 1798, Talleyrand summarily
dismissed Pinckney and DMarshall as persons hostile towards France, but
offered to treat with Gerry who seemed more impartial. The answer of the
American Government was to recall Gerry, and on June 20th, 1798, Presi-
dent Adams informed Congress that he would never send another Minister
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to France without assurances that he would be received, respected and
honored as the representative of a great, free, powerful and independent
nation. The depredations of French privateers at this time raised the rate
of marine insurance at Philadelphia from five to ten per cent. The Amer-
ican Government authorized resistance to the privateers, and the climax
of this state of mutual reprisals of armed neutrality came in the pitched
battle off Gaudaloupe between the American ship Constellation and the
French frigate La Vengeance.

Mr. Adams perhaps stresses too much the surrender of the western
posts as a triumph of American diplomacy. Those posts were held because
the Americans had not implemented their Treaty with Great Britain in
1783. Their importance in case of war was dependent upon naval control
of the lakes, and it is more than doubtful if one responsible British states-
man or one general officer ever considered them as the key to any valley
whatsoever. They were forts of defence rather than outposts of attack,
a fact which is fully corroborated by the erection in 1796, of Fort George
to take the place of Fort Niagara and St. Joseph to take the place of
Michilimackinac. The willingness of Jay to make the Treaty of Amity
and Commerce was an assurance to Great Britain that the pro-French
party in the United States had failed to influence the executive, and that
immediate danger of an invasion of Upper Canada was over.

Meanwhile Great Britain, in the hope of clearing away some miscon-
ceptions, offered its good offices to conclude a treaty between the Republic
and the Indians. The American Government, before deciding whether or
not this offer should be accepted named three commissioners to negotiate
a treaty with the Indians at Sandusky, and these first came to Newark to
confer with Governor Simcoe. They were Edmund Jennings Randolph
of Virginia, General Benjamin Lincoln and Col. Timothy Pickering, both
of Massachusetts.

Mrs. Simcoe’s Diary has this entry on May 14th, 1793: “Three com-
missioners who are appointed by the United States to treat with the Indians
at Sandusky, Ohio, are arrived here, and intend to stayv at our house until
they receive further orders from Philadelphia. Mr. John Randolph *—a
political friend of President Jefferson**—is a Virginian, Benjamin Lincoln
and Col. Timothy Pickering are both of Massachusetts, New England. Col.
Simcoe calls the latter my cousin. His ancestor left England in Charles
the First’s reign, and this gentleman really bears great resemblance to
the picture Mr. Gwillim has of Sir Gilbert Pickering.”

* Mrs. Simcoe was in error. It was not John Randolph the firebrand, only 20
years of age in 1793, but Edmund Jennings Randolph who was one of Washington'’s
aides in 1775, a member of the Continental Congress, Governor of Virginia from 1786
to 1789, and at this time (1793) Attorney-General of the United States. In 1794
he became Secretary of State, but a year later left office under a cloud. Fauchet, the
sucecessor of Genét as French Ambassador, accused him in a letter to the French
Government, of asking for a loan for the benefit of four men who were indebted
to English merchants and thus were precluded from aiding French interests. The
letter was captured by a British man-of-war and was laid before President Washing-
ton. Randolph resigned.

* * Thomas Jefferson was not President but Secretary of State in 1793. Washing-
ton was just beginning his second term,
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Benjamin Lincoln, after two vears of active military service became a
Major-General and was in command at the Battle of White Plains. In
1778 he was in command of the Southern army, was twice beaten, shut
up in Charleston and forced to surrender to Clinton. ILet it be remembered
that Peter Russell, Governor Simcoe’s right-hand man, had been Clinton’s
military secretary in this campaign. The meeting between these two war-
dogs would be interesting. Still, Lincoln’s feelings had been salved before
this, for he was the officer chosen by General Washington to receive the
surrender of Lord Cornwallis and he was Secretary of War from 1781 to
1783.

Colonel Pickering, in 1780, was Quartermaster-General of the Revolution-
ary Army. In 1791 he was Postmaster General and in 1795, Secretary of
War. Under his administration, the famous military academy of West
Point was established. He succeeded Randolph as Secretary of State.

Considering Governor Simcoe’s rooted hostility towards the United
States and its Government, one would not have been surprised if the meet-
ing between him and the commissioners had been marked by coolness
and extreme formalityv. Such was not the case. The Governor did not
permit his political views to interfere with his duties as a host.

As soon as the American officials crossed the Niagara River they received
a cordial invitation to be the Governor’s guests. More, Colonel Simcoe
wrote to Colonel John Butler and Alexander McKee, who had supervision
of Indian affairs, earnestly recommending that everv precaution be taken
to assure the safety of the commissioners while at Sandusky conferring
with the Indians. He detailed Captain Bunbury and Lieutenant Givens to
accompany the Americans on the last stage of their journey.

General Lincoln kept a journal. He made the following entry on
June 4th, 1793, describing an evening party given by the Governor in honor
of the King’s birthday:

“In the evening there was quite a splendid ball, about twenty well-
dressed and handsome ladies, and about three times that number of gentle-
men present. They danced from seven o’clock to eleven, when supper was
announced, and served in very pretty taste. The music and dancing were
good, and everything was conducted with propriety. What excited the
best feelings of my heart was the ease and affection with which the ladies
met each other, although there were a number present whose mothers sprang
from the aborigines of the country. They appeared as well-dressed as
the company in general and intermixed with them in a measure which at
once evinced the dignity of their own minds and the good sense of the
others. These ladies possessed great ingenuity and industry and have great
merit; for the education they have acquired is owing principally to their
own industry, as their father, Sir William Johnson, was dead, and the mother
retained the manners and dress of her tribe. Governor Simcoe is exceed-
ingly attentive in these public assemblies, and makes it his study to recon-
cile the inhabitants who have tasted the pleasures of society to their present
situation in an infant province. He intends the next winter to have con-
certs and assemblies very frequently. Hereby he at once evinces a regard
to the happiness of the people and his knowledge of the world; for while



50 THE MUNICIPALITY OF TORONTO

the people are allured to become settlers in the country from the richness
of the soil and the clemency of the seasons, it is important to make their
situation as flattering as possible.” The “alluring” was sufficiently open and
aboveboard. Col. Simcoe invited settlers from both the United States and
Great Britain and the offer of free land attracted large numbers of sturdy
and desirable people.

General Lincoln on his return to \Washington wrote a letter of cordial
acknowledgement for the attentions of the Governor and sent with it on
behalf of the Commissioners a present of wine and candles. In reply Col.
Simcoe said that he would have been happy had the wind allowed of seeing
General Lincoln again before he had left Canada. He expressed surprise
and regret that the conference with the Indians had brought no practical
results, and wished for the termination of the war. The present of wine
and candles had been received, but as the Governor had already laid in his
annual supply, he had made bold to transfer it to some gentleman “who
will not forget to drink the health of the Commissioners around the winter
fire.” Col. Pickering sent a packet of garden seeds which must have been
received by Mrs. Simcoe especially with much gratification.

An early sample of “immigration literature” is found in the Toronto
Public Library. It is a tiny book entitled: .\ Letter from a gentleman to
his friend in England, descriptive of the different settlements in the Pro-
vince of Upper Canada. Philadelphia. Printed by W. W. Woodward, Frank-
lin’s Head, New Sign, South side Chestnut Street, 1795. The writer is
enthusiastic concerning the beauty of the country and the fertility of the
soil, and like other immigration agents of a later time neglects to mention
the disadvantages of life in the backwoods. “At Newark resides the Gover-
nor, whose character is well-known in England and is deservedly held here
in high estimation. Here are also most of the principal officers of Govern-
ment, besides many other gentlemen of respectabilitv who form a very
- intelligent and agreeable society. Besides Newark there are several import-
ant situations in this part of the Province which bid fair to become places
of consequence; the most important of which are the landing-places at each
end of the portage, Fort Erie, the head of Lake Ontario, and York, called
by the natizes Toronto. .. ... York, formerly Toronto, is situate on the best
harbor round the Lake, opposite Niagara... A town is here in great for-
wardness, and should the seat of Government be removed from Newark
thence, as is contemplated, it will soon become a flourishing place. From
this, a road is cut across to Lake Simcoe, 33 miles.... There are still plenty
of vacant lands of the best kind, and such as show a disposition to scttle
and improve them meet from the Governor every encouragemen: they
merit.”

Although Governor Simcoe had divided the Province into Counties for
electoral purposes, the unit of organization and settlement was the town-
ship. A new-comer desiring a grant of land applied to the Land Board
of the district, composed of three commissioners appointed by the Govern-
ment. If he were a person satisfactory to the Land Board he received
a certificate giving him leave to settle. \VWith this certificate he appealed
to a Deputy Land Surveyor for a “location” and a lot of 200 acres or less
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was conveyed to him on his undertaking to perform the settlement duties;
that is to say, he agreed to build a house and bring a portion of the land
under cultivation within a specified period,

The regulations governing the settlement of each Township provided
that two farm lots should be reserved for a minister of the Gospel, one for
a school-teacher, and eight for the Crown. This was the beginning of the
Clergy Reserves question which in later years caused a deal of agitation.

At first there were only five Deputy Land Survevors in Upper Canada,
but many came in with various groups of settlers. These, and even un-
instructed persons of good reputation, got the right from the Govern-
ment to open up new townships, frequently getting land in payment for
their labor.

There seemed to be some reluctance on the part of the authorities
to grant even the modified form of self-government based on the “town
meeting.” It is suggested by Mr. J. M. McEvoy and others who have written
on municipal origins in Ontario that the town meeting may have been con-
sidered as a culture-bed of republican germs. Whether or not that be a
fact, it seems clear that the insistence of the people of Adolphustown for
the retention of the institution to which they had become accustomed in the
United States had an effect upon early legislation.

At first all local authority was in the hands of the Justices of the Peace
for each Judicial District. The magistrates assembled at the General
Quarter-Sessions, controlled the erection and management of jails. court
houses and asylums, the laying out and improvement of highways, the mak-
ing of assessments, the appointment of constables, town-clerks, jailers, and
poundkeepers, the supervision of weights and measures, the grant of licenses
for the sale and manufacture of liquor, and had the right of granting to
persons, not clergymen of the Church of England, the right to perform
marriages.

The second session of the first Parliament marked the first move towards
the building of our present system of municipal government.

The statute permitting the election of certain Township officers
by town-meeting is known as 33 George IIL. Cap. 2, and was passed
under discussion between May 31st and July 9th, 1793. It pro-
vided that any two Justices of the Peace might issue a warrant
to the constable of ‘‘any parish, township, reputed township or
place” authorizing the calling together on the first Monday in March
annually of all ratepayers in the parish church, chapel or some con-
venient place for the purpose of nominating and choosing parish or town of-
ficers. The officers to be selected in this way were a town-clerk, two asses-
sors, one tax-collector, from two to six persons as overseers of highways and
fence-viewers, one poundkeeper, and two town wardens.

With respect to the wardens the statute said that as soon as a church was
built according to the use of the Church of England, with a parson or minister
duly appointed thereto, the householders should nominate one warden, and
the minister one other, to serve as churchwardens and town-wardens; these
being a corporation to represent all the inhabitants, with. power to hold pro-
perty and to sue, or to defend actions on behalf of the inhabitants.
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That a Church Establishment for Upper Canada was considered as a
thing settled is clearly shown by this legislation. The Act also provided a
penalty of 40s upon any regularly elected person who refused or neglected to
do the work for which he was elected ; but a man who had served for one year
could not be chosen again without his consent until three years had elapsed.

Four years after the enactment of this statute a special Act was passed
permitting the people of the Township of York to hold a town-meeting on a
date other than the first Monday in March, and authorizing any two magis-
trates to appoint one or more constables to serve in the Township. Evidently
by this time enough settlers were found in the district to act separatelyv. It
is probable that before 1797 there were fewer than thirty householders in the
Township of York. Under such circumstances the law of 1793 permitted
those settlers to be attached for town-meeting purposes to that adjacent
township which had the smallest population.

Since all magistrates were named by the Government, and were usually
retired officers or other members of the “Court party,” the actual settlers
soon began to grumble. Practically they were under military administration
and their civil rights were uncommonly slender. Gradually these powers of
local government were transferred to representative bodies called Boards of
Police, which were elected annually, but municipal government as we have it
to-day did not really begin until Upper Canada had been in being as a separate
Province for forty years. By 1800 the four original Judicial Districts had
been subdivided into eight.

During this second session of the Legislature in 1793 an Act was passed
to prevent the bringing of negro slaves into the Province, to limit the term
of contract for binding a slave to nine years, and to decree that the children of
slaves should become free at the age of 25. Chief Justice Osgoode, before
this, had declared in a charge to a Grand Jury that slavery should not be per-
mitted. Doubtless he had in mind L.ord Mansfield’s judgment in the case of
James Somerset, a slave who had been brought into England in 1772. Said
that eminent Judge: “Villeinage has ceased in England and it cannot be re-
vived. The air of England has long been too pure for a slave, and every man
is free who breathes it.”

Lieut.-Col. Simcoe was in cordial agreement with Osgoode in the promo-
tion of this legislation as he declared in a message to the Assembly. The Pre-
amble of the Act read as follows: “Whereas it is unjust that a people who
enjoy freedom by the law should encourage the introduction of slaves, and
whereas it is highly expedient to abolish slavery in this Province so far as
the same may gradunally be done without violation of private property, be it
enacted . . . that from and after the passing of this Act it shall not
be lawful for the Governor, Lieutenant-Governor, or person administering
the Government of this Province to grant a license for the importation
of any negro or other person to be subjected to the condition of a slave or
to a bounden involuntary service for life, into any part of this Province.”

It was stipulated that nothing in the Act could be construed to liberate
any slave purchased or acquired before the passing of this legislation. A
number of the more wealthy inhabitants were saved by negro-chattels,
notably Hon. Peter Russell, as contemporary advertisements testify.
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It is an important fact that Upper Canada was the first British country
to legislate against slavery. The first European country to take such action
was Denmark, in 1792, Whether or not the officials of Upper Canada were
influenced by William Wilberforce is unknown, but it is a fact worth men-
tioning that in 1791 Wilberforce first moved in the British House of Com-
mons, for leave to bring in a bill to prevent further importation of slaves
into British colonies. John Graves Simcoe was a member of Parliament
at that time, and it is possible that he disagreed with the House in its
refusal. Year after vear Wilberforce pressed vainly for this reform until
1807, when the Fox administration adopted the measure. Slavery was not
wholly abolished in British territory until 1833.

About the middle of October, 1793, a homestead of 200 acres on the Don
was chosen by the Governor for his two vear old son Francis. The land
regulations provided that a house must be built on the property within a
yvear. The site selected was on the brow of the hill that separates the
present Rosedale Ravine from the Don Valley. The name chosen for the
house, which was of small logs clapboarded, was Castle Frank. It was the
scene of many social entertainments, although the interior of the building
was never finished. Four tree-trunks served as pillars for the porch, and
the facade had rather the effect of a svlvan Greek temple. The house was
burned in 1829. The little lad whose name it bore put on the King’s uniform
when he was grown to man’s estate, and marched away to the Peninsula.
He was killed at the siege of Badajoz in 1812

By 1794 Timothy Skinner had established a grist mill on the east bank
of the Don below the present village of Todmorden. It ground the wheat
of the neighborhood until 1826 and then was transformed into a paper mill,
the first in the Province. The first bridge over the Don, at the east of
Winchester Street, was a butternut tree, felled across the stream and pro-
vided with a rude handrail. Mrs. Simcoe thought that the task of crossing
it might be easier if one wore moccasins.

On September 23rd, 1793, Captain Smith and a party of 100 soldiers
hegan to open a road from the head of the Lake to the River Thames. It
was named Dundas Street, in honor of the Secretary for the Colonies. The
clearing for Yonge Street from York to Lake Simcoe began on December
28th, 1795, and occupied all winter. It was finished in April, 1796, and named
after Sir George Yonge, Secretary of State for War, and M.P. for Honiton,
near the Simcoe estate in Devonshire.

A daughter, Katherine, was born to Col. and Mrs. Simcoe on January
16th, 1793, but the child died on April 17th, 1794, and was buried in the
military cemetery west of the Old Fort. The site of the grave was lost
long ago.

The Legislature determined in 1793 that all retailers of liquor should
pav £3 currency per annum each for their licenses, and that all persons
keeping open shops for the sale of merchandise should take out a license,
paying for it £2 5s currency per annum. The latter provision was aimed
mainly at fur-traders of the independent sort.

The third session gave power to the Government to license proper per-
sons to appear as lawyers before the Courts, there being only two qualified
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lawyers in the Province, and placed a duty on the manufacture of spirits,
fifteen pence per gallon for every gallon that the body of the still contained.

John Graves Simcoe was never a Commoner in thought or action. He
was as much an aristocrat as the proudest Duke in England, but, balancing
his rigidities of prejudice and temper, he was a man of honor and of un-
faltering belief in the necessity of doing his whole duty. To us in these
days there is something mournfully comic in the Governor’s attempt to
transfer to the forest all the trappings of an English Government, to create
an hereditary aristocracy, to found an Established Church. But it must be
remembered that he lived in constant expectation of a renewal of the war
with the United States. Republicanism meant for him all that was repre-
hensible and wicked. It was his duty to build a breakwater in Upper Can-
ada against the seas of wrath surging in Philadelphia and Paris. For that
recason he regarded every settler who came north from the United States
as a brand plucked from the burning, and was too ready to consider every
one as a loyalist. Some came because they could get 200 acres of mag-
nificent land as a free gift, and probably the usual percentage of knaves
were found amongst the immigrants. To the Governor all were desirable
settlers since they had resolutely turned their backs upon Tom Paine and
the “Rights of Man.”

It was no time-server who made a personal exploration of the Province
from Detroit to Penetanguishene. It was a great gentleman who hospit-
ably entertained representatives of the Government he most despised. On
the other hand, it was a pipe-clayed soldier who had the regimental band
playing before Navy Hall during dinner, “the Marquis of Buckingham hav-
ing very kindly provided the instruments.” It was a soldier who named
“Hanlan’s” Gibraltar Point, because he considered that the position could
be made impregnable. It was a soldier who inspired the remarkable Militia
Act of 1794, gave authority to the Governor to appoint a Lieutenant in
everv County whose duty it would be to enrol the male inhabitants be-
tween 16 and 50, to name a Deputyv-Lieutenant, and militia officers for the
section of country over which he had supervision. These officers had to
be approved by the Governor, and after such approval their commissions
would issue.

In each district the Lieutenant, Deputy-Lieutenant and one Justice of
the Peace formed a Militia Board, meeting annually on June 4th (if on a
week-day), and formally enrolling the male inhabitants liable for service.
In each district or sub-district the militia were to be called together for
exercise and instruction at least twice a year. Exemption was granted to
civil officials, clergymen. sailors, physicians, teachers, ferrvmen and to one
miller for every grist-mill. Quakers, “Menonists,” and Tunkers were
excused from service, but were compelled to pay 20s per annum in time
of peace and £5 in time of war for the recognition of their religious scruples.
The penalties for neglect to enrol, for disobedience of orders or for other
unmilitary practices, ranged from 10s to 40s, according to the rank of the
offender. If there werc neglect or refusal to perform duty during war,
rebellion or any pressing exigencyv of the State, the penalty ranged from
£20 to £50, and in default of payment from six months to one year in jail.
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While authority was given to the Governor to employ the militia either
alone or with His Majesty’s regular forces, it was not to be marched out
of the Province. Clear proof that a wholly distinct military force was con-
templated appeared in .the provision that in case a court-martial was
constituted to deal with any grave offence by a militiaman, no regular
officer should be a member of it. To make sure that the lieutenants and
militia officers should have a personal interest in defence, it was provided
that they should be landed proprietors within their districts. Every deputy-
lieutenant had to have 500 acres clear of incumbrance, every colonel or
lieutenant-colonel, 400 acres, every major or captain 300 acres, every lieu-
tenant and ensign, 200 acres, and theyv were under obligation to take the
oath of allegiance before the magistrate in quarter-sessions within six
months of their appointment to office.

One section of the Act was particularly drastic. It provided that any
action against a lieutenant or deputy-lieutenant to secure redress for
some act performed in the course of duty must begin within six months
after the offence had been committed. The defendant was given the right
to plead “the general issue” and “give the special matters and this Act in
evidence.” In case the plaintiff should be non-suited or judgment should
be delivered against him, the defendant should be entitled to “treble costs.”
This section was repealed in the Act of 1797, “for the further regulation
of the Militia of this Province.” Other provisions in the amending Act
were that everv enrolled man should provide himself with a sufficient
musket, fusil, rifle or gun, with at least six rounds of ammunition, and
should come provided with the same, when called out for review, exercise
or actual service, that in case any person were wounded in action he
should be taken care of and provided for by the public; that the money
from fines and penalties should be used by the lieutenants for the purchase
of drums, fifes, colors, banners, regimental books and incidental expenses.
Any money left over should be given in prizes to the persons making the
best shot at a target or a mark upon dayvs of training. The final section
declared that upon pressing occasions, in the time of war or insurrection,
it should be lawful for the Lieutenant-Governor or administrator of the
Province to march such part of the Militia of Upper Canada as he might
think proper, to the assistance of the Province of Lower Canada.

A contemporary account of Upper Canada, the views and aspirations
of Lieutenant-Governor Simcoe and the appearance of the settlements in
the late years of the eighteenth century, is found in the “Travels,” by the
Duke de la Rochefoucault Liancourt, whose ancestor was a contemporary
of Richelieu and produced the celebrated “Réflexions” and “Mémoires.”

The Duke, who was a Girondin, or a polite revolutionist, in France,
found the temper of the Jacobins too unreasonable and too uncertain to
trust, and withdrew from a tempestuous country in order to travel philos-
ophically. His book appeared in France after the Terror and was printed,
in English translation, in London by 1799. The Translator’s Preface, signed
by H. Neuman, contains the following acute sentences: “The Duke de la
Rochefoucault Liancourt, a man who, at all times, has been distinguished
as one of the most amiable, the most virtuous, and the best informed of
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the French nobility, has made a journey for philosophical and commercial
observation throughout a great part of North America, and has communi-
cated the substance of his observations to the world in the valuable narrative
which is here presented to the British public.

“Although a victim to the Revolution, he still approves those principles
of political reform upon which the first movements towards it were made.
Though an outcast from France, he still takes a warm patriotic interest
in the glory of the French nation. Hence he inclines at times to encourage
the milder class of those political sentiments which the sagacity of Gov-
ernment finds it prudent to discourage in Britain, as little adapted to pro-
mote the general welfare. And whenever the views, the interests, and the
public servants of the British Government come to be mentioned, he usually
speaks the language of a foreigner and a foe.”

The tour of the Duke in Upper Canada began at Fort Erie on June
20th, 1795, in company with a Huguenot British subject named Guillemard,
and a Frenchman named Dupetitthouars—pungently described by Mrs. Sim-
coe in her Diarv as “democratic and dirty.” It ended at Kingston on July
22nd by an order of banishment directed against the Duke by Lord Dor-
chester, a document that moved the noble author to indignation. He had
been the guest of Colonel Simcoe at Navy Hall for eighteen days, and did
not take the trouble to cross to York, taking a vicarious observation
through the eyes of his two travelling companions. But his comments on
things in general observed along the Niagara River are applicable to all
Upper Canada, and reveal a seeing eye, a trained mind, and a striving towards
accuracy which give the book great value. Whether or not he observed the
decencies of social convention in reporting at great length all the opinions
of Governor Simcoe, as expressed in the privacy of his home, is open to dis-
cussion. Probably no eminent Englishman of the period would have done
so. Some years afterwards Hon. William Osgoode, in writing to Hon.
Peter Russell, said: “I have not heard lately from General Simcoe, but have
reason to believe he was much mortified at not being employed in the
late unfortunate expedition to the Continent. He has a benevolent heart,
without much discrimination. Have you read the Duke de Liancourt’s
Travels? They ought to teach him a lesson.”

Extensive quotations from La Rochefoucault are not usually made by
the writers dealing with the story of Ontario. Probably they have assumed
that every well-informed person is familiar with the book. It is an as-
sumption that may be questioned. The risk of giving an occasional reader a

twice-told tale is probably overcome by the advantage of supplying the
information the Duke assembles in his own words.

“Hard cash or specie is extremely scarce in this corner of the world.
It can come only from Lower Canada, but they like to keep it in Quebec
and Montreal. Nay, the paymaster of the troops, on pretence that the
conveyance is dangerous, sends no specie for the troops, though he receives
their pay in hard cash. He could most certainly not refuse it to the pay-
masters of the regiments, if for that purpose they proceeded to Montreal
or Quebec, where he resides. But to undertake this journey at the expense
of the corps would occasion too considerable a deduction from their money,
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which should reach its destination without the least diminution. He accord-
ingly remits it in bills of exchange, which are paid in paper money, that
every one makes to any amount he chooses, and which, nevertheless, is
universally received with a degree of confidence equal to that which ob-
tained in France in the second year of the Revolution. There are notes of
this kind of only two pence in value. They are small slips of paper, either
written or printed, frequently without any signature, and mostly effaced
and torn.”

It 1s probable that this statement was too general. Currency certainly
was scarce and one of the first suggestions of Colonel Simcoe after his ap-
pointment as Lieutenant-Governor was that copper coinage and sixpences to
the value of £500 of each sort should be put into circulation. Paper money
in Canada had its beginnings in the French regime when playing-cards torn
into quarters and signed by the Intendant were current. General Murray
estimated in 1760 that in the colony of 60,000 people the outstanding “card-
money,” treasury notes and unpaid bills of exchange, might amount to
80,000,000 livres, roughly, $16,000,000. Only a minor fraction of this
“money” was ever redeemed.

The American States during the Revolution followed the example set
by Canada and issued paper-money in cartloads. By 1780 this Continental
currency was worth about lc on the dollar. It is not surprising that the
phrase “not worth a Continental” became singularly expressive, and indic-
ated a certain distrust of paper-money, which doubtless spread northward.
The first bank-note issued in Canada appeared on August 10th, 1792, signed
by the Canada Banking Company, but it is probable that army bills were
considered more desirable, since they were issued freelv in 1812 and had
Government backing.

At Kingston, Captain Parr, of the Sixtieth Regiment, gave a dinner to
which the French Duke and his friends were invited. The following quota-
tion is of particular interest as throwing light on the social customs of
the time: “The ingenuity of the English in devising toasts, which are to be
honored with bumpers, is well-known. To decline joining in such a toast
would be deemed uncivil; and although it might be more advisable to sub-
mit to this charge than to contract a sickness, yet such energy of character
is seldom displayed on these occasions. Unwilling to oppose the general
will, which becomes more imperious in proportion as heads grow warmer,
you resort to slight deceptions in the quantity you drink, in hopes thus to
avoid the impending catastrophe. But this time, none of us, French or
English, had carried the deception far enough, and I was concerned to feel,
the remainder of the evening, that I had taken too lively a part in the
event.”

“I am free, Heaven be thanked, from the rage against the English
nation, which possesses so many Frenchmen, and cannot be justified by the
still fiercer rage of some Englishmen against the French. The English are

a gallant and great nation. I wish they might be sincerely allied with
France.

“York, from its extent, security and situation, offers an excellent road
(harbor). The communication between Lake Ontario and Lake Huron is
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facilitated by several rivers and small lakes. The surrounding country
possesses a good soil and affords all possible means to improve the trade
on the lake. Even in a military point of view its situation is very advant-
ageous. The banks of Lake Ontario are likely to be first peopled by
Americans, and to become most populous; and Lower Canada will always
prove to them an object of jealousy and envy rather than Upper Canada.
On this ground it is extremely important to choose a situation which render.:
it more easy to succour such points as are most exposed to an attack.

“From the readiness which Government displays in granting lands
gratis, the Governor entertains not the least doubt of soon obtaining a num-
erous population. Many families who at the beginning of the American
war embraced the royal cause, have since the conclusion of the peace
settled on lands which were bestowed upon them gratis. The American
soldiers who fought under the same unfortunate banners obtained also an
indemnification in lands, on which most of them have settled. . . The
Governor is also sanguine in his hopes of procuring many colonists from
the United States. He relies on the natural fondness of these people for
emigrating, and on their attachment to the English Government. There
arrive, indeed, every vear a considerable number of families from different
parts of the Union; they do not all settle, it is true, but some remain in
the country. He also reckons upon drawing numerous settlers from New
Brunswick, who cannot endure the climate of that country. And lastly,
the considerable emigration from Europe, which he fancies he foresees,
affords him certain hopes of obtaining thence a very numerous population.
Yet by his account the prevailing sentiments of the people render the ad-
mission of new inhabitants, who present themselves, rather difficult; es-
pecially of those who come from the United States. For this reason he
sends such colonists as cannot give a satisfactory account of themselves,
into the back country, and stations soldiers on the banks of the lakes which
are in front of them. He would admit every superannuated soldier of the
English army and all officers of long service who are on half-pay, to share
in the distribution of such lands as the King has a right to dispose of. He
would dismiss every soldier now quartered in Canada and give him one
hundred acres of land as soon as he should procure a voung man to serve
as his substitute. . . In the midst of these families of soldiers, which he
intends to settle on the lakes and on all the frontiers towards the United
States, he means to place all the officers who, as has already been observed,
have any claim on the lands. He proposes thus to form a militia, attached
to the King from habit and gratitude; and this he considers as one of the
most certain means for suppressing the disturbances which might be ex-
cited by some disaffected new settlers, who inhabit the midland counties,
and at the same time as one of the best measures of defence in case of
an attack.”

“But for his inveterate hatred against the United States, which he too
loudly professes, and which carries him too far, Governor Simcoe appears
in the most advantageous light. He is just, active, enlightened, brave, frank,
and possesses the confidence of the country, of the troops and of all
those who join him in the administration of public affairs. To these he
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attends with the closest application; he preserves all the old friends of the
King and neglects no means to procure him new ones. He unites, in my
judgment, all the qualities which his station requires, to maintain the im-
portant possession of Canada, if it be possible that England can long re-
tain it.

“In his private life Governor Simcoe is simple, plain and obliging. He
inhabits a miscrable wooden house which formerly was occupied by the
commissaries who resided here (at Newark) on account of the navigation
of the lake. His guard consists of four soldiers, who every morning come
from the fort, and return thither in the evening. He lives in a noble and
hospitable manner, without pride; his mind is enlightened ; his character mild
and obliging; he discourses with much good sense on all subjects, but his
favorite topics are his projects and war, which seem to be the objects
of his leading passions. He is acquainted with the military history of all
countries; no hillock catches his eye without exciting in his mind the idea
of a fort, which might be constructed on the spot; and with the construc-
tion of this fort he associates the plan of operations for a campaign, es-
pecially of that which is to lead him to Philadelphia. . . . Mrs. Simcoe
is a lady of thirty-six years of age. She is timid and speaks little; but she
is a woman of sense, handsome and amiable, and fulfils all the duties of
the mother and wife with the most scrupulous exactness. The performance
of the latter she carries so far as to be of great assistance to her husband
by her talents for drawing, the practice of which, confined to maps and
plans, enables her to be extremely useful to the Governor.”

“Regarding the frequency and punishment of crimes Mr. White, Attor-
nev-General of the Province, informed me that there is no district in which
one or two persons have not already been tried for murder; that theyx
were all acquitted by the jury, though the evidence was strongly against
them . . . . that the major part of lawsuits have for their object the
recovery of debts; but sometimes originate also from quarrels and assaults;
drunkenness being a very common vice in this country.”

“The regiments quartered in the vicinity of the United States, it is
asserted, lose much by desertion. Secing cvervwhere around them lands
either given away or sold at a very low rate, and being surrounded by
people who within a twelve-month have risen from poverty to prosperity,
and are now married and proprietors, thev cannot endure the idea of a
servitude which is to end only with their existence. The ennui naturallv
arising from the dull and secluded manner of living in garrisons, where
thev find neither work nor amusement, and the slight attention shown them
by most of the colonels darken still more, in their view, the dismal picture
of their situation. Theyv emigrate accordingly into the United States, where
they are sure to find a settlement, which, if they choose to work, cannot
fail to make them rich and independent.

“To hold out to them the same hopes in the English colony of Canada
would be the only means of rendering less dangerous the temptation offered
by the United States. It is with this view that Governor Simcoe very
wisely formed the project of dismissing every soldier who should find an
able substitute in his room, and to give him one hundred acres of land:
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but it is said that this project appears, in Lord Dorchester’s judgment, to
savor too much of the new principles, to obtain his consent.’

“The Governor, who is also colonel of a regiment of Queen’s Rangers,
stationed in the Province, is attended in his house and at dinner merely by
privates of the regiment, who also take care of his horses. He has not

been able to keep one of the men servants he brought with him from
England.”

“The natural order of things at this moment, and the universal disposi-
tion of nations, announce the separation of Canada from Great Britain as an
event which cannot fail to take place. I know nothing that can prevent
it. By great prosperity and glory, by signal successes in her wars, and by
undisturbed tranquillity at home, Great Britain may be able to maintain her
power over this country, as long as considerable sums shall be expended
to promote its population and prosperity; as long as it shall enjoy the most
complete exemption from all the taxes and burthens of the mother country;
in fine, as long as a mild government, by resources prompt and well-
applied, by useful public establishments not vet existing, and by encournge-
ments held out to all classes and descriptions of citizens, shall convince a
people already invited and qualified by a wise constitution to enjoy all the
blessings of liberty and the advantages of a monarchical government, which

in its benevolent projects united wisdom of conception with rapidity of
execution.

“But these conditions are and will hardly be fulfilled. In our time,
perhaps soon, Great Britain will lose this bright jewel of her crown. In
regard to Canada, she will experience the same fate as she is likely to share,
sooner or later, respecting her possessions in India; as will befall Spain in
regard to Florida and Mexico, Portugal in regard to her Brazil; in short,
all European powers, respecting such of their colonies at least as they
possess on this Continent, unless, enlightened by experience, they shall
speedily change the colonial form of government.”

“There have not been more than twelve houses hitherto built in York.
They stand on the bay near the River Don. The inhabitants do not possess
the fairest character. One of them is the noted Baty, the leader of the
German families who according to the assertion of Captain Williamson,

were decoyed away by the English, to injure and obstruct the prosperity of
his settlement.”

The settlement referred to was one in Northern New York, fronting
on Lake Ontario, and bounded on the west by the Genesee River. Captain
Willhlamson was colonization agent of Sir William Poulteney, of London,
who bought 1,000,000 acres of land at one shilling an acre. The Captain
transported eighty families from Germany. Savs La Rochefoucault: “Being
maintained from the first out of Captain Williamson's stores, they did not
so much as work on the roads, which they were to finish; and their leader,
the very agent who had selected and brought them over, after having rioted
for some time in idleness, drunkenness and debauchery, at length ran away
with the whole set to Canada, being gained over, if we may believe common
fame, by the English.”
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This is an ex parte and slanderous reference to Captain Berczy, (not
Baty), a man of great mental ability, an artist, and an energetic coloniza-
tion agent, who became better known in Upper Canada two or three years
later. Simcoe wrote to Secretary Dundas on Dec. 2nd, 1793, to the effect
that Poulteney’s agent Berczy was in jail, evidently in the Genesee country.
The letter continued: “It is probable that the German settlers will emigrate
from the Genesee to Upper Canada. It is reported that the inhabitants of
the Genesee are to present a petition to New York to be created into a
new and independent State, and that in case of failure these people have
determined to place themselves under the protection of Great Britain.”

Isaac Weld visited Upper Canada in 1796 and described it in his book of
Travels. He did not see York, but he gave some interesting facts con-
cerning navigation on the lake. “Belonging to His Majesty,” he wrote,
“there were on Lake Ontario when we crossed it, three vessels of about
200 tons each, carrying from eight to twelve guns, besides several gun-
boats; the last, however, were not in commission, but were laid up in the
Niagara River; and in consequence of the Treaty of Amity and Commerce
between the United States and His Britannic Majesty, orders were issued
shortly after we left Kingston for laying up the other vessels of war, one
alone excepted. Subsequent orders, it was said, were issued during the
summer of 1797 to have one or more of these vessels put again into com-
mission.”

“The naval officers of these vessels, if they be not otherwise engaged,
are allowed to carry a cargo of merchandise when they sail from one port
to another, the freight of which is their perquisite. They likewise have the
liberty, and are constantly in the practice, of carrying passengers across
the lake at an established price.”

This price, from Niagara to Kingston, was two guineas, which Mr.
Weld thought very reasonable. He believed the freight rate of 36 shillings
a ton unnecessarily dear, until he learned that the ships were not too
well-built, that Atlantic seamen were required to navigate them safely and
that the season was short. The uniform of the naval officers was of blue
and white, with large yellow buttons, stamped with the figure of a beaver,
over which was inscribed the word Canada. In addition to the King’s ships
there were on Lake Ontario several decked merchant vessels, schooners
and sloops of from 50 to 300 tons, and also many large batteaux. At that
period the Americans had no vessels on Lake Ontario other than batteaux.
That condition was soon mended, for I.a Rochefoucault Liancourt, about the
same time, was taken from Kingston to Oswego on an American ship.
Since all cordage for the British vessels had to be brought from England,
the Government officials were encouraging the growing of hemp.

Concerning the removal of the capital of the Province from Newark to
York, Mr. Weld said: “To remove the seat of Government to a place little
better than a wilderness would be a measure fraught with numberless in-
conveniences to the public and productive apparently of no essential ad-
vantages whatever.” At this time Newark had about 70 houses.

The fifth session of the First Legislature met at Newark beginning May
16th, 1796. The most important legislation passed had to do with the regu-
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lation of the currency, and the valuation of the motley collection of gold
and silver coins circulating in the Province. It was enacted that the British
guinea, weighing 5 dwt., 6 gr. Troy, should be valued at £1 3s 4d., the Portu-
gese Johannes (18 dwt.) at £4; the Portugese moidore (6 dwt., 18 gr.) at
£1 10s; the Spanish milled doubloon, (17 dwt) £3 14s; the French louis d’or
(minted before 1793) and weighing 5 dwt. 4 gr., at £1 2s 6d; the French
pistole (before 1793) weighing 4 dwt 4 gr., at 18s; the American eagle (11
dwt 6 gr.), at £2 10s. Of silver coins the British crown was to be worth
5s 6d., the shilling 1s 1d; the Spanish milled dollar, 5s, (equal to 4s 6d
Sterling) ; the Spanish pistareen, 1s; the French crown (before 1793) 5s
6d ; the French piece of 4 livres, 10 sols Tournois, 4s 2d; of 36 sols Tournois,
1s 2d; of 24 sols Tournois, 1s 1d; the American dollar 5s. Counterfeiting
or uttering counterfeit money was declared a felony punishable with death.

As early as Oct. 27th, 1792, the Agricultural Society of Upper Canada
had been formed, with Lt.-Col. Simcoe as Patron. A contemporary diarist
declares that the Governor paid his ten guineas a year cheerfully. It is re-
corded also that he presented to the Society Yonge on Agriculture and a
number of other books, as the nucleus of a public library. The Society held
monthly dinners, and the President’s sign of office was a great silver snuff-
box, which was the main decoration of the table.

The Governor was deeply concerned lest the services of the loyalists
should be forgotten. While in 1789 the Executive Council of the Province
of Quebec had directed the Land Boards of the various districts to register
the names of all those who had joined the Roval Standard in America be-
fore 1783, the instruction was honored chiefly in the breach of it. Accord-
ingly, by proclamation dated April 6th, 1796, Col. Simcoe directed that the
registration should take place at the Michaelmas Sessions of that vear.
From that time these loyalists werc officially designated by the letters
“U. E.” following their names.

The official class of the population during Governor Simcoe's time
consisted mainly of former military officers. It was a period of exalted
courtesy and elaborate etiquette among the leaders of English society. The
Prince of Wales and Beau Brummell cultivated a Castilian politeness, and
the “London bucks” followed suit.

We drive po’chaise to a bloody mill
Or to executions on Tvburn Hill,

Our skirts are betrimmed with laces.
We drink our Port with the best of men,
\We shoot an enemy now and then

At ten or a dozen paces.
And when we challenge a man to fight,
We're deyvilish cool and damned polite.

Since the officer had a guaranteed social status, and since to be out
of the fashion was to be an exile, the manners of the drawing room, even
in Niagara and York, were probably as stately as need be. It is said that
Captain Cowan, of the Navy, and Staff Surgeon Fleming, of the Army.,
were the politest men in the Colony. On one occasion thev met while cross-
ing the old Chippawa Bridge. Each proceeded to the middle of the bridge,
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walking slowly, and pausing every few steps to bow. Then they shook
hands in the approved manner, and parted with great cordiality. It is
unlikely that the higher officials went to such lengths of courtesy. Thev
had more important business.

There was Lt.-Col. Thomas Talbot, private secretary and confidential
aide, an important member of Col. Simcoe’s household. He was an ensign
in the 66th Foot at the age of eleven, another proof that the Irish begin
fighting early. From 1784 to 1787 he and a voung man of great promise
named Arthur Wellesley, were military aides of the Marquess of Buck-
imngham, Lord Lieutenant of Ireland. In 1790 Talbot joined the 24th
Regiment at Quebec and was named two vears later to accompany Governor
Simcoe to Upper Canada. He remained at Niagara and York until 1794. By
1796 he was O. C. of the 5th Foot and in 1799 commanded the second Batt-
alion of that regiment in Holland. Retiring in 1801 he returned to Canada,
received some 300,000 acres of Crown Land in lieu of his pension and interest-
ed himself in colonization. He established the Talbot Settlement on Lake
Erie, brought settlers from Ireland, and built one of the finest roads in the
Province, while his friend Wellesley was storming through the Peninsula
to the Dukedom of Wellington.

There was William Osgoode, an Oxford Master of Arts and a Barrister
of Lincoln’s Inn at the age of 23. At 38 being a court favorite (for reason)
he was named Chief Justice of Upper Canada and was a close friend of the
Governor and his lady. In August 1794 he became Chief Justice of Lower
Canada and occupied that office until 1801 when he returned to England.
He was a man of uncommon distinction.

There was Peter Russell, the Receiver-General. He had been military
secretary to Sir Henry Clinton, the first Commander of the British forces
during the Revolutionary war, and the only one showing any great measure
of military intelligence. Consider also Zneas Shaw the very model of a
Georgian officer, Captain John McGill, Major John Smith, commander of
the fort of Niagara, and the officers of the 5th Foot on garrison duty.
“Lieutenant Smith, his son,” writes Mrs. Simcoe, “is married to a beautiful
Irish woman. A great many of the officers of the 5th are married.”

There was William Jarvis a determined Loyalist officer, considering
Stamford, Connecticut, merely as the pit whence he was digged. There
was Robert Pilkington, lieutenant in the Royal Artillery and later in the
Royal Engineers, who accompanied Col. Simcoe on all his tours and was
an amateur artist of much ability. There was Lieut. Col. Joseph Bouchette,
the writer on Upper Canadian topography. There was Robert Hamilton, the
rich merchant of Queenston and his many sons. There was Dr. Macaulay an
army surgeon, whose first wife, Elizabeth Tuck Hayter, had “an air,” and
judging by her portrait, must have graced any assembly. All these and more
were in the first flight of York society and their ladies drank tea with
Mrs. Simcoe and helped to make up her parties.

It has been said that the first surveyor’s plan of York was ‘made by
Alexander Aitkens in 1793 before a house had been erected. It showed three
streets running east and west, and six, north and south. The position of the
proposed town was between the present Ontario Street and the Don, and
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south of Queen Street. The reservation for the Government buildings was
south-east of the town on the Bay shore.

In 1783 H. Laforce, of the Naval department, and Lewis Kotte, assistant
engineer, made a plan of Toronto Harbor, which was signed in the course
of official business by Captain Gothermann of the Royal Engineers at Que-
bec. Evidently this plan came to the personal attention of Lord Dorchester,
for in 1788 Gothermann was instructed by the Governor to examine Toronto
Harbor and the locality “with a view to the establishment of a settlement
at that point.” Gothermann’s plan is prophetic. It shows a city stretching
from Indian Road to two miles east of the Don, and from the Bay northward
beyond St. Clair avenue. Garrison Common is retained as a park-area,
even as Boston Common, and the effect is most impressive.

Augustus Jones, who laid out the first townships in 1791, made also a
“Plan of the front line of Dublin” (the first name proposed for the settle-
ment) and showed the present Queen Street as the base for the one-hun-
dred-acre “Park” lots to be granted to settlers, but this also was theoretical.
Lt.-Col. Joseph Bouchette surveyed the Harbor in 1793. His chart gave
all soundings and marked the town, laid out by Aitkens, as half-a-mile long
and one-quarter-of-a-mile wide.

Among the first houses in the new settlement was one built by Hon.
Peter Russell at the southern end of Princess Street. This was burned in
January, 1797. Then he built a commodious one-storey frame house, with
a middle section and two wings, long known as Russell Abbey. The site
was at the southwest corner of Princess and Front Streets.

Chief Justice Osgoode continued a familiar correspondence for some
years with Hon. Mr. Russell. The spirit of these letters is delightful.
Writing on January 2th, 1799, on general political affairs, he concluded as
follows: “I hear that you are not snug, but actually magnificent at York
in your palace (Russell Abbey) of which I trust the Princess Mary does
the honors to admiration. Pray make my respectful obedience to her Serene
Majesty, and accept of sincerest wishes for yvour health and happiness.” The
“Princess Mary” was Miss Russell, the Administrator’s sister and house-
keeper. Always some playful message to her was to be found in the courtly
Osgoode’s most sober communications to her brother,

The militia records of 1794 testify that there were 5,350 men capable
of bearing arms in the Province. By that time probably the total population
was about 25,000. York was in no hurry to grow, despite the opening of
Dundas Street. The original plan of the town (as mentioned by Hon. Peter
Russell) was drafted with the restriction that no lot was to be granted on
the Front street unless the holder was prepared to erect a house 47 feet
wide, two storeys high, and built after an approved design. The restriction
was not operative in practice. Mrs. Breckenridge, sister of the Hon.
Robert Baldwin, declared to Dr. Wm. Canniff, the author of the well-known
book on the settlement of Upper Canada that when she arrived in York in
1798 with her father it was a dreary, dismal place, “ not even possessing the
characteristics of a village. There was no church, school house, or any of
the ordinary signs of civilization. There was not even a Methodist chapel
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and not more than one shop. There was no inn, and those travellers who
had no friends to go to, pitched a tent and lived in that.”

Comfortable log buildings for the soldiers were erected soon after their
arrival in 1793 and the Garrison or Fort was well established before the
Town of York was anything more than a pleasant site. The original inten-
tion of the first Governor to forbid settlement along the shore was modified
by the granting of twenty-eight “Park Lots” of 100 acres each to dependable
persons. Lieut. James Givens and Hon. Aneas Shaw, being soldiers, estab-
lished themselves on two of these lots near the Garrison, each building a
spacious house. Captain Shaw’s homestead was about 100 feet northwest
of the present Trinity College. Shaw Street commemorates him and his
home. Givens House was erected in 1802 and the present Givens Street
was the roadway to the main entrance. “Caer Howell” was the country
estate of Hon. William Dummer Powell, the first professional judge in
Upper Canada, and was situated not far from the present head office
of the Hydro Electric Power Commission of Ontario. Captain John McGill’s
house was near where the Metropolitan Church stands to-day.

Denison Avenue was the roadway to the home of Captain John Denison,
another dependable person. There is a family tradition to the effect that
when Captain Denison was living in Kingston he was urged by Governor
Simcoe to settle at the new Capital. He must have seen the early imagina-
ative plan showing a city called Dublin, for he said to the Governor: “If
you call the place Dublin, I am d——d if I will.” By calling it York the
Governor smoothed the Captain’s ruffled feathers, and he applied for
200 acres on May 22, 1793. Nevertheless, the first of the Ontario Denisons
did not arrive at the capital until 1796, the summer of Simcoe’s departure.
Hon. Peter Russell allowed him to live for a time at Castle Frank, and
afterwards housed him in a cottage near the corner of Front and Bay
streets. Some years later Captain Denison bought an estate of 1,600
acres on the Humber and established a private grave yard, now known as
St. John’s cemetery. On September 24th, 1921, a memorial was unveiled
there to the nine worthy descendants of the doughty and loyal Captain
who were killed in the Great War.

Since most of the holders of the Park lots were officials of either civil
or military character, and not dependent upon tillage for their subsistence,
the bush between Town and Garrison was long a-clearing. Thomas Mark-
land said years after: “The same cause which has surrounded Little
York with a desert creates gloom and desolation about Kingston. I mean
the seizure and monopoly of the land by people in office and favor.”

It was not the fate of Governor Simcoe and his lady to see more than
the beginnings of the community they founded. The instructions given by
the King’s Commission to Lord Dorchester as Governor of Canada, and
to Simcoe as Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, were never sufficiently
clear. Dorchester was given every power; to assent to the laws passed
by the Legislatures of both Provinces, to establish electoral divisions and
proclaim elections; to appoint judges, magistrates, officers and ministers;
to command the militia, “except in case of death or absence out of our
said Province of Upper Canada or our Province of Lower Canada.” In case
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of such death or absence the inhabitants were commanded to be obedient
to “our Lieutenant-Governor or Commander-in-Chief of such Province,
respectively, to whom we do therefore by these presents in case of your
death or absence from such Province give and grant all and singular the
powers and authorities herein granted to be by him executed and enjoyed
during our pleasure or until your arrival within such Province respect
ively.” Colonel Simcoe’s Commission is here given in full:

GEORGE R.

George the Third, by the Grace of God, of Great Britain, France and
Ireland King, Defender of the Faith, etc., To Our Trusty and Well-Beloved
John Graves Simcoe, Esquire, GREETING :

\We, reposing especial trust and confidence in your loy-
John G. Simcoe aity, integrity and abilitv. do by these presents con-
to be Lieut.- stitute and appoint you to be Our Lieutenant-Governor
Sovernor of of Our Province of Upper Canada in America. To have,
pper Canada , . ) A
hold, exercise and enjoyv the said place and office during
our Pleasure, with all rights, privileges, profits. perquisites and advant-
ages to the same belonging and appertaining, and further in case of his
death or during the absence of Our Captain-General and Governor-in
Chief of our said Province of Upper Canada, now and for the time being
\We do hereby authorize and require you to exercise and perform all and
singular the powers and directions contained in Our Commission to Qur
said Captain-General and Governor-in-Chief, according to such Instructions
as he hath already received from Us, and such further Orders and Instruc-
tions as he or you shall hereafter receive from Us, and we do hereby
command all and singular Our Officers, Ministers and loving subjects in
Our said Province, and all others whom it may concern, to take due
notice hereof and to give their ready obedience accordingly.

Given at Our Court of St. James, the twelfth day of September, 1791,

in the thirtv-first vear of Our Reign.
By His Majesty’s Command,
(Signed) HENRY DUNDAS.

Lord Dorchester assumed that Col. Simcoe was his subordinate in all
things. Simcoe, recognizing the fact that while Dorchester was in Quebec
he was certainly absent from the Province of Upper Canada, had the im-
pression that the Lieutenant-Governor was supreme within the borders of
the Province, and that he was under orders only in his military capacity.
Even in this sphere of action he thought that his judgment on conditions in
the Province and on the military needs of the moment were worthy at
least of consideration. His recommendations concerning the establish-
ment of fortified posts in Upper Canada were ignored. mainlyv because Lord
Dorchester’s policy was to concentrate his forces for the defence of Lower
Canada, which he considered, naturally enough, as the heart of the
country.

Dissensions between the two officials grew sharper and more frequent.
Each complained to the Home authorities that the other was seeking to
restrict his just authority, and finally there was an open quarrel. It is
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altogether probable that the British Government was not sufficiently clear
on the merits of the question to make a ruling that would retain these
two good men in office. The letters of the Minister were still indefinite,
even when one “prancing pro-consul” * complained of the administration of
the other.

Finally Dorchester applied for leave of absence on account of old age,
and Simcoe, on account of ill-health. These were diplomatic reasons, since
both men were emploved elsewhere. The fact is that they found it im-
possible to work together. Simcoe left Upper Canada on July 9th, 1796.
His final message to the First Legislature on the eve of its dissolution re-
ferred to the troublous nature of the times in these terms: “—during a
period of awful and stupendous events which still agitate the greater part
of mankind and which have threatened to involve all that is valuable in
Court society in one promiscuous ruin.” Simcoe could turn a period and
swing a paddle. He could write a poem and build a fort. He could enter-
tain at his home convinced republicans and organize a whole Province
against republicanism. He could fight his way to a coloncley in a fighting
age, dance a minuet, and play an excellent hand at whist. But he could
not depart from his standard of probity and duty. :

Nor did his interest in the Colony cease with his departure. He
wrote to the King on March 26th, 1798, urging him to watch over Upper
Canada. “It will be,” he believed, “ with proper and honorable support,
the most valuable possession out of the British Isles, in population, com-
merce and principles of the British Empire.”

* The alliterative epithet is applied to Dorchester and Simecoe by Mr. Avern
Pardce.







CHAPTER II1.

YorK AS A CAPITAL



KixG StreET, 1834



CHAPTER II1.
YORK AS A CAPITAL

O N .th.e departure of Colonel Simcoe, Hon. Peter Russell became Ad-
ministrator of the Government and President of the Council, an office
el which brought him no direct emolument and much additional respon-
sibility. He still retained his position as Receiver General and his accounts
showed no such peculiarities as those of the Province of Lower Canada
about the same period. His task was to carry out the plans initiated by
Governor Simcoe, to maintain harmonious relations with the Council and
the Assembly, to guard against French spies getting a footing in the
country, and to obey the instructions of the Home authorities when they
were reasonable. Successive writers have hinted that Russell was a rapac-
ious land grabber, and made use of his position to enrich himself. The
only apparent basis for that hard judgment is found in the fact that dur-
ing 1803 he offered for sale all his landed estate, situated in various parts
of the Province, and amounting to about 9,200 acres. In view of the fact
that the Government granted 13,400 acres to Benedict Arnold, who was
intensely unpopular among the loyalists, and still larger tracts to others,
perhaps the condemnation of Russell has not been wholly warranted.

It is certain that he did his best to improve such lands as he received
His house at York was among the best, as it was one of the first, and the
cost of fulfilling the settlement duties on his various farms must have been
considerable. Every holder of the King’s bounty in land was under obli-
gation to clear five acres, build a house, and aid in the construction of
roads. One barn which Russell built on his farm near York cost £250.
There seems to be reason in the complaint which he madc frequently to
intimate correspondents that he had invested more than he could afford and
saw no prospect of being recouped for his outlay, since the price of land
continued low. He desired to spend his later years in England, but could
not afford to abandon his investments in Upper Canada without reducing
his resources too seriously to make that project possible.

Settlers were the great need of the country, as the Governor under-
stood. Lieutenant-Governor Hunter said that Russell and the Council
would have granted land to the Devil and all his family if they had the fees,
but that statement proves rather the pungent temper of Hunter than the
carelessness of Peter Russell. \Vhatever errors arose in following out the
colonization policy of Governor Simcoe, and his immediate successor, were
due first to looseness in surveying, and secondly to the fact that some of the
the grantees had no taste for the work of a settler and sold out for a few
shillings, a bottle of rum, or some other trifling consideration.

Russell was a man of high character and much ability. He was meth-
odical and careful. His work as military secretary to Sir FHenry Clinton
during the trying times of the Revolution was sufficiently good to make
Clinton his steady friend and patron at Court. He won the confidence of
Governor Simcoe and of that clear-seeing young man, Hon. William

71
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Osgoode, Chief Justice and Councillor. He accepted the office of Adr'nin—
istrator with difidence but had “a grateful sense of the honor done him.”

On June 27th, 1796, David William Smith, Surveyor-General, was

sworn in as a member of the Executive Council. Soon after, Osgoode re-
tired to Quebec.

His successor as Chief Justice was John Elmsley, who came out from
England with his appointment in the summer of 1796, just as Governor
Simcoe was leaving. He came first to Newark and was among those who
were vigorously opposed to the transfer of the capital. He wrote to Presi-
dent Russell on Feb. 2nd, 1797, urging the suspension of the order for re-
moval of the Courts to York. The place, he said, was forty miles beyond
the most remote settlement, at the head of the lake. There was neither jail
nor court house, no accommodation for grand or petty juries, none for suit-
ors, witnesses, or the Bar, and very indifferent for the Judges. Those at-
tending Court had to remain in the open air, or to be crowded in tents and
huts. Many of the jurors would be compelled to travel sixty or eighty miles
and be absent from home at least ten days. Those who refused to come
could pay the fine imposed more easily than the expense of the journey. The
Chief Justice did not think that a jury could be secured at York. Even
this complaint, which had a measure of sympathy from Russell, did not
prevent the transfer. York became the capital despite its isolation from
other settlements on account of bad roads, and the very meagre accom-
modation it offered for visitors. Its suitability, when these difficulties were
overcome, was obvious to most officials, and particularly to those who had
had a military training and experience in the field.

Not a house had been erected on the site of York when the place was
chosen as the new capital of Upper Canada. Two years later, in 1795, only
twelve houses had been built, and the residents of the thriving town of
Newark were inclined to view the rival settlement with a measure of
contempt. It was “Little York,” and “Muddy York,” in their eyes, for
many years. But it was a good military post well removed from the
dangers of the frontier and promised a safe anchorage for shipping.

The first task was to provide accommodation for Parliament and the
public offices. Complete details of the plan or of the cost are lacking, since
all official records were burned in 1813 by visiting Americans, personally
conducted by General Dearborn. From fragmentary mention of the build-
ings by contemporary letter-writers, it is known that John McGill super-
vised the construction and engaged the carpenters. The mason-work was
done by David Thomson, a Scot newly arrived in the country, who was the
first settler in the Township of Scarborough. It is certain that the build-
ings were of brick. An account book kept by.Thomson mentions that
brick was used. “July 16, 1796. Begun to wall the Government brick
houses. 55,500 brick at 17s 6d per thousand.” There were two “elegant
halls” each 40 feet long and 25 feet wide. The intention was to erect a
central building in the space of 100 feet between them, but finally the
two halls were connected by a modest covered way. The buildings stood
on the Bay shore at the southern end of the present Berkeley street, then
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known as Parliament street, and the present Front street was named
Palace street—the approach to the “Palace of Government.”

The work was not fully completed by the end of 1796, as a letter from
Hon. Peter Russell testified. Mr. Russell wrote on December 4th, 1796;
“As the Legislature is to meet at York on the first of June, it becomes
absolutely necessary that provision shall be made for their reception with-
out loss of time. You will therefore be pleased to apprize the inhabitants
of the town that twenty-five gentlemen will want lodgings and board dur-
ing the Sessions, which may possibly induce them to fix up their houses
and lay in provisions to accommodate them. Those two detached houses
belonging to the Government House must at any rate be got ready—
the one for the Legislative Council, the other for the Assembly. I beg
likewise that you desire Mr. Graham to examine the two canvas houses
and report the practicability of removing the best of them to the town, to
be raised there for giving dinners in to the Members of the two Houses.”

Throughout the United States and particularly in Vermont, settlement
had been facilitated by the grant of townships to individuals. Each of these
undertook to find immigrants enough to occupy the township, and gave a
bond to guarantee specific performance of the agreement. The “padrone”
made his profit in various ways; his own land grant was likely to be large
and its value rose as the land about it was cleared and planted. Besides
there must have been frequent occasions for profit in supplying the needs
of the colonists. The ‘“rake-off” was not unknown in those days.

The proclamation by Governor Simcoe and the various advertisements
published in the United States and in Great Britain during 1792, 1793 and
1794 awoke the interest of colonizing agents. “Leaders” arose on all sides,
ready to conduct parties of trustful colonists to the promised land. All
that they needed was a few townships each. On March 18th, 1793, Andrew
Pierce, Samuel Jarvis and others undertook to settle within four years
50 families in each of three townships on the north shore of Lake Ontario,
and gave bonds of £18,000 sterling. Before any active preparation was
made by this group, their interest was bought by William Berczy, a Ger-
man, who was in partnership with Conrad Braner, a former officer of the
Hessian, or Hanoverian corps, for bringing German families to Poulteney’s
Colony, in America. Then this group petitioned from New York on March
20th, 1794, for one million acres of Upper Canada land, preferably upon
Lake Erie. The reason given was their attachment to the British Govern-
ment, and the fact that German people were accustomed to “an executive
power more energetic than that of the United States.”” The expression
describes most justly the civil administration of Frederick the Great.

The Government would not consider a grant of one million acres, but
on May 17th, 1794, ordered that 64,000 acres be granted. When that tract
was settled the petitioners might ask for more. The allotment was the
Township of Markham, and Berczy, no longer “in jail in Genesee,” brought
with him 74 families “from Europe and the United States.” On July 16th,
1796, William Jarvis, the Deputy-Lieutenant of the County of York, named
William Berczy a Captain of Militia.
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There were difficultics about the title of the lands, and Berczy, accord-
ing to his own statement, was hardly used. Something was to be said for
the administrators also, since Berczy had pertinacities of temper and
habit. Governor Simcoe had reported to the Home authorities that there
were grave disadvantages in making large grants to ‘“leaders” and by
1797 Royal instructions were received at York that no allotment should
be made in future for more than 200 acres. Osgoode found Berczy *“a
wrong-headed, meddlesome icllow.” but that opinion may have been form-
ed because of his willingness to criticize the land policy of the Govern-

ment both in Upper and in Lower Canada.

One cause of distress to all settlers was the policy of reserving farm
lots in every settlement for the Crown and Clergy. A very clear state-
ment of its disadvantages had been made as early as 1794 by Asa Porter
and Nicholas Austin in a letter dated March 3rd, and addressed to Lord
Dorchester.  They held that the reserves should be in a separate block,
away from the portions being settled; that in forming a settlement in
a rugged, new country, great advantages were found in having the farms
‘contiguous. The draining, ditching and fencing were made practicable.
The roads could be constructed more easily and kept open through the
winter.  The people could more conveniently unite their strength, which
was often necessary, to remove the many obstacles theyv had to encounter
in subduing the wilderness. Further, wheat could not be grown near the
woodlands on account of “the birds and the reptiles” with which they
abounded. The shade of tall trees also injured the crops of the adjoining
fields and meadows. Concentrated settlement made for the comfort and
convenience of the settlers and made their situation less gloomy and
dismal. The Government in reply said that Royal instructions required
the Crown and Clergy reserves to be in detached parcels, and those instruc-
tions could not be departed from.

A general election to the Assembly of the Second Parliament took
place on August 18th, 1796. Apparently the free and independent voters
were convinced that it was “time for a change,” for onlv two of those
who sat in the first Assembly were returned, John Macdonell and D. \W.
Smith. Among those left at home was John \Vhite, the attorney-general,
brought in to the first House by the influence of Governor Simcoe, Hon.
Peter Russell requested him to stand for Addington and Ontario, and
offered to pay his election expenses. “He was beaten,” said Russell, in a
letter to England, “but the expenses were paid, as promised.” The amount
was £23, 10s 3d. Halifax currency.

The result of the election follows: GLENGARRY, Richard Wilkinson
and John Macdonell; STORMOXNT, Robert I. D. Gray; DUNDAS, Thomas
Fraser; GRENVILLE, Dr. Solomon Jones; LEEDS and FRONTENAC,
Edward Jessup; ADDINGTON and ONTARIO, Christopher Robinson ;
LENNOX, HASTINGS and NORTHUMBERLAND, Timothy Thompson;
PRINCE EDWARD and ADOLPHUSTOWN, David McGregor Rogers;
DURHAM, YORK and Ist LINCOLN, Richard Beasley; 2nd LINCOLN,
Samuel Street; 3rd LINCOLN, Benjamin Hardison; 4th LINCOLN and
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NORFOLK, David William Smith; SUFFOLK and ESSEX, John Corn-
wall; KENT, Thomas Smith and Thomas McKee.,

"I‘homas Fraser was a New York lovalist who had served with Mec-
Alpine’s Corps. Edward Jessup, who came originally from Connecticut,
was mentioned in the New York Confiscation Act of October 22nd, 1799.
Dr. Solomon Jones was surgeon’s mate in Jessup’s Loyal Rangers, and
came originally from Connecticut. Timothy Thompson had been an ensign
in the King’s Royal Regiment of New York; Christopher Robinson, the
ancestor of a distinguished Toronto legal family, had been an officer of
the Queen’s Rangers. He died in 1798 and was succeeded by William
Fairfield, who also had seen service in the field. David McGregor was
the son of an officer in the Queen’s Rangers, and a loyalist of New Hamp-
shire. Richard Beasley, who represented York, was the first settler on
Burlington Bay, a merchant of some property. Samuel Street, of Con-
necticut origin, acted as Speaker during the Fourth Session of Parliament,
while D. W. Smith, the elected Speaker, was absent from the country.
Thomas Smith was a loyalist surveyor, who served in the Indian Depart-
ment. Thomas McKee was the son of Col. Alexander McKee, Indian
agent at Pittsburg during the Revolutionary war and later at Detroit.
John Cornwall had been a Ranger. Captain Benjamin Hardison, as a
young man, was a Massachusetts soldier on the Revolutionary side. He
was captured and sent to Canada, where he revised his opinions and be-
came a firm loyalist. R. I. D. Gray was the solicitor-general, a man of
great ability.

Therefore, while the personnel of the Assembly had changed, it was
still composed mainly of fighting loyalists who had good reason to hate
republicanism. Hugh Macdonell, of Glengarry, who was not elected to
the Second Assembly, was highly regarded by the Duke of Kent and on
his recommendation was appointed in 1805 as Assistant-Commissary at
Gibraltar. From 1811 to 1820 he was British Consul-General at Algiers.

By 1797 the public buildings were completed and the First Session of
the Second Parliament met at York on June Ist. The first task before
the members was to pass an Alien Enemy Act. Great Britain had entered
upon the long struggle against the rejuvenated French nation and pre-
cautions were necessary. The Act provided that any person of whatever
name, character, or description, owing allegiance or professing to owe
allegiance to any country, kingdom, state or commonwealth, now at war
against our Sovereign Lord the King, should not be permitted to “enter,
remain, reside or dwell” in any part of the Province. In case such a per-
son were discovered he should be warned to leave within 24 hours. If he
neglected the warning he could be sent to jail for one month and then
might be given a second opportunity to depart. If he still neglected or
refused to go he was to be adjudged a felon, to suffer death “without
benefit of clergy.”

The 13th chapter of the Statutes of 1797 was entitled: “For Better
Regulating the Practice of Law.” It authorized the formation of the Law
Society of Upper Canada. The declared object of associating the lawyers was
“as well for the establishment of order among themselves, as for the purpose
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of securing to the Province and the profession a learned and honorable
body to assist their fellow-subjects as occasion may require, and to sup-
port and maintain the Constitution of the said Province.”” The first
Benchers were John White, attorney-general, R. I. D. Gray, solicitor-
general, Walter Roe, Angus Macdonell, James Clark and Christopher Rob-
inson. The Law Society has well fulfilled the hopes of its founders.

When the French Girondins, in protest over the execution of King
Louis, talked loudly of fighting, General Wimpfen produced a leader, the
Count de Puisaye, who was able and willing to “wage the war in Cal-
vados.” Carlyle, in a hot sentence, summarizes the result of this struggle.
“The forces did meet, and, as it were, shrieked mutually and took mutu-
ally to flight without loss.” Puisaye was roused from his warm bed in
the Castle of Brécourt and had to gallop without boots, seeking “a hole in
which to hide himself.”

The “hole” chosen was London. He and some of his associates, hopeless
of a wise revolution, and respectfully fearful of steel-hearted Jacobins,
crossed the Channel to join that tumultuous company of “emigrés” which
already had driven the British Government to the verge of distraction.
Over 8000 of them were in England, nobles and commoners of the “at-
tached” variety, but few genuine workers were amongst them. Their hope
continually was to co-operate with England against the unworthy “bosses”
who were ruling France. Granted always that the emigrés had suffered
and were in the despairing temper of most refugees, it seems odd that they
rested all on the fighting of foreigners. Austria, Prussia and England
were expected to spend blood and treasure unstintedly that the French
nobles might get back their estates and take a red vengeance upon the
politicians of “The Mountain.”

De Puisaye’s hope was to organize a landing in Brittany. The British
Government provided that two divisions of emigrés should go first to
Quiberon Bay, to be followed by a division of British soldiers and support-
ed by the fleet. The expedition was a failure, and at the end of July,
1795, De Puisaye was again in London, with no prospects.

Emigration to Upper Canada! That would solve all difficulties. An
unsigned, undated proposal to the British Government for the settlement
on Crown lands in Canada of French refugees is found in the Canadian
Archives. In the opinion of the late Mr. Douglas Brymner it was pre-
pared by De Puisaye. The plan is remarkable in its detail but it was
drafted, undoubtedly, without considering whether or not the proposed
settlers had a taste for labor.

Finally the British officials consented to recommend to the Govern-
ment of Upper Canada the grant of a suitable tract of land to De Puisaye
and his company of forty persons, among them the Count de Chalus and his
lady. They sailed on the “Betsy” and by November, 1798, arrived in
Quebec. A year later the owners of the “Betsy” were suing for the
passage money.

The Executive Council on November 22nd, determined that the Town-
ships of Uxbridge, Gwillimbury, part of Whitechurch, and a township in the
rear of Whitby, not vet named, should be appropriated for De Puisaye’s
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party, the leader to have 5,000 acres. Apparently not all were pleased at
the allotment, for in April, 1799, Chief Brant suggested a five-mile tract
on the lake front between York and Burlington, and got into a quarrel
with the Administration over the proposal. He was charged with influenc-
ing the Mississaugas to sell their reserved lands.

Meanwhile the Marquis de Beaupoil and a man named St. Victor asked
for passports to return to England. They had found conditions in Upper
Canada far from what had been represented to them. By September, 1799,
sixteen had left the colony. Twenty were at the settlement called Wind-
ham, and five, including De Puisaye himself, were at Niagara. Finally
the enterprise was abandoned. De Puisaye himself returned to England,
became a naturalized subject, and died in poverty at Blyth House in
Hammersmith.

The passport to success in the forests of this country was found in hard,
continuous, back-breaking labor. There was something incongruous in the
establishment of courtiers in these frowning townships, no matter what
services they had rendered against the rise of republicanism. Remember-
ing the social status of Royalist army officers at that period, the secret of
the failure of the settlement may be found in the fact that the party of
about 40 boasted one lieutenant-general, five full colonels, one lieutenant-
colonel, three captains and two lieutenants. There were two Counts and one
of them brought with him seven servants as an entourage suitable for his
station as a landholder.

The Second Session of the Second Legislature meeting in 1798 passed
an Act bounding the counties and readjusting the judicial districts of
Upper Canada. The riding of East York was composed of the town-
ships of Whitby, Pickering, Scarborough, York (including the peninsula),
Etobicoke, Markham, Vaughan, King, Whitechurch, Uxbridge, Gwillimbury,
“and the tract of land hereafter to be laid out into townships lying between
the County of Durham and Lake Simcoe.”

West York consisted of the Townships of Beverley, East and West
Flamborough, the Six Nations Territory north of Dundas street and all
land between it and the East Riding.

The Home District included Northumberland, Durham, York and Sim-
coe; say, from east of Cobourg to Brantford and northward to the ends
of the earth.

During this same Session of 1798 an important amendment was made
to the Marriage Act, whereby some clergymen other than those of the
Church of England were grudgingly given the right to solemnize matri-
mony. The Act declared that it would be lawful for the minister or clergy-
man of any congregation or religious community of persons professing to
be members of the Church of Scotland, or Lutherans or Calvinists, to
celebrate the ceremony of marriage between any two persons, not inhibited
by consanguinity or other conditions, one of whom had been a member of
that congregation for at least six months.

Before such a clergyman could secure the right he had to give proof
before at least six magistrates of his proper ordination, and bring with him
at least seven respectable persons, members of his congregation or com-
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munity to vouch for him. A petition urging that this privilege be extended
to the Methodists was denied by a vote in the Assembly of 8 to 2.

At the Third Session in 1799 the legislation was meagre. An Act was
passed validating an agreement between Upper and Lower Canada govern-
ing the collection of duties on interprovincial trade, and the Alien Enemy
Act was continued. The most striking record of that Session is a mes-
sage from Honorable Peter Russell recording the first practical effect of
the operation of the Militia Act.

“I am happy to inform you that the intelligence communicated by me
in the beginning of the winter respecting a combined attack on this Prov-
ince, said to be in preparation from the side of the Mississippi, turns out
to have had little or no foundation. It has. however, had the very pleasing
effect of evincing our internal strength to repel any hostile attémpt from
that quarter. For I cannot sufficiently applaud the very animated exertions
of the Lieutenants of Counties and the loyal spirit and zeal exhibited by
the militia of the several districts on this occasion, whereby 2,000 volunteers
from the respective corps thereof were immediately put into a state of
readiness to march with their armyv at a moment to wherever they might
be ordered, and I am persuaded that the rest would have soon followed with
equal alacrity, if their services had been wanted.”

The occasion for this emergency call is explained in correspondence be-
tween Hon. Peter Russell and Governor Prescott, Lord Dorchester’s suc-
cessor at Quebec. On October 5th, 1798, the Governor wrote to say that
Collot, a French republican general, formerly engaged in a plan for stirring
up a rebellion in Canada, went into the western country in 1796 and 1797 to
prepare the Indians of that region to make an attack on Upper Canada at
the same time as a hostile force would be thrown into Lower Canada.
When Collot left the Indian country he promised to return in 1799, and
at the time Prescott wrote he was in France “concerting measures.” The
Governor suggested that Russell should ascertain what tribes had been
tampered with, so as to prevent the mischief.

In answer to this communication Russell wrote on November 2nd that
in his opinion a dangerous cloud was ready to burst over the Province.
He had not been able to discover with certainty upon which tribes he could
depend, as he had had no intelligence from Colonel McKee, the Deputy-Super-
intendent of Indian Affairs, stationed at Sandwich. He thought that should
the western Indians be disposed to make an irruption on the back settle-
ments, they might do mischief before their attack could be heard of. “There
are so few farms between the Don and the Humber that it is probable the
first news would be the Indians themselves.” Russell had the most serious
apprehensions of an attack by the Western and Lake Indians, even though
the ones settled on the Grand River were faithful, as Brant said they
were. He reported Brant’s opinion that the Caughnawagas and other Can-
adian Indians were in the French interest.

Troops and at least one field piece were needed, Russell continued,
to enable him to establish posts between York and Lake Simcoe. At
this time all the regulars were in Lower Canada. (The Fifth Foot, after
the Fort at Niagara had been surrendered to the Americans on August 11th,
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1796, had been transferred to Quebec.) The few militia in Upper Canada
would be instructed to co-operate with the regular troops. Mr. Russell
added that Colonel Shaw had had for some months 100 stand of arms, with
ammunition, and orders to ballot for a like number of men, to be in con-
stant readiness to embody and march. Similar orders had been given to
the other lieutenants, and arms had been supplied from the store sent
by Prescott in the previous year. In the neighborhood of Detroit the
militia under McKee and Biby had been reduced by the secession of those
settlers who had become subjects of the United States, but there seemed
to be still about 150 men who could be depended upon. The Long Point
settlement might turn out 150 men, and the County of Lincoln about 800,
all consisting of staunch old soldiers. The Eastern and Midland Districts
reported only 2,683 men available. It would not be wise to count on more
than 1,000 men for the field, to be drawn without domestic interference,
in the Home District.

Colonel McKee, of the Indian branch of Government, died about
this time, and his secretary, F. Selby, wrote to Acting-Governor Russell
on January 23rd, 1799, sending the last suggestions of the veteran of Pitts-
burg. In his opinion there was no danger from the Indians of the south-
west, unless the white settlers of Kentucky and Ohio joined them. He pro-
posed collecting early in Spring a body of friendly Indians and posting them
about Michilimackinac and St. Joseph, to bar any hostile incursion. Mean-
while the Sacs and Foxes (of Wisconsin) should get presents to stop an
advance through their country. He thought also that the Government
should seek a treaty with the Sioux and the Folles Avoines, of the Mississippi
country.

On April 25th, 1799, Russell reported to the British authorities that the
alarming information brought from the westward by Brant’s runners had
proved to be totally unfounded.

One cannot but feel that the Home authorities were not sufficiently
seized of the value of Russell’s services. He had shown himself active, alert
and fully competent, as the substitute for the Lieutenant-Gove:rnor, a.md
had served Lieutenant-General Hunter, the successor of Simcoe, with undim-
inished energy. Yet in 1800, when he appealed for an inFreas.e of sallary
irom £200 to £400, the Lords of the Treasury “did not t.hmk it exp'edlent
to comply: “With a touch of grim humor he Wrot'e to Sir Henry Clmto.n:
“I was honored with His Majesty's fullest approbation of my conduct whll.e
I represented him in this Province. 1 am now sorr’),f to observe that this
is all T am likely to reap from my labors and zeal.

Hon. David William Smith, Survevor-General,* wa.s the.author of .A
Short Topographical Description of Upper Canada, printed in London in

i illi Smith, born in 1764 was the son of Lieut.-Col. Smlth
of th:; LII?‘??t‘hDFil:;? v?lighgilgd as Commandant of.Fort Niagara in 1795. He hlmsielé
flicer in the Regiment and on the testimony of Mrs. Simcoe, was marrie
o e tiful Irish woman. He was a member of the first three.Parhaments of
Con b%au 1dua and twice was Speaker of the Assembly. Besides serving as Surveyor
oo la;:: was one of the trustees for the Six Nations, and was highly regarded as
gii%gabl,e and just man. He returned to Eng(liand ix:l 13.0?1, yvaslscgtéatede Bﬁ;gneftmllxll.
i i jces in Upper Canada, an ied in . ]
égﬁ;hggrl"s hvt'shopggi'l:f:ivze;vﬁ(i:m. Hisponly son was killed at Quiberon Bay in 1811 on

board the frigate Spartan.
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1799 by W. Faden, Geographer to His Majesty. The notes were made “at
the desire of Major-General Simcoe.” The following quotations have value
as contemporary references:

Toronto. Lake le Clie, (sic) was formerly so called by some; others
called the chain of lakes from the vicinity of Machedash towards the head
of the Bav of Quinte the Toronto Lakes, and the communication from the
one to the other was called the Toronto River.

Toronto River. Called by some St. John's River, now called the Humber.

Simcoe Lake. Formerly Lake aux Claies,* named by Lieut-Col. Simcoe in
respect to his father, the late Captain Simcoe. of the Royal Navy, who
died in the River St. Lawrence on the expedition to Quebec in 1759. In the
year 1755 this able officer had furnished Government with the plan of oper-
ations against Quebec which then took place. Captain Cook, the celebrat-
ed circumnavigator, was master of his ship, the “Pembroke.”

Re Yonge Street. Merchandise from Montreal to Michilimackinac may
be sent this way at ten or fifteen pounds less expense per ton than by the
route of the Grand or Ottawa River.

York. On the extremity of the peninsula, which is called Gibraltar
Point, are commodious stores and blockhouses which command the en-
trance to the harbor. On the mainland, opposite to the Point, is the garri-
son, situated in a fork made by the harbor and a small rivulet, which being
improved by sluices affords easy access for boats to go up to the stores.
The barracks being built on a knoll are well situated for health and com-
mand a delightful prospect of the lake to the west and of the harbor
to the east. The Government House is about two miles above the garrison
near the head of the harbor, and the town is increasing rapidly. The River
Don empties itself into the harbor a little above the town, running
through a marsh, which, when drained, will afford most beautiful and
fruitful meadows. This has already been commenced in a small degree
which will no doubt encourage further attempts. The long beach or penin-
sula which affords a most delightful ride is considered so healthy by the
Indians that they resort to it whenever indisposed, and so soon as the
bridge over the Don is finished, it will, of course, be most generally resorted
to, not only for pleasure, but as the most convenient road to the heights of
Scarborough. The ground which has been prepared for the Government
House, is situated between the town and the River Don, on a most beautiful
spot, the vicinity of which 1s well suited for gardens and a park. The
oaks are in general large, the soil is excellent and well watered with creeks,
one of which, by means of a short dam, may be thrown into all the streets
of the town. Vessels of all sizes may be conveniently built here, and a kind
of terrace or second bank in front of the town affords an excellent situa-
tion for a rope-walk. The remains of the old French Fort Toronto stand a
little to the westward of the present garrison, and the River Humber dis-
charges itself into Lake Ontario about two miles and a half west of that.

* Claies—hurdles of basket-work. The Huron Indians were in the habit of
putting such hurdles in the Narrows between Lake Couchiching and the larger lake
in order to catch the herring which even yet are very plentiful at certain seasons.
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On this river and the Don are excellent mills and all the waters abound
in fish.”

There is an interesting footnote to the book, indicating the movement
of immigration: “Nineteen covered waggons came in to settle in the vicin-
ity of Lincoln about the month of June last, and the facility with which
some of these people travel, particularly in crossing the small rivers, de-
serves to be noticed. The body of their waggons is made of close boards,
and the most clever have the ingenuity to caulk the seams, and so by shift-
ing off the body from the carriage, it serves to transport the wheels and
the family.” *

Major-General Peter Hunter was appointed Commander of the Forces
and Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, on April 12th, 1799. He was in
Quebec on June 13th and arrived at York on August 15th, taking over the
Government on the following day. He was a soldier, with the military
merit of speaking his mind, as was apparent in his first official communica-
tion to the King. Concerning Prescott, the Governor of Canada, he said:
“I did not know Prescott before. From his conduct I would not hesitate
to pronounce him mad.” The wholesale grants of land since the beginning
of the Colony, he considered the main cause of all slowness of develop-
ment, and he vigorously criticized his predecessors in office. Between
August 16th, 1799, and December 31st, 1800, 30 persons received 11,899
acres in York Township alone. Few of the grantees had either the funds
or the time to clear the land, and thus there were great bush areas under
private ownership besides the Crown and Clergy reserves of one-tenth
and one-seventh in each township. So the population was sparse and there
was no possibility of building roads, save by Government expenditure.
That meant a grant from the British Government or else the sale of some
townships in a well settled area.

At the session of 1800, the Fourth of the Second Parliament, the Crim-
inal Law was amended by the abolition of the penalty of burning in the
hand. Two years before a prisoner had been branded in open court in the
presence of Mr. Justice Powell. There was a Representation Act provid-
ing that persons elected to the Assembly must have resided in the Prov-
ince for four years previous to the date of the polling, or in some other
Rritish Dominion for seven years. Provision was made for the summary
conviction of persons selling liquor by retail without a license.

The Legislative Assembly of the Third Parliament elected on July 9th,
1801, was as follows: GLENGARRY and PRESCOTT, Alexander Mac-
donell and Angus Macdonell; STORMONT and RUSSELL, Robert I. D.
Gray; DUNDAS, Jacob Weager; GRENVILLE, Samuel Sherwood;
LEEDS, William Buell; FRONTENAC, John Ferguson; PRINCE ED-
WARD, Ebenezer Washburn; LENNOX and ADDINGTON, Timothy
Thompson; HASTINGS and NORTHUMBERLAND, David M. Rogers;
DURHAM, SIMCOE, and EAST YORK, Henry Allcock; WEST YORK,
1st LINCOLN and HALDIMAND, Richard Beasley; 2nd, 3rd and 4th

* Rev. Dr. Scadding reprinted the text of the second edition of this Gagetteer
with his own annotations, in the Journal of the Royal Canadian Institute, Series II.,

Vol. XIV.
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LINCOLN, Isaac Swayzie; NORFOLK, OXFORD and MIDDLESEX, Hon.
D. W. Smith; KENT, Thomas McCrae; ESSEX, Matthew Elliott, and
Thomas McKee. Hon. D. W. Smith was the Speaker. He and five others
were the onlv survivors of the Second Parliament; namely, R. I. D. Gray,
Timothy Thompson, David McGregor Rogers, Richard Beasley and Thos.
McKee.

The impropriety of electing a judge to the Legislative Assembly was
noted by the petition of Samuel Heron, Archibald Cameron and Elisha
Beaman to void the election of Mr. Justice Allcock, member for Durham,
Simcoe, and East York. They lamented the early necessity of complaining
against an infringement of the Constitution “meditated by a few individ-
uals and partly perfected by their artifices,” and declared that Henry All-
cock had been improperly, untruly and unjustly returned. On June 1lth,
1800, a committee of the House determined that Henry Allcock had not been
duly elected and on the following day the Speaker’s writ issued for a bye-
election. Mr. Angus Macdonell was chosen in Mr. Allcock’s place.

In 1801, on August 15th, the Bishop of Quebec was sworn in as an
Executive Councillor. Mr. Justice Allcock became a member of the Ex-
ecutive on Feb. 20th, 1802, in succession to John Munro, deceased, and on
Mav 31st of the same vear, became Chief Justice, Judge Elmsley having
succeeded Osgoode as Chief Justice of Lower Canada.

The war against France spurred British officers everywhere to inces-
sant vigilance. In Upper Canada special care was taken to prevent French
subjects gaining admission to the country to collect military intelligence,
or to buy lands from the Indians for secret storehouses. The fact that
France was heartily supported by a large body of the American people
whose hostility towards Great Britain was still bitter and unreasoning,
made it necessary for the officials to consider the possibility of invasion
by irregulars at vulnerable points along the frontier.

Fort George, near Newark, had been built after the surrender to the
United States of Fort Niagara on the East side of the river. Thither came
one fine morning in the autumn of 1800, Mr. Pierre Le Couteulx, an amiable
civilian, with a letter of introduction from Colonel Timothy Pickering, ot
Washington. He was on his way to Detroit with a quantity of merchandise
and was filled with a vast surprise when he was detained. His letter of
introduction to \ajor Rivardi, of the Fort, was of no advantage to him.
Colonel Macdonell wrote to Major Rivardi on October 6th to say that Mr.
Couteulx was a gentleman without a passport, and must be held to know the
pleasure of the Commander-in-Chief. In due course orders came, and in
consequence of those orders M. Le Couteulx was politely escorted to Que-
bec. There he was held while two magistrates and the law officers of the
Government made an examination of his papers.

He complained that the arrest was irregular because he was a natural-
ized American, and had lived in the United States for fourteen vears. In
that position he was supported by Alexander Hamilton and other American
friends. Attorney-General Sewell of Quebec was not impressed by this
argument. He gave an opinion that Le Couteulx could legally be detained
as a prisoner of war.
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Since 1794 this same Le Couteulx had been “an object of very great
suspicion” to the military officers and it may be presumed that they were
well satisfied that Mr. Sewell’s law happened to coincide with the necessity
of the case. It seemed that the man. under cover of his American citizen-
ship, was in continual correspondence with other friends and agents of
France, to discover an occasion for striking Great Britain in her North
American possessions. One of his letters to Rodolph Tellier, expressed the
desire of seeing ten ships of the line in the St. Lawrence as an escort to
5000 or 6,000 troops. “Nothing,” he said, “would please the Canadians
better.” He had written to Liancourt advising that French forces should
seize the port of Hamburg, and also should send into England forged bank-
notes to the value of £50,000,000, that the enemy’s credit at home might
be destroyed. |

In a word, it was clear from his papers, as well as from secret intel-
ligence, that Le Couteulx was an alien enemy. If the Liancourt mentioned
were the philosophic traveller, La Rouchefoucault de Liancourt, the reason
for that careful observer’s deportation from Kingston at the order of Lord
Dorchester may be guessed. The secret service may have had a glimpse at
his private correspondence.

The fact that Le Couteulx had been an American subject for fourteen
years removed him from the jurisdiction of the Alien Enemy Act, but he
had committed the fatal error of travelling without a passport, and became
a prisoner of war despite all protests.

This specific case may indicate the tumult and danger of the times, and
the burden which lay upon all the authorities of Upper Canada. The
Lieutenant-Governor and his Councillors were perpetually looking four
ways; towards Napoleon flitting from Egypt to Marengo, and his mul-
titudinous spies in the United States; towards the hostile republican
leaders across the border; towards the doubtful Indians; and to-
wards the grumbling settlers at home. It was no sinecure to govern Can-
ada at the beginning of the Nineteenth Century.

Three distinct classes of people were in Upper Canada at this time, the
coterie of officials and military officers, active or retired, the discharged
soldiers who had taken up land, and the civilian settlers. The first group
was an aristocracy wholly English in thought and outlook, and sufficiently
well-to-do to create and maintain a society given to polite entertainment
and impolite gossip. There was a “court” in Newark and subsequently at
York, which was an odd miniature of St. James’s.

Hon. Peter Russell wrote to Hon. William Osgoode at Quebec on January
9th, 1800, describing the circumstances which led up to the famous White-
Small duel, and its fatal termination. The letter throws into light the
gossiping tendency of the “court.” Mrs. John Small and Mrs. Elmsley saw
fit to disapprove of Mrs. White, and “cut” her at a public assembly. This con-
duct exasperated White, the Attorney-General “to such a degree that in the
violence of his consequent agitation he communicated some circumstances to
the prejudice of Mrs. Small’s character to Mr. David Smith, with permission
to repeat, which he did, to Mrs. Elmsley. Mr. Smith had the very great im-
prudence to tell it, about six months after, not only to the Chief Justice
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and Mrs. Elmsley, but to Mrs. Powell, and three or four others.” In course
of time the story came to Mr. Small’s ears. Immediately he called upon
Mr. White and insisted that he declare at once whether or not he was
responsible for the scandal. The letter continued: “Mr. White answered
that, it being possible that Mr. Smith might have said more or less than he
was authorized to do, Mr. Small had better write to Mr. Smith to know
from himself whether it was true or false, but taken so by surprise he
could not immediately give him the answer he required. Mr. Small replied
he must then give him immediate satisfaction. It was in consequence
agreed that they should meet the next morning in the park behind the
Government House, Mr. Small, accompanied by Mr. Sheriff Macdonell, and
Mr. White by Captain de Hoen (a former Hessian ofhcer and a Baron). Mr.
White previous to his going out declared to Mr. Weekes, a barrister, and to
his second, that having no wish to hurt Mr. Small on this occasion he should
not fire at him, but whether he had altered this resolution, or the (appear-
ance) of his antagonist . . . convulsed his finger to pull the trigger, both
pistols were fired nearlv at the same instant, but Small's with (better)
aim, as the ball passed between Mr. \White’s ribs, and striking the spine,
caused an instant palsy of the lower extremities. My poor friend, being
at his own desire brought to my house, I hurried him into my own bed. . .
There he continued in the greatest torture until the usual mortification set
in a few hours before his death. He was buried in a summerhouse on his
own land adjoining the town on Tuesday, the 7th instant.*

“Mr. Small was tried at the last Court of Oyer in this town and acquit-
ted, through some neglect in the prosecution to produce evidence of Mr,
White’s being killed by him, for neither of the seconds were subpoenaed
and no one else was privy to the transaction. The verdict of the jury has
consequently excited some apprehension that this decision may lessen the
dread of punishment.”

The soldier settlers were good and bad. Those with ambition to solve
the secrets of wilderness life found wives from among their neighbors and
fought their way through. The first white child born in York (in 1794)
was John Graves Simcoe Wright, the son of Edward Wright, a retired
soldier of the Queen’s Rangers. His opinion of his former commanding
officer may be judged by the name he gave his son. Then as now the
efficient and just officer had the admiration of his men, although it is prob-
able that the ordinary officer of the period regarded a private soldier
as a being infinitely lower than himself.

The more careless type of discharged soldier devoted himself and his
freedom to riotous days and nights, for it was a hard-drinking age. As
for the settlers, the Court group hardly knew what to think of them,
Colonel Simcoe, in one of his despatches, had spoken with uneasiness of the
election to the Legislative Assembly of men who ate at a common table
with their servants, a fault akin to the unpardonable offence among mem-
bers of the “nobility and gentry.”

* Years afterwards the body was exhumed and buried in St. James’s Cemetery.
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These men, inured to pioneer life, first in “the States” and then in
Canada, drew no artificial distinctions. Jack was as good as his master,—
if Jack could fell a tree as well, if he had strength of arm and willingness
to work. It was a matter of course for the “hired man” to lose his heart
to the daughter of the house, brave in her deerskin petticoat and her broad-
brimmed sunbonnet, for she was a worker too. It was a matter of course
for the young couple, married by a Justice of the Peace, according to
law (but not according to social custom in England) to take up land of
their own, build their own ingle and found a family as good as the best.
Physical strength was a necessity to clear underbrush, chop hardwood and
pine, grub out stumps, reap the wheat with sickles and thresh it with a
flail. But physical strength alone was not sufficient. The pioneers had
need of ipatience, contentment and a whole galaxy of spiritual virtues
which made them strong and notable in their generation. They may have
been lacking in the knowledge that comes from books, but in the solitudes
they learned to think as well as to strive. So also the women toiled and
endured, washing, cooking, spinning, weaving, patching, quilting, making
soap, making clothes, and serving the needs of a whole succession of babies.
We who regard with affection the noble landscapes of this Ontario, the
rolling fields, the clumps of bush, the gentle streams, the orchards em-
bowered in bloom, think too seldom of the broad-shouldered men and the
broad-hipped women ,who commanded the wilderness to blossom, who
reaped a forest and made a garden in its place.

They were simple folk, “mostly dissenters,” as Bishop Mountain testi-
fied. Came the saddle-bag preachers, mainly Methodists, with the simple
gospel of right living, shorn of the trimmings of ritual which a more
cultivated society desires. Came the lonely school teacher, perhaps with
a volume of The Spectator and Rasselas as a complete library. Came the
wandering Indians always friendly, with instructions for the making of
maple sugar, or for the gathering of healing herbs. Came the pedlar
with a pack full of baubles and a head full of gossip. Save for these came
none. Each settlement was self contained in work and play. And yet each
settlement had a lively loyalty to the King and a keen interest in the King’s
business. There were some republicans, some agitators, but the majority
of the people were of a Tory strain and had memories of bitter experiences
among the devotees of The New Freedom.

Many of the settlers had no money on their arrival, and were dependent
at first ﬁpon Government relief, for axes, for other tools, for seed and even
for bread. In 1794 Niagara and York bought from Kingston dealers
1,624 bushels of wheat, 356 barrels of flour and 2,500 pounds of gammon
(or bacon). The wheat was 3 shillings a bushel, the flour 24 shillings
a barrel and the bacon 8 pence a pound.

The first production of a settler was ashes for the making of potash.
The trees, now so valuable, were enemies in those days, to be attacked
without quarter. While the first clearing was made with the axe, fire was
used afterwards. The dried underbrush was set alight and the hardwood
was thus charred and killed. The dead trees were brought down by the
axe or the winds of winter and then followed the logging bee. All the
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neighbors assembled with chains and oxen and made enormous piles of
the dry logs. These were fired and the ashes saved for sale. There was
a social side to these logging bees, with whiskey only 2 shillings a gal-
lon, and with a dance beginning at nightfall. The official fiddler in each
settlement had a busy time and did not escape rebuke. The downright
theology of the Methodist “saddle-bag preachers” impelled them to regard
the fiddler with disapproval. Dr Carroll in “Case and his Co-temporaries”
says that Nathan Bangs had a set contest with a fiddler of the neighborhood
of York, who announced that so long as the Methodist continued his “re-
vival meetings” he would fiddle free at all dances. Finally one Sunday
morning Bangs was preaching from Galatians V., verses 19 to 21. When
he came to the word “revellings” he applied it.to the frolics of the fiddler
and his friends. “I do not know that the devil’s musician is here today. I do
not see him anywhere,” said Bangs. “Here I am,” cried the offender in
a roar of laughter, The rebuke that followed was so direct and so stern,
if not savage, that the early disciple of Art was fully cowed, and gave
no further trouble. ]

This imperious Puritanism was sometimes buttered by a pretty wit.
“Scolding Dunham,” as one of these itinerants was called, had a fancy
for a good horse and rode a veritable charger. For this he was rallied by
a newly-appointed magistrate who was not too popular among the settlers.
“You are unlike your humble Master,” said the Magistrate. “He was con-
tent to ride upon an ass.” Dunham replied in his usual measured and heavy
tone, and with imperturbable gravity: “I agree with you perfectly, and
I would assuredly imitate my Master in that particular but for the diffi-
culty of finding the animal required, the Government having made up all
the asses into magistrates.”

Colonel John Clark’s recollections of this period are published in the Re-
ports of the Ontario Historical Society. He was the brother of the Clerk of
the Legislative Council appointed in 1792 and killed at Kingston three years
later in a duel with Captain Sutherland of the 24th Regiment. The fol-
lowing sentences in the Colonel’s narrative show the social enjoyments of
the settlers in a prettier light:

“When the settlers used to assemble at each other’s houses to enjoy
their social evenings, the greatest hospitality and good humor prevailed.
A circle was formed of the young men, and the girls were furnished with
knee-cushions which they laid down before the young men they wished
for partners at the dance, thus betokening their choice. If agreeable to
both parties they would clasp their arms around each other’s necks and
give a kiss. It was then considered a match.”

Ague and intermittent fever were persistent ills in all sections of Upper
Canada. Thus rose the superstition concerning the deadliness of “night
air” and the unwholesomeness of undrained land. Mr. Justice Riddell
has pointed out, very acutely, that the mosquitoes were legion, as scores
of travellers testified. Our great-grandfathers did not know the worst
of these pestiferous insects. They never dreamed that “feveranagur” and
all malarial infection were obligingly brought by the mosquitoes and by
them alone. The draining of the swamps and low places merely destroyed
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their breeding-grounds—save for the rainwater “bar’l” at the corner of
each house,.

Yet despite the hardships, ills and toils of

tions. Land for the asking was a novelty in those times, particularly to
people of British birth. The spice of adventure added to the pleasures of
independence. They worked like slaves but they were working for them-
selves instead of for a landlord. Many of them came to positions of
importance in their communities and in the country. Many more saw their
sons and daughters prosperous and their grandsons rich. The virgin soil
of this Province repaid cultivation.

Long before Simcoe had reached Upper Canada he was making recom-
mendations to the British authorities concerning provision for education
in the new Province. On April 28th, 1792, he wrote to Dundas to the effect
that while primary education might be secured, by the sale of school
lands, facilities for higher instruction could be provided only by the liberality
of the British Government. Owing to the cheapness of education in the
United States, the gentlemen of Upper Canada would be likelyv to send
their sons across the border, which would tend to pervert their British
principles. He proposed that two school-teachers at £100 per annum each
should be sent to Kingston and Niagara, and that a university with a Head
and professors, should be established in the capital. All members of the
staff, “the medical professor, perhaps, excepted,” should be clergymen of
the Church of England.

On November 4th, 1797, the Duke of Portland wrote to Hon. Peter
Russell declaring that the King was anxious to promote education in Upper
Canada, first by the establishment of free Grammar Schools wherever they
were needed and called for, and secondly by the establishment in course
of time of seminaries of a larger and more comprehensive nature “for
the promotion of religious and moral learning, and the study of the arts
and sciences.”

Russell reported on February 12, 1799, that a house at Newark, built by
D. W. Smith, had been offered for sale to the Government to serve as a
free Grammar School for the Home District. In due time the authorities
in England intimated that the purchase might be advisable and sug-
gested that the money be taken from the “school and college fund.” It
was thought desirable also by the British Government that the school
should be administered by a Board of seven trustees. Four of these should
be the Lieutenant-Governor, the Lord Bishop of Quebec, the Chief Justice
of the Province, and the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly.

By the time this letter, dated March 18th, 1800, had reached York,
General Hunter, the newly-appointed Lieutenant-Governor, had arrived in
Canada and had taken over the administration. He wrote to the Duke of
Portland on September 1st, 1800, declaring that there were two objections to
the purchase of the Smith house for a Grammar School; first, that it would
be under the guns of the American Fort at Niagara, and secondly that
there was no money in the “schools and college fund.” Lands had b.een
set aside for this purpose but the price was so low that sales at t‘his time
would not be advisable. In view of these circumstances the project was

pioneer life it had its attrac-



88 THE MUNICIPALITY OF TORONTO

abandoned. Almost a year later, on August 1, 1801, Smith wrote to Governor
Hunter expressing his disappointment that the house had not been bought
as a school, and intimating that he might reduce the price quoted. Ul-
timately the Government acquired the building at a cost of about £2,250 for
officers’ quarters, but education was no further advanced.

As a sidelight on the low sale-price of land the case of Mrs. White
may be cited. Her husband was the Attorney-General killed in the duel
with John Small, Clerk of the Executive Council. For two years Mrs.
White sought a grant of land in recognition of her husband’s services to
the Province. The petition finally was granted. A year later she applied
for an allowance of money instead, “since the land could neither be let
nor sold.”

One cause for the difficulty of realizing on land reserved for educational
purposes was found in the “homestead regulations” as they would be called
to-day. Any reputable person willing to become a settler was welcomed
and given 200 acres. (If he were a United Empire Loyalist even the fees
were remitted.) There were times when the sale-price of a farm was not
much greater than the amount of the regular fees of survey and transfer.
Conditions varied in different parts of the Province, of course, but around
York there seemed to be a perpetual “slump” in land-values. When the
Danforth Road was projected in 1799, by Asa Danforth, an American con-
tractor, the Government raised the money by the sale of two townships
in the Long Point settlement, Dereham and Norwich. The Mississauga
Indians offered to sell 69,120 acres of their reserve for the DePuisaye colony
of French emigrés at 1s. 3d. per acre, Halifax currency, about 25c. of our
money. The Government declined to purchase, “at such a high price!”

It was not surprising, therefore, that education languished, particularly
as the majority of the colonists were not greatly interested, and as those
who had a turn for higher learning were too poor to make adequate con-
tributions. By 1880 the only secondary school in the Province was found
at Kingston. It had been begun at Simcoe’s encouragement by Rev. George
Okill Stuart, the son of Rev. Dr. Stuart, and had some reputation.

In 1799 a young Scot arrived in Kingston to become the tutor of Richard
Cartwright’s children. His name was John Strachan, a man of some im-
portance in the history of Upper Canada. Teaching was his profession
and it is doubtful if at first he had ever considered taking Holy Orders.
Perhaps the widespread need for religious teaching impelled him, after two
or three years of residence in the Province, to revise his plans.

On March 31st, 1801, he wrote to a friend in Glasgow: “Our provincial
politics are hardly worth notice. The little Parliament, however, do not
seem unanimous. The servants of the Crown have used their opponents
too imperiously, stigmatizing them with an opprobrious name. Nor do they
agree among themselves. At Kingston we are free from these little cabals.”

To the same friend he wrote in 1802: “There is a probability of a church
becoming vacant by the time my engagement expires, with about £200
currency, or £180 sterling. If that happens I shall accept of it. If not,
I shall first go to the Lower Province to learn to speak French. From
Lower Canada I shall go to the States, where if I do not think I can easily
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succeed, it is probable that I shall re-cross the Atlantic
in Britain.”

.The church became vacant, Mr. Strachan was appointed rector by
Lieutenant-Governor Hunter, and in 1803, October 27th, he wrote from
Cornwall: “I have taken orders. My parish lies between Montreal and
Kingston on the banks of the St. Lawrence, about 120 miles nearer you
than I was before, which we only think a stage in this country.. A great
part of my parish belongs to the Lutheran persuasion. A greater has no
religion at all. A number of the people are Catholics, and (there are) plenty
of Presbyterians, with a few Methodists, etc. You see I am in a pickle.”
Yet he was willing to teach as well as preach. Rev. Mr. Strachan’s school,
opened in Cornwall during 1803, became popular. Among his boys of York,
who rose in after time to positions of dignity and honor were John Beverley
Robinson, R. C. Anderson, George Ridout, J. C. Chewett, Samuel Peters
Jarvis, J. B. Macaulay, Thos. C. Ridout, Robert Stanton, . Macaulay,
G. H. Markland.

There was a primary school in York conducted by a Mr. Cooper as
early as 1798. The first opportunity for more advanced study was offered
by Dr. William Warren Baldwin, the son of Robert Baldwin, who had
emigrated from Cork in 1789 and settled in the Township of Clark. The
Doctor lived and practised in York, where he found his wife, Margaret
Phoebe, second daughter of William Willcocks.

On December 17th, 1802, the following advertisement appeared in The
Upper Canada Gazctte and American Oracle: “Dr. Baldwin, understanding
that some of the gentlemen of the town have expressed some anxiety for
the establishment of a classical school, begs leave to inform them and the
public generally that he intends on Monday, the 1st of January next, to
open a school in which to instruct twelve boys in writing, reading and
classics and Arithmetic. The terms are for each boy eight guineas per
annum, to be paid quarterly or half-yearly. One guinea entrance, and one
cord of wood to be supplied by each of the boys on the opening of the school.

N.B. Mr. Baldwin will meet his pupils at Mr. Willcocks’ house on Duke
Street.”

Since there is no known record of this private academy, it may be that
sufficient pupils did not make their appearance. A year after this notice
Dr. Baldwin was living in his own house at the corner of Front and Freder-
ick Streets, where his distinguished son, Hon. Robert Baldwin was born,
in 1804,

Though Dr. Baldwin made no particular name as an educator, he was
himself a learned man. He practised both medicine and law and was a
prominent figure in the community until his death, in 1844, at the “Baldwin
Mansion” on the corner of Front and Bay Streets.

and try my fortune

Not until June 1st, 1807, was there a permanent secondary school at
York. On that date the Home District School was opened by the Rev.
George Okill Stuart at the corner of King and George Streets. The first
pupils were John Ridout, William A. Hamilton, Thos. G. Hamilton, George
H. Dettor, George S. Boulton, Robert Stanton, William Stanton, Angus
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Macdonell, Alexander Hamilton, Wilson Hamilton, Robert Ross and Allan
MacNab.

On March 3rd, 1806, the Legislature passed an Act to procure certain
apparatus for the promotion of Science, by which £400 was appropriated for
the purchase of “a collection” of instruments suitable and proper for illus-
trating the principles of Natural Philosophy, Geography, Astronomy and
the Mathematics, to be used as the Governor should direct. His Excellency
was given the power to deposit the instruments under such conditions as
he should deem proper and expedient in the hands of some person employed
in the education of youth, in order that they might be as useful as the
state of the Province might permit.

In the next year, on March 10th, 1807, £800 per annum was granted for
the establishment of Public Schools at Sandwich, Townshend Township,
Niagara, York, Hamilton Township, Kingston, Augusta Township and
Cornwall. The grant was £100 for each teacher. The Act provided for the
appointment of Trustees by the Lieutenant-Governor, and each Board could
appoint its teacher, if the man selected were satisfactory to the Governor.
The Trustees were permitted to make rules and regulations for the govern-
ment of the school, the teacher and the pupils.

Just as the foundation of proper schools had been hampered by the
difficulty of selling land, the attempts of the Local and Home Governments
to provide an establishment for the Church of England seemed destined to
failure. Governor Simcoe’s efforts were seconded by Hon. Peter Russell
while in office as President of the administration. In 1797 he appealed to
the Duke of Portland for money to aid in the erection of churches at
Newark, York, Cornwall and the chief town in the Western District, namely,
Sandwich. “Mr. Raddish, a good clergyman, had been placed at York,”
and occasional services were held in the new Parliament Buildings. He
thought the fact that no churches existed in the Province, save the one
at Kingston, was disgraceful to the inhabitants, therefore he recommended
that £500 be appropriated for the building of a handsome church at York.

In October Portland replied that £500 was granted by Parliament in
1795 and a similar amount in 1796 towards building churches in Upper
Canada. On February 20th, 1798, Russell informed the Duke that “the
other day” the Bishop of Quebec had consented to the expenditure of £500
towards building a church at York. There was no indication so far of
co-operation among the residents.

At the time of the opening of the first Legislature a sermon was de-
livered by Rev. Robert Addison, one of the three Anglican clergymen in the
Province. The others were Rev. John Stuart, a Loyalist from Pennsylvania
and Rev. John Langhorn who had been sent out by the Society for the
Propagation of the Gospel. Rev. John Bethune, of Glengarry, was the first
Presbyterian Minister and he soon was at variance with the Governor.
Bishop Mountain of Quebec had visited the Province in 1794 and had re-
ported the presence of a few “itinerant and mendicant Methodists” who
were a danger to public order.

Rev. Mr. Raddish retained his appointment as Anglican minister of York
until March 9th, 1799, when he wrote to President Russell as follows from
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London: “From the favorable accounts of York and its increasing popula-
tion, the residence of a clergyman must now be highly necessary. I think
it therefore my duty to inform you that I will not trespass longer on
vour goodness, but am ready to resign in favor of any person you may
be pleased to nominate. I wish it were more lucrative, but the pittance is
too inconsiderable, and sorry I am to observe that the salary is very ir-
regularly paid.” Rev. George Okill Stuart was appointed by Lieutenant-
Governor Hunter as Anglican rector of York. The Governor reported the
fact to the Duke of Portland on September 4th, 1800, stating that Mr.
Raddish had taken a living in the Province of Lower Canada.

There is no doubt that some of the officials were inclined to despair
of the inhabitants generally because of their nonconformist tendencies.
Colonel Talbot in a letter under date of October 27th, 1802, wrote: “The
population consisting of refugees from all parts, principally from the United
States, may be thus classed: 1. Those enticed by a gratuitous offer of
land, without any predilection on their part to the British Constitution;
2. Those who have fled from the United States for crimes, or to escape
their creditors; 3. Republicans whose principal motive for settling in the
country is in anticipation of its shaking off its allegiance to Great Britain.
These three descriptions of persons, wth a few exceptons, comprise the
present population.”

Talbot was of a peppery disposition and probably was extreme in his
statements, yet he was not alone in the belief that loyalty to the Con-
stitution predicated loyalty to the Established Church, while Dissent indi-
cated a doubtful and even dangerous condition of mind. Probably the fact
that the Methodist missionaries, who were cordially received in many settle-
ments, were Americans and therefore “suspect” had some influence in form-
ing the official opinion.

In the latter part of 1802 some of the more prominent residents of York
began to contemplate the building of an Anglican Church on the plot of
six acres set aside in 1797 for that purpose, and bounded by Church Street,
Newgate (Adelaide) Street, New (Jarvis) Street and Duke (King) Street.
On Jan. 8th, 1803, a meeting of the subscribers was held when William
Allan and Duncan Cameron were appointed Treasurers. The Building
Committee consisted of the Treasurers, with Hon. Peter Russell, Hon.
Captain McGill, Rev. Mr. Stuart, the newly-appointed rector, Dr. Macaulay
and Mr. Chewett. It was announced that £800 was available, but the Com-
mittee was warned not to make commitments of more than £600 at first.
The final appropriation from British moneys in the hands of the Bishop
of Quebec was £300, so the subscription list had reached about £500, a sum
wholly creditable to the inhabitants. The Committee was instructed to
spend enough to permit divine worship to be conducted decently in the
church, and to consult Mr. Berczy “respecting the probable expenses which
will attend the undertaking.” DMNr. Berczy, despite his quarrel with the
administration of the Province, was an artist and a man of sound judgment.

The church when completed was 50 feet long and 40 feet wide, and
stood east and west. There were two rows of square-topped windows
on each side and the construction was of wood. A list of the first pew-
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holders included all the officials of government and the responsible people
of the community.

A market-place was established in York by Executive Proclamation on
November 3rd, 1803. The land set apart measured five-and-a-half acres and
was bounded by Church Street, New Street (now Jarvis), King Street and
Market Street. Here the stocks and the pillory were set up for the cor-
rection of offenders, and here occasionally some incorrigible was publicly
flogged. The criminal law of the period was vigorous and the punishments
merciless, even as they were in England.

The first jail, at the corner of Berkeley and Front Streets, was a small
log building enclosed by a stockade of cedar posts sharpened and set close
together. On December 1st, 1803, the Sheriff of the Home District com-
plained to the Executive Council that he was under the necessity of using his
private credit to maintain the prisoners. It was ordered that 5s. a day for
a jailer, and 1s. 3d. a day for the maintenance of each prisoner should be
appropriated from the public funds.

The Session of 1803 lasted from January 27th to April 15th and produced
a violent quarrel between the Legislative Assembly and the Legislative
Council. The Assembly had appointed a Committee to report a revised
table of fees taken in the various Courts of Judicature, and this Committee
summoned the Clerk of the Crown, the Clerk of the Peace, the Clerk of
the District Court, the Clerk of the Court of Requests and \William Weekes,
a barrister, to attend and give evidence concerning the fees they received.
All attended but David Burns, Clerk of the Crown, who declined under
advice.

Alexander Macdonell, Chairman of the Committee, moved in the House
that the Sergeant-at-Arms have the body of David Burns at the Bar of
the House to answer for his contempt of the rights and privileges of the
Assembly. On February 7th, the Speaker issued his warrant and the
Sergeant-at-Arms took Mr. Burns into custody, releasing him on parole
that he would attend at the Bar on the following day.

Mr. Burns did not appear, whereupon the Sergeant-at-Arms was directed
to go to the Legislative Council and fetch him. He went, but came back
with a report instead of with the body. That report here follows:

“In obedience to the order I received from Your Honor yesterday, to
take into my custody David Burns, Esquire, Clerk of the Crown and of the
Pleas, I attended the house of Mr. Burns this morning at ten o’clock and
delivered to him a copy of the order I received, upon which Mr. Burns
gave me his word that he would surrender himself to me at twelve o’clock
this day. At half past one o’clock p.m. by your Order, Mr. Speaker, I
was sent to bring to the Bar of the Commons House Mr. Burns; but upon
the application at the door of the Honorable the Legislative Council—
where Mr. Burns sits as a Master in Chancery—I was informed the House
was then sitting, but would soon break up. I accordingly withdrew mvself
and waited without the doors until the House should adjourn. After wait-
ing about a quarter of an hour, the Usher of the Black Rod came to me,
saying that the Chief Justice, the Honorable the Speaker of that House,
had sent for me directing me to come in. Upon my appearance at the Bar
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of that House, the Honorable the Speaker asked me what was my business;
I answered that Mr. Burns being in my custody by virtue of a writ from
the Speaker of the Commons House of Assembly, I attended to conduct
him to the Bar of that House. The Honorable the Speaker of the Legis-
lative Council them asked me if I had the audaciousness, the effrontery
to come there. I replied that I only obeyed the orders that I received. He
then said I would do well to consider in what manner I conducted myself.
I then withdrew.”

The Legislative Council made a formal complaint to the Assembly of
the insult offered the Upper House by the visit of the Sergeant-at-Arms,
and the Assembly suspended him pro tempore naming Mr. Charles Willcocks
in his place. Meanwhile the Committee on Privileges of the Lower House
met and determined that the House of Assembly was a Superior Court of
Record and that everyv disobedience of its orders was a case of high con-
tempt and misdemeanor punishable at its own discretion.

Despite the protest of the Legislative Council Mr. Burns appeared at
the Commons Bar and declared that it was far from his intention to do
anything that should wear the slightest appearance of insult, but a servant
of the Crown declined answering any questions except through the medium
of the person who represented the Sovereign. When asked if he would
express contrition for his offence, Mr. Burns said that he would not.

On February 12th, a joint Committee of the two Houses recommended
that in future when either of the Houses of Parliament might have occasion
for the attendance of any Member or Officer of the other, application by
message should be made.

At the request of the Committee the Sergeant-at-Arms, Mr. Thomas
Ridout, was “rebuked with severity” by the Speaker of the Assembly and
ordered to resume his place.

During the session of 1804 Angus Macdonell submitted a petition to
bring in a Bill for restoring the former name of Toronto to the Town,
Township and County of York, “since it was more familiar and agreeable
to the inhabitants.” Nothing further was heard of the matter. The same
Mr. Macdonell moved on March 8th, 1804, that a humble address be voted
to the King’s Most Excellent Majesty humbly beseeching His Majesty to
accept the warmest assurances of the Assembly’s unalterable attachment
to His sacred person and Government, expressing regret that “our remote
situation excludes us from participating with our fellow-subjects of the
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland in the glorious contest which
at present engages His Majesty’s Arms, and stating our hopes that His
Majesty will aid our feeble efforts towards the construction of such Public
Buildings as the administration of public justice and the preservation of
Public Records require.” “Which was ordered accordingly,” says the
Journal of the House.

General Hunter forwarded on April 10th, 1804, an Address to the King
from the Legislature praying for aid towards the erection of proper build-
ings in York for the preservation of the Public Records, for the accommoda-
tion of the Legislative Council and Assembly, for the Courts of Justice
and the transaction of other public business. While an Act, to be submitted,
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charged £400 a vear on the Provincial Revenue for the erection of such
buildings the sum was totally inadequate. The Address continued: “There
is not a single building for any one public office. The different offices are
in the private houses of the officers filling the different situations, and the
Executive Council meets in a small room in the Clerk’s house, where their
discussions mayv be overheard. The houses are all built of wood, and afford
slender security for the records. The public pays £350 annually for rent.
The building appropriated for the meeting of the two houses of the Legis-
lature, for the Court of Appeal, Court of King’s Bench, District Court
and Quarter Sessions consists of two rooms, erected eight or more years
ago as part of one intended for a Government House. The building is
also used for a church.” It was estimated that the cost of the necessary
buildings would be £15,120.

General Hunter, like most military men, was a good administrator and
not averse from speaking out when displeased. On one occasion a group
of Quakers from up Yonge Street complained to him that they could not
get the patents for their lands. The Governor summoned Secretary Jarvis
to give an explanation. He gave the usual one, of press of business, where-
upon General Hunter said: “If these men do not get their patents today,
by George, T'll un-Jarvis you.” They got them, and the Secretary con-
tinued “Jarvis-ing” for some years.

Elections for the Fourth Parliament were held on July 2nd, 1804, when
the following members were chosen: GLENGARRY and PRESCOTT,
Alexander Macdonell and W. B. Wilkinson; STORMONT and RUSSELL,
Robert I. D. Gray; DUNDAS, John Chrysler; GRENVILLE, Samuel Sher-
wood; LEEDS, Peter Howard; FRONTENAC, Allan McLean; LENNOX
and ADDINGTON, Thomas Dorland; HASTINGS and NORTHUMBER-
LAND, David McG. Rogers; PRINCE EDWARD, Ebenezer Washburn;
DURHAM, SIMCOE and YORK, (East Riding) Angus Macdonell; WEST
YORK, 1st LINCOLN and HALDIMAND, Solomon Hill and Robert Nelles;
2nd, 3rd, and 4th LLINCOLN, Isaac Swayzie and Ralfe Clench; NORFOLK,
OXFORD and MIDDLESEX, Benajah Mallory; KENT, John McGregor;
ESSEX, Matthew Elliot and David Cowan. Alexander Macdonell was
elected Speaker of the Assembly and Hon. Richard Cartwright, of the
Legislative Council.

Benajah Mallory’s election was contested by petition of Samuel Ryerse,
the defeated candidate, presented to the Assembly on February 21st, 1806,
A quotation from this petition may serve to keep the Methodists of Ontario
humble, in this the day of their prosperity and influence: “Your Petitioner
therefore comes forward to state to Your Honorable Body that the said
Benajah Mallory has been illegally and unduly returned, being by the 3lst
of His present Majesty, rendered ineligible to a seat in the Parliament,
having both before and since the election been a preacher and teacher of
the Religious Society or Sect called Methodists, all of which Your Petition-
er is ready to verify and is ready to give any security Your Honorable
House may deem necessary.” The hearing was traversed to the next
Session, when two material witnesses failed to appear. In consequence
the petition was dismissed by a vote of 6 to 4.
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) Writing to Sir Henry Clinton on October 26th, 1804, Mr. Russell said:

We have lately suffered a most serious misfortune to the Province in the
loss of one of the King’s vessels, which sailed from hence on the evening
of the 7th instant, with Mr. Justice Cochrane, the Solicitor-General, a
member of the Lower House of Assembly, a magistrate of this district, a
merchant of the town, and four other responsible persons, with their clerks
and servants, for the town of Newecastle, about 100 miles down the lake,
in order to try an Indian (who likewise was on board) who had murdered
a white man in that district. And as she did not arrive at her port and
nothing has been heard of her since, it is concluded that she must have
foundered in a violent storm which happened on the 9th following, and
that every person on board perished.”

The vessel was the Speedy, Captain Thos. Paxton. Those on board
besides Mr. Justice Cochrane were Angus Macdonell, Sheriff and Member
of the Assembly for York; Mr. Robert I. D. Gray, Solicitor General, Mr.
Fishe, the High Bailiff, two interpreters, Cowan and Ruggles, Mr. Herch-
mer, a merchant of York, and the prisoner, named Ogetonicut. The Indian’s
brother some time before had been killed by some unknown white man.
Following the old-time natural law of blood-vengeance, Ogetonicut killed
John Sharp, of Ball Point, on Lake Scugog, and took refuge with his
tribe. The whole tribe paddled to York and the Chief handed over the
offender for trial.

Since the offence had taken place in the Midland District, the trial had to
be held at Newcastle, and the Lieutenant-Governor insisted that there must
be no delay. All those directly concerned in the case, save Mr. \Weekes, the
barrister, sailed on the “Speedy,” and were necver again heard of. Judge
Cochrane was only 29 vears of age and had proved himself thoroughly
active and efficient in the performance of his duties. Mr. Gray was one
of the really distinguished men of the Colony.

At the byc-election occasioned by the death of Mr. Macdonell, Mr.
Weekes was returned for York, but did not serve long. On October 10th,
1806, he was killed at Niagara in a duel with a Mr. Dickson. His successor
was Mr. Justice Thorpe, a pushing, energetic lawyer recently come to the
Province, and soon named to fill Judge Cochrane’s place on the Bench.
Meanwhile the Lieutenant-Governor, General Peter Hunter, died in Quebec
on August 21st, 1805, and Hon. Alexander Grant was appointed on Sep-
tember 11th, 1805, as Administrator. The Council which named Grant was
called at the motion of Hon. Peter Russell. Mr. Russell wrote to the
Minister reporting the choice and reminding him that he himself had
filled the position for four years, but he was prepared to forward the
King’s service to the utmost of his ability, though naturally feeling the
mortification at being called to act in a situation so subordinate to that
he formerly had exercised.

Technically Grant was the Senior Councillor, since Russell had aband-
oned his seni(;rity to serve as Administrator. Actually, if age and experience
were to be considered, the position was Russell’'s by right. Thorpe, in a
letter to Mr. Cooke dated October 11th, 1805, said: “In the province there
is no Governor, no General, no Bishop, no Chief Justice. The Council have
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made a President, but owing to a cabal have appointed a man who does
not appear to be the oldest member and is inefficient.”

Judge Thorpe’s election to the Assembly was protested by William
Allan, the unsuccessful candidate, on account of the manifest impropriety
of blending in one person the conflicting powers, authority, and jurisdiction
of the Legislative and Judicial functions, but the petition failed, despite
the Allcock precedent. During the session of 1807 some surly and ill
judged public references by Judge Thorpe to the Government drew upon
him the arrows of criticism.

A letter from Downing Street dated April 4th, 1806, announced the
appointment of Francis Gore as Lieutenant-Governor, and declared that
he had been desired to proceed from the Burmudas with all convenient
despatch. He reached York and took over the administration on August
25th.

The first official census held in 1805 showed that in the Town of York
there were 119 men, 82 women, 29 children over 16 years of age, 189 under
16, and 55 servants, a total of 474. In Scarborough there were 22 men, 12
women, and 63 children—102; in York Township, 111 men, 82 women, 277
children and 24 servants—494; in Etobicoke, 18 men, 17 women, 44
children and 5 servants—84. In the Toronto region the rural and urban
population was only 1,154, of which 607 were minors.

So far as the Town of York is concerned this interesting list is given in
full. It was first printed by Mr. John Ross Robertson in the “Landmarks
of Toronto,” and there are some obvious errors, due either to the writer
of the manuscript copy or to the proofreader. For instance, “Tonsaint”
should surely be “Toussaint.” “Gefferries” looks like a mistake, and
“Badcherow” may be “Badgerow,” a well-known surname in Toronto.
Nevertheless the list is here printed as it appears in the “Landmarks.”

Male Female

Heads of No. of | No. of Children Children Serv- Total
Families men women Of'ﬁer Under Over | Under ants
1 16 ‘ 16

William Allan, Esq...........
John Alsworth..................
John Aise.....cccoovveeivieennns
David Burns, Esq.............
John Beikie, Esq..............
Alex. Burns, Esqe..............
Wm. Warren Baldwin......
John Bennett....................
John Basil........ccc.....oe .
Tousaint Bellow................
Joseph Berton..................
William Bailey..................
Lewis Bright......................
Dien Badcherow................
John Batties Stitte............
William Chewett, Esq.....
William Cooper................
Hugh Carfrae...................
Arch. Cameron..................
John Cameron...................
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Heads of ‘ No. of No. of Chlvill?ill‘in gkﬁﬂﬂ;
Families men women | Over | Under | Over | Under Sa%rt‘;- Total
16 16 16 16
D. Cameron, Esq............. 1 1 - 1 - - 1 4
John Clark.......c......ooo. 1 1 - 1 _ _ B 3
George Cutter............... | 1 - - - _ B _ 1
Philip Clinger................... 1 1 - ) _ _ _ 1
Jacob Clayton...............s 1 - - - _ _ B 1
Luke Caryl...........oci 1 - _ _ _ 3 _ 1
John Conn......ccoocevvvnnj 1 - - - _ _ _ 1
Isaac Columbus............... 1 1 - 2 _ o _ 6
Joseph B. Cox......c.oooe 1 - - _ _ _ _ 1
James Crawford................ 1 1 1 1 _ 1 3 5
Collin Drummond..........| 1 - - - - _ _ 1
John Debtter............ccooeee. 1 - - - _ _ _ 1
John De Savern..............] 1 1 - 1 - _ _ 3
Wm. Demont..................| 1 - - - - ~ a 1
John Edgell...........cc. oo 1 1 - 2 _ 1 _ 5
Francis Freder................. 1 - - - - - - 1
Nanecy Forbes.........c.col] - 1 - 1 - _ 1 3
Thadyus Gilbert................ 1 1 1 1 - 3 _ 7
John Gefferries..............i 1 1 - - - - _ 9
Joseph Hunt.........oof 1 1 - 1 2 1 _ 6
Wm. Hunter........cooeeeeeen| 1 1 - - 2 2 _ 6
John Hunter................l 1 - - - - _ _ 1
Eliphatel Hale................ 1 1 1 1 - 3 1 8
Henry Hale.........ccooe 1 1 - 1 _ _ _ 3
Robert Henderson............. 1 1 - - - _ 2 4
Thomas Hamilton............ 1 1 - 4 _ 1 _ 7
Caleb Humphreys............ 1 1 - _ - _ _ 9
Mrs. Herchmer.................. - 1 - - - 2 3
Stephen Heward............... 1 - - _ - _ 1 2
Hugh Heward............cc.... 1 - - - - - B 1
Thomas Hind.................} 1 1 - | 2 - 3 2 9
Wm. Halloway......ccceoeeen] 1 1 - 1 - 1 _ 4
John Howell.......cccccecoeen} 1 1 - - - — _ 2
Wm. Jarvis....ocoovien] 1 1 - 2 2 2 3 11
Samuel Jackson............f 1 - 1 1 - - _ 3
Joseph Kendrick.............. 1 1 - 2 - 3 1 8
Hiram Kendrick...........| 1 1 - - - _ - 9
Peter Kuhn...cooccciien 1 1 - - _ _ _ 9
N. Klingenbrunner........... 1 1 - 4 - _ - 6
Daniel Laughlin............... 1 - - - - _ _ 1
Alexander Legg.....ccccooonn. 1 - - - _ _ _ 1
John Lyons........ccomvne| 1 1 - - - - - 2
Hon. John McGill............ 1 1 - - - 1 3 6
Geo. Crookshank.............. 1 1 - - - - 1 3
Allan MceNab.oond 1 1 - 1 - 3 1 7
Alex McDonnell............... 1 1 1 - - - 2 5
Dr. Jas. Macaulay..........| 1 1 - 3 - 2 - 7
Hugh Mclean.........c.c..... 1 1 - - - - _ 2
Paul Merrian.................... 1 1 - 2 - 1 3 8
James McBride............| 1 1 - 3 - 2 - 7
Christian Mires................ 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 4
John McDonell.............. 1 - - - - _ - 1
John McBeth..............| 1 - - - - - 1 2
Thomas Mosley....cccc...oeo. 1 1 - 1 - - - 3
Donald McLean.............| 1 1 - 2 1 | 2 _ 7
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C oo |
ren en
Ilg:r:?lsiegf Nn(:éx;) ! vl:I:l;‘inl Over l IeJnder Over Under S:xigs. Total
16 16 16 6
Andrew Mercer.................. 1 - - - - - - 1
John Meclntosh................. 1 1 - 4 - 4 - 10
William Nott...................... 1 1 - 1 - 3 - 6
William Night ................. 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 4
Gideon Orton................... 1 - - - - - - 1
Russell Olmstead. .............. 1 - - - - - - 1
Samuel Olmstead............... 1 - - -~ - - - 1
Samuel Osburn.................. 1 1 - 2 1 2 - 7
Hon. W.D.Powell........... 1 2 1 1 2 2 2 11
George Purvis.............| 1 1 ~ 2 - 1 5
Jordan Post....................... 1 - - 1 1 - - 2
Ezekial Post................ 1 1 - - - 1 - 3
John Pinkerton................. 1 1 - - - - - 2
Francis Pollard................ 1 1 - 1 - - - 3
Hon. Peter Russell............ 1 1 - - 1 - 5 8
Themas Ridout, Esq........ 1 1 - 4 - 4 1 11
Samuel Ridout................. 1 - - - - - - 1
John Ross.. ..o, 1 1 - 4 - 1 - 7
Peter Robinson.................. 1 - - - - - - 1
Wm. Robinson................ 1 1 1 - - - - 3
James Robinson............... 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 4
John Rablin...................... 1 1 - 3 - 3 - 8
Att’y Gen. T. Scott.......... 1 - - - - - 1 2
Rev. G. O’Kill Stuart...... 1 1 - - - 2 4
Mrs. Small.................. - 1 1 3 1 - - 6
Wm. Smith................... 1 1 - 1 2 1 - 6
Wm. Smith Jr.............. 1 - - - - - - 1
Quetton St. George.......... 1 ~ - - - - 2 3
Thos. Stoyells................. 1 1 - - - 1 3
Mrs. Fly. ... - 1 - 4 - 1 - 6
Daniel Tiers..................... 1 1 - 1 - - - 3
John Thorn.................... 1 ~ - - - - - 1
Joseph Thornton............ .. 1 - - - - - - 1
John Vanzantee......... . .. 1 - - 1 - - - 2
Garret Vanzantee....... ... . 1 1 - 1 - 2 - 5
Wm. Wilcocks, Esq.......... 1 1 - - 1 - 1 4
Charles Wileocks...... ....... 1 - - - - - - 1
Sheriff J. Wilcocks............ 1 - - - - - 1 2
Wm. Weekes, Esq............. 1 - - - - - 1 2
Alex. Wood, Esq............... 1 - - - - - 1 2
Edward Wright............... 1 1 - 4 - 3 - 9
Patrick Ward....... ... .. 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 4
William Waters...... . .. 1 - - - - - - 1
James Wilson.......... .. .. .. 1 - - - - - - 1
Mrs. Williams................ - 1 - 1 - - - 2
Elizabeth Lewis. ... .. - 1 - 1 - - - 2
Catharine Davis... . .. - 1 - - - - - 1
Francis Belcour......... ... 1 1 - 1 - - ~ 4
Isaac Mitchell.... ... .. 1 1 - - - - 2 4
George Fox......... ... 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 4
Thomas R. Johnson..... ... 1 1 - 3 - 2 - 7
‘119 82 8 108 21 81 55 474
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A few of the more prominent families of York County are here given also:

Male Female
Heads of No. of No. of Children Children Serv- Total
Families men women Over Under Over Under ants
16 16 16 16

Parshall Terry................ 1 1 1 2 6 1 12
Col. Aneas Shaw ........... 1 1 4 3 1 3 2 15
John Denison................ .. 1 1 - 1 - 1 2 6
Mrs. Givens.......... ......... - 2 - 3 - 2 3 10
Jesse Ketchum, jun ... 1 1 - 1 - 2 3 8
John McGill, Esq..... ... 1 1 - - - - 2 4
George Playter....... ... .. 1 1 1 - 1 - - 4
John Playter...... ... . .. 1 1 - 2 - 2 - 6
ElyPlayter................... 1 - - - - - - 1
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CHAPTER 1V.
THE WAR OF 1812-14

NY system of Government, honestlv conceived and faithfully admin-
istered, will be good, for a time. Whether it be democratic or auto-
cratic in spirit makes no difference. If the svstem 1is plastic and can

be n.rloulded to serve the progressive requirements of the people it may
continue good. Unfortunately, administrators are governed unduly by pre-
cedent, and soon become mere creatures of use-and-wont. Only a man of
uncommon distinction can perceive the temper of the times, read the popular
mind, and administer public affairs in the light of that knowledge, as well
as according to law. Some men never can “drive easily over the stones.”

The first Lieutenant-Governors of Upper Canada were faithful servants
of the King and honest Englishmen. They were resolute and careful.
Perhaps also some of them were dull. Certainly they did not understand
that the coming of many thousands of settlers made a difference. They
followed to the letter the instructions of British Ministers whose know-
ledge of local conditions could not have been other than hazy. It is worth
remembering that in 1812 the Admiralty provided apparatus for condensing
salt water, to be installed on the frigates built at Kingston to sail on the
lakes. If the shipbuilders had insisted upon putting them in, they would
have shown a spirit comparable to that of more than one Governor of Upper
Canada.

The officials under Government and the members of the Legislative
Council belonged to one class—the retired officers of property, whose
training had been military rather than civil, and whose soldier's brusquérie
did not soften with the vears. They were anti-American to a man. Most of
them bhad suffered heavy losses in the Revolution and some had memories
of mob-law and even murder in which the Sons of Liberty were not blame-
less. They had a suspicion that many of the immigrants who had come
from the United States to secure free land were tinged with republicanism.
Consequently, they were quick to resent any criticism of their administra-
tion. Nevertheless, there was occasion for criticism, and soon was found
in the popular Assembly a group of men who presented grievances and
stood in constant opposition to the Governor’s party. If sometimes these
critics were heady and unreasonable, they believed that there was room
for reforms, and had courage to say so. Governor Gore, in his private
correspondence, referred to them as “rascals” and “creatures,” “dema-
gogues” and “rebels.” More than once strong measures were taken. Mr.
Justice Thorpe and Surveyor-General Wyatt, were removed from office
by the British Government on request of Governor Gore. Later both sued
the Governor in the English courts and secured damages for wrongiful
dismissal. Sheriff Joseph Willcocks was sent to jail in a high-handed

manner.

In 1809 there appeared in England a pamphlet by John Mills Jackson,
entitled “A View of the Political Situation of the Province of Upper Can-
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ada in North America, in which her physical capacity is stated, the means of
diminishing her burden, increasing her value, and securing her connection
to Great Britain, are fullv considered. With notes and appendix. London,
Printed for W. Earle, No. 43 Albemarle Street, 1809.” When this brochure
arrived in York it caused a political tempest. Mr. C. Wilson moved in the
Assembly, seconded by Mr. MacNab, that the pamphlet contained “a false,
scandalous and seditious libel, comprising expressions of the most un-
exampled insolence and contumely toward His Majesty’s Government in
this Province.” It was ordered that the pamphlet be preserved in the Re-
cords of the House—possibly as a horrible example of the lengths to which
human depravity would go.

This pamphlet is found today in the Library of the Ontario Legislature,
and can be read without a shudder. The author says in his introduction:
“I shall now undertake to show that from the inefficient conduct of the
Colonial Government, the beneficent intentions of the King have been de-
feated, the wisdom of the British Parliament frustrated, the civil officers
and people oppressed, and even the salutary efforts of the Provincial As-
sembly overturned; the most loyal, attached and determined people are
becoming so aggrieved, enslaved and irritated, that they view with delight
the prospect of hostilities with America, in the hope of being freed from
that Government to which thev had once looked for security, liberty and
reform.”

John Mills Jackson was an Englishman who had visited the Province to
administer some of his property. He was a friend of Mr. Justice Thorpe
and possibly through him was enabled to collect the documents which he
printed in the appendix of his pamphlet, and which justified in large mea-
sure the vigor of his protest. He was wrong in generalizing from too little
data. It was unfair to picture the whole population as longing for an
American invasion, although beyond doubt some were in that state of
mind, or assumed to be.

Jackson charged that the officials had taken all the best land, and con-
tinued as follows: “These gentlemen, when glutted with land, became
anxious for fees, until theyv raised the expense of the deed of grant to nearly
$40 for 200 acres, and then apportioned them most unfairly. In laying out
townships the most favorable, fertile and salubrious places were reserved,
that future favorites might be enriched or convenient persons gratified,
whilst the remote, barren and unhealthy parts were selected for such as
were entitled to the bounty of the King, to grants free of every expense.
Thus compensation for the U. E. Loyalist and reward for the military
claimant was frittered away or retarded by a location of land he could not
cultivate, by suppression of papers, or by fictitious delays of office, until
he was harassed into the payment of these fees, or (if destitute of means)
driven to purchase from these great land monopolists, and compelled to
give bond for such sums as he was seldom able to pay except by the for-
feiture of the land with all the improvements. At length all claims were
silenced by a proclamation declaring that no one should obtain any grant
without fees who had not settled in the Province before 1798. By these
means the original intention has been defeated, the Royal promise broken,
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the faith of the Government disgraced, the settlement of the Colony re-
tarded and partiality, prejudice and avariciousness so apparent in the dis-
tribution of land that discontent and disgust were diffused throughout the
whole body of the people.”

Possibly Mr. Jackson did not know what the officials knew—that a plan
of peaceful penetration by American republicans was being followed,
although the first condition of the King’s bounty was that the settler
should be a proved Loyalist. There is no evidence to corroborate Jackson’s
belief that the Government was a nest of thieves, nor to support Governor
Gore’s opinion that all critics were rascals and rebels. The Administration
was too thin-skinned and too near to military arrogance. The Opposition
was too ready to impute improper motives.

That there was an element of stupidity in high places appeared in the
facts assembled by Jackson with respect to the cultivation of hemp. The
British Government had granted a bounty on hemp production for the Navy.
When the Canadian farmer produced it there was no Government store to
receive it, and no market. The small merchants objected to it as a basis of
barter and in many cases it was turned back to manure the soil. An
agricultural and commercial society organized by Mr. Justice Thorpe and
others to encourage the growing of hemp was called a Jacobin Club. The
conclusion of the pamphlet follows: “I call for investigation as a duty I
owe my King and Country.”

A fervent address of congratulation to King George IIl. on the com-
pletion of the fiftieth year of his reign was unanimously passed by the
Assembly at the Session of 1810. It read, in part, as follows: “Let it not
be considered ostentatious from the humble Commons of Upper Canada
to offer their prayers for the life endeared to the subjects of this Province
by the most Parental Affection: Your Majesty having offered your loyal
subjects of this Province an asylum in the hour of distress, when nothing
was left them but their loyalty to their King, their lives and their honor.
Permit us, Sire, to assure Your Majesty, that none of Your subjects are
animated with a more fervent zeal of lovalty and attachment to Your
Sacred Person and Government than Your Majesty’s subjects of Upper
Canada.”

There was no unanimity in the passing of an address of congratulation
to Governor Gore, the Opposition consisting of J. Willson, Howard, Will-
cocks and Rogers. The essence of this address was a repudiation of the
Jackson pamphlet “We should not intrude upon Your Excellency at this
time to express the general sentiment of the people of this Province, did
we not feel otirselves called upon and impelled by a sense of that duty
which we owe to our constituents, His Majesty’s loyal subjects of this
Province, to you, Sir, as administrating the Government thereof; and to
that August Sovereign whom we regard as the Father of his people, only
to express our abhorrence and indignation at a pamphlet now before us,
addressed to the King, Lords and Commons of the United Kingdom of
Great Britain and Ireland, containing in almost every page the most gross
and false aspersions on Your Excellency and His Majesty’s Executive
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Government, the House of Assembly, and the loyal inhabitants of this
Province, under the signature of John Mills Jackson, tending to misrepre-
sent a brave and loyal portion of His Majesty’s subjects.”

Yet Jackson had a well-documented case which deserved investigation.
To ignore his charges and denounce the author as a mere mischief-maker
was surely an unwise policy.

French sea-power was crushed by Lord Nelson at the battle of Tra-
falgar on October 2lst, 1805. On the day before that notable victory
Napoleon was at Ulm, accepting the surrender of 23,000 Austrian soldiers.
On December 2nd he won the Battle of Austerlitz against allied Austrian
and Russian troops. In October, 1806, Prussia declared war against France.
By the 25th November the battles of Jena and Auerstadt had been fought,
and Napoleon was in Berlin signing the Berlin Decrees—his answer to
the victory of Nelson.

These declared a “paper blockade” of the British Isles. No British ships
were to be allowed in French ports or in the ports of the allies of France.
Thus any ship afloat bound for England or outward bound to some remote
part of the world became fair prey for the French privateer or sea-raider.
Most of the countries of Europe had been forced into alliance with France.
The only considerable neutral was the United States, and its commerce
was continually harried.

Great Britain had answered the Berlin Decrees with a series of Orders-
in-Council forbidding all trade with Europe save through British ports.
Because the British Navy had mastery of the seas neutral traders had more
difficulty over the Orders-in-Council than over the Berlin Decrees. It was
not uncommon for an American barque to be seized by a French privateer
and re-seized by a British frigate, the cargo, of course, being “condemned”
at the first convenient British port. The result was to inflame American
opinion against Great Britain, particularly since one of the American
political parties of the period had been consistently pro-French and anti-
British since the outbreak of the French Revolution.

Further, the British Navy since Cromwell’s time, had claimed the right
to search merchant vessels of all nations for deserters from the service.
The application of that time-honored principle at this time was bitterly
resented by the Americans. Even when James Monroe and other Ameri-
can commissioners had secured the draft of a Treaty whereby Great
Britain offered to respect all American rights and to give adequate repara-
tion for every case of wrongful seizure of a vessel, President Jefferson
refused to accept it because the “right of search” was not abandoned.

Then occurred an “incident” which widened the chasm between the
two nations. A boat-load of deserters from the British sloop “Halifax” at
Hampton Roads, Va., took refuge on board the American frigate “Chesa-
peake.” A formal demand by the British naval officer in command for the
arrest of these men was made upon the municipal authorities, who declined
to interfere. On this refusal the British frigate “Leopard” followed the
“Chesapeake” to sea and called upon her to stop. The order being ignored
she fired a broadside into the “Chesapeake” and the American ship struck
her flag. Two of the deserters sought were killed, two more jumped over-
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board and were drowned, and four were seized and brought back to the
“Leopard” for trial.

As the right of search did not extend to foreign war vessels, Admiral
Berkeley, of Halifax, who had issued the orders, was superseded and the
British Government offered to pay damages, but Jefferson ordered all British
armed vessels to leave American ports and put an embargo on all export
trade.

It was believed that war was inevitable, particularly since many Ameri-
can newspapers and politicians were clamoring for the seizure of Canada.
The militia was called out by the Government at York during August,
1808, and the capital town provided two companies of armed men. The
war was delayed for four years, but not with the consent of Kentucky
and the States which formed the frontier of the wilderness.

Settlers who opened up the newer States seemed surprised that the
Indians resented the advance of civilization and traced that resentment
to the counsel of the English. Thus grew up a legend of a Den of Ogres
established at Quebec, with an advanced post at York, whose chief aim in
life was to urge the savages to slay, burn, and destroy the innocent and
peaceable Americans. Make sure that the politicians profited by keeping
that legend alive! The Federalist Party was in trouble, since it disliked and
distrusted Napoleon. The Democratic Party being resolutely anti-English,
was at the peak of its political fortunes. Congressmen who fanned the
prejudices of the people were certain of re-election. Mr. Grundy, of Ten-
nessee, explained to Josiah Quincy, the House leader of the Federalists,
the necessity of attacking him as vigorously as possible. He said: “Except
Tim Pickering there is not a man in the United States so perfectly hated by
the people of my district as yourself. By I must abuse you, or I shall
never get re-elected. 1 will do it, however, genteelly. I will not do it as
that d d fool Clay did it—strike so hard as to hurt myself—but
abuse you I must.”

The body of politicians “wanting to be re-elected” taught, and pretended
to believe, that the British were deep in a conspiracy of murder directed
against the frontiersmen and their families. They also taught and believed
that Canada could be seized at any moment, almost without the firing of a
shot. The same Henry Clay, despised by Mr. Grundy of Tennessee, said:
“It is absurd to suppose that we will not succeed in our enterprise against
the enemy’s Provinces. I am not for stopping at Quebec or anywhere else.
I would take the whole Continent from them, and ask them no favors.
I wish never to see peace till we do. God has given us the power and the
means. We are to blame if we do not use them.” Thomas Jefferson him-
self, the Patriarch of Anglophobes, said that the acquisition of Canada
would be “a mere matter of marching.”

It is hard to square this hard and reckless willingness to devastate the
country of a peaceable neighbor with the exalted sentiments of the Declar-
ation of Independence. Still the times were rough in all countries, and the
veneer of civilization was woefully thin. Thomas Wentworth Higginson,
in writing upon this period, said: “The tone of society in Washington had
undoubtedly some of the coarse style which then prevailed in all countries.
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Men drank more heavily, wrangled more loudly and there was a good deal
of what afterwards came to be known as ‘plantation manners.” The mutual
bearing of Congressmen was that of courtesy tempered by drunkenness
and duelling.” Upper Canada was not much different.

The Americans were right to complain about the impressment of sea-
men. Too frequently the search for deserters under the supervision of a
petty officer resulted in the capture of American citizens. It is said that
between 1797 and 1801 more than 2,000 applications for the release of Am-
erican sailors were made through the American Minister in London. Only
one-twentieth of the men seized were proved to be British subjects. In
many cases proof was lacking but the men were taken nevertheless, If
only one American citizen had been taken the Republic would have had
a right to protest and even, at extremity, to fight. The complaint against the
Orders-in-Council was less reasonable, especially considering the fact that
they were passed in reprisal after Napoleon’s Berlin Decrees. The passion
to conquer Canada was mere covetousness, and frontier barbarism, although
republican idealists thought that American methods of government were
infinitely better than British colonial methods. The vote in the American
House of Representatives on the question of declaring war was as follows:
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The die was cast on June 18th, 1812. The Prince Regent, when he
heard the news, gave out a statement which contained the following
pungent sentence: “From their professed principles of freedom and in-
dependence, the United States was the last power in which Great Britain
could have expected to find a willing instrument and abettor of French
tvranny.”

Brock as Administrator called the Legislature for July 27th to pass
such emergency measurcs as a state of war demanded. The final para-
graph of his speech was as follows: “We are engaged in an awful and
eventful contest. By unanimity and despatch in our councils and by vigor
in our operations we may teach the enemy this lesson; that a country de-
fended by free men, enthusiastically devoted to the cause of their King
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and constitution can never be conquered.” There was neither unanimity
nor despatch in the councils and in disgust the administrator dismissed

Parliament and prepared to -put the country, if necessary, under martial
law.

President Madison had no illusions concerning the effects of war. He
maintained a bold front against the Orders-in-Council and impressment
because that had been the policy of his predecessor and of his party, but
probably he believed that England would yield because of pre-occupations
in Europe. If so, he was disappointed. The respectable and learned lawyer
found himself forced to declare war in order to retain the confidence of his
party aild put the Federalists in a wrong light before the people of the
Republic. “The ablest men in his Cabinet,” says Mr. T. \V. Higginson,
“Pickering and Gallatin, were originally opposed to the war.” They knew
that the merchants of Salem and Boston had goods worth $20,000,000 either
on the sea or in British ports and that the property would certainly not be
yielded to the United States as a belligerent, or to the owners, nationals
of that belligerent.

When war was declared there was only one regiment of British Regulars
and seven companies of veterans in all Upper Canada, and no troops at all
in the district between Kingston and Montreal. For four years there had
been grave danger of trouble with the United States, vet in the two
Provinces only about 4,000 effectives were found. One cause, of course,
was the struggle in the Peninsula which was of primary importance, and
yet one wonders if the Government of Upper Canada which fancied itself
to be so uncommonly efficient, that any criticism was construed as a heinous
libel, had done its whole duty. Of course, the militia was called out, but
the strength “on paper” was considerably greater than the strength in
the field. There were 63 flank companies of really first-rate men, three
companies of artillery, and five troops of militia cavalry.

Lieutenant-Governor Gore went to England after the Session of 1811
and the administration was taken over by General Brock, Commander of
the forces in Canada since 1807. His speech at the opening of Parliament
in 1812 contained the following spirited sentences: “The glorious contest in
which the British Empire is engaged, and the vast sacrifice which Great
Britain nobly offers to secure the independence of the other nations, might
be expected to stifle every feeling of envy and jealousy and at the same
time to excite the interest and command the admiration of a free people; but
regardless of such generous impressions, the American Government evinces
a disposition calculated to impede and divide her efforts.

“England is not only interdicted the harbors of the United States, while
they afford shelter to the cruisers of her inveterate enemy, but she is like-
wise required to resign those maritime rights which she has so long exer-
cised and enjoyed. Insulting threats are offered, and hostile preparations
are actuallv commenced; and though not without hope that cool reflection
and the dictates of justice may yet avert the calamities of war, I cannot,
under every view of the relative situation of the Prevince, be too urgent
in recommending to your early attention the adoption of such measures
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as will best secure the internal peace of the country and defeat every
hostile aggression.”

When war was declared an emergency Session was called, but internal
politics and mutual jealousies prevented the suspension of Habeas Corpus
and only £5,000 was granted for military purposes. The militia as a whole
was not adequately trained, but in each regiment were groups of enthusiasts
drilling six times a month, who formed the “flank companies.” There
were three regiments of York Militia; the First, recruited in the upper
part of the County, with a rifle company under Captain Peter Robinson,
a troop of cavalry under Captain John Button, and a flank company
under Captain Thomas Selby; the Second, recruited about Burlington Bay,
and the Third, raised in the Town of York and its environs, with flank
companies under Captain Cameron and Captain Heward. William Graham
was the commander of the 1st Yorks, and William Chewett was Lieutenant-
Colonel commanding the 3rd Yorks. His chief officer was Major William
Allan.

On August 5th, 1812, Brock called out the York militiamen and reviewed
them on Garrison Common. He intimated that he was about to lead an
expedition to Detroit to meet General Hull, who had invaded the Province,
and he asked for 100 volunteers. All the officers and more men than
could be taken offered for service. Captain Heward was named to command
the York contingent. The other officers were Lieutenant John Beverley
Robinson, afterwards Chief Justice of Upper Canada, Lieutenant Jarvie,
(not Jarvis) of Cameron’s Company, and Lieutenant Richardson, of Selby’s
Company of the First Yorks. Captain Peter Robinson and his riflemen
were anxious to go, but there was no transport for them, The General, how-
ever, gave them permission to take the overland route—no common journey
that, 250 miles through a dense forest, a succession of swamps, broken
country and plentiful rivers.

The main expedition started from York on August 6th. Going first to
Burlington Bay the General picked up 100 men there, and then went over-
land to Port Dover, where another hundred militiamen joined. Six batteaux
carried the whole “army” until a junction was formed with Captain Hatt’s
company sailing up from Fort Erie.

A volunteer named William McCay, of Hatt’s Company, kept a diary of
the journey up Lake Erie, which was published by the Toronto Globe in
1911, and is cited by Major A. T. Hunter in his history of the 12th York
Rangers.

“August 9th, 1812.—Arose early and about sunrise were joined by General
Brock and six boatloads of troops. . . . . Had a fair wind till 1 o’clock,
then rowed till night, when we landed at Kettle Creek, six miles below
Port Talbot.

August 10th—Wet and cold last night. Some of us lay in boats and
some on the sand. Set off early, but wind blew so hard we were obliged to
put into Port Talbot. Lay here all day.

August 11th.—Set off early with a fair wind, but it soon blew so hard
that we had to land on the beach and draw up our boats, having come
twelve or fifteen miles. Rain poured down incessantly. Some of our men



THE WAR OF 1812-14 111

discovered horse-tracks a few miles above us, which we supposed were
American horsemen, for we were informed they came within a few miles
of Port Talbot.

August 12th.—We set off before daylight and came on until breakfast
time, when we stopped at Point (aux Pins) (now Rondeau), where we
found plenty of sand cherries. They are just getting ripe, and very good.
We continued our journey all night, which was very fatiguing, being so
crowded in the boats we could not lie down.

August 13th.—\We came to a settlement this morning, the first since
we left Port Talbot. The inhabitants informed us the Americans had all
retired to their own side of the river, also that there was a skirmish be-
tween our troops and them on their own side, that is, the American side,
of the river. We made no stop, only to boil our pork, but kept on until
two o’clock, when we lay on the beach until morning. Some of the boats,
with the General, went on.

August 14th.—\We landed at Fort Malden (Amherstburg) about 8 o’clock,
very tired with rowing and our faces burned with the sun till the skin
came off. . . . Our company was marched to the storehouse, where we
took our baggage and dried it and cleaned our guns; were paraded at 11
o’clock, and all our arms and ammunition that were damaged were replaced.
We then rambled about the town until evening, when all the troops that
were in Amherstburg were paraded on the commons. They were calculated
at 800 or 900 men.”

In later years Chief Justice Robinson said of this anabasis from York
to Detroit: “It would have required much more courage to refuse to
follow General Brock than to go with him wherever he might lead. This
body of men consisted of farmers, mechanics and gentlemen who before
that time had not been accustomed to anyv exposure unusual with persons
of the same description in other countries. They marched . . and travelled
in boats, nearly six hundred miles in going and returning, in the hottest
part of the year, sleeping occasionally on the ground and frequently drenched
with rain, but not a man was left behind in consequence.” Brock said of
the militiamen: “Their conduct throughout excited my admiration.”

On June 26th General Brock had sent orders to Captain Roberts at St.
Joseph to take Michilimackinac. The American fort surrendered on July
17th. General Hull, with 2,500 men, had landed at Sandwich on July 12th,
issuing a magniloquent proclamation which still remains one of the humorous
documents of history; it was serious enough at the moment. “If, contrary
to vour own interest and the just expectations of my country, you should
take part in the approaching contest, you will be considered and treated as
enemies and the horrors and calamities of war will stalk before you. If the
barbarous and savage policy of Great Britain be pursued, and the savages
let loose to murder our citizens and butcher our women and children, this
war will be a war of extermination. The first stroke with the tomahawk,
the first attempt with the scalping knife, will be the signal for one indis-
criminate scene of desolation. No white man found fighting by the side of
an Indian will be taken prisoner. Instant destruction will be his lot.”
Hannibal Chollop could not have been more severe.
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A few settlers threw in their lot with the Americans and two Members
of the Assembly, Willcocks and Markle, cast their oath to the winds and
crossed the Niagara frontier, but the majority of the people, even in the
Essex peninsula, held firm to their allegiance. Hull's men had foraged and
ravaged from the Riviere Canard to Moraviantown, but a Job’s post from
Michilimackinac and the news of Brock’s approach had sent the American
General and his army back to Detroit on August 8th.

As long before as July 2nd Lieutenant Rolette, a French Canadian
naval officer, who had been with Nelson at the Nile and at Trafalgar, had
captured an American schooner full of militiamen and discovered in the
spoil Hull’s official plan of campaign, which came into Brock’s hands on
his arrival at Amherstburg. A five-gun battery at Sandwich was opened on
Fort Detroit on August 15th. That night the British force crossed the
river and on the following day Hull surrendered at discretion without a
fight. The whole army became prisoners of war and the Territory of
Michigan was no longer American soil.

Sir John Beverley Robinson wrote in after years a memorandum of his
part in the event. “I was sent with a party of the York volunteers and an
officer of the 41st Regiment with a party of his men, to take possession of
the Fort, and substitute the British flag for the American. In being re-
lieved from duty the next morning I had the pleasure of breakfasting with
Sir Isaac Brock and with Tecumseh at an inn at Detroit . . ”

For many years the Indians in the region to the north of the Ohio
River had felt and resented the pressure of advancing white settlement.
Lands which they had always regarded as their own were disposed of by
State Governments without reference to their needs or their feelings, and
when any tribe or individual Indian, under a sense of wrong, tried resist-
ance, the vengeance of the frontiersmen was swift and complete. Tecumseh,
a Shawanee chief, sought to establish an Indian confederation of tribes to
make face against American encroachment, but at the moment when he
believed the work complete, his brother, known as “The Prophet,” with a
small following of Indians, was beaten by General Harrison at Tippecanoe.

When war was declared between Great Britain and the United States
Tecumseh came to the British and offered his services. He had with him
only about 30 warriors, but the capture of Michilimackinac raised British
prestige in the minds of the tribesmen, and soon the Chiei was backed by
several hundred warriors. Tecumseh was a man of uncommon mental
powers, and a born soldier. He and Brock were friends after their first
meeting. They entered Detroit together. They exerted their joint authority
to prevent outrages upon the prisoners, and from the dav General Hull sur-
rendered until the Battle of Queenston, Brock wore over his tunic a sword-
sash of Indian workmanship given to him by Tecumseh. The Chief was
killed later at the Battle of Moraviantown when Proctor’s force was swept
awayv by the mounted Kentuckians.

Lieutenant Robinson’s share of the prize money by the capture of Hull's
stores was £90. A few days after the surrender the Lieutenant and the
men of York sailed for Fort Erie in the King’s ship “Queen Charlotte,”
bearing General Hull, 12 other officers, 134 privates, 8 women and 4 children
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as prisoners of war. Most of the men were of the Fourth Regiment of
United States Infantry. Peter Robinson’s Rifle Company, which had been
permitted to go to Detroit overland, arrived in ample time for the sur-
render, despite the difficulties of the journey. It was specially honored
by returning as General Brock’s guard in a sloop.

Among the papers of Sir John Beverley Robinson, preserved in the
Ontario Archives, there is a partial list of the York volunteers who were
present at the surrender of Detroit: The sergeants were Edward Thompson,
Thomas Humberstone, John Ross, William Knott, and George Bond. The
privates named are Andrew Hubbard, Abraham Stoner, Bernard Glennon,
Cornelius Anderson, Charles McDonell, Calvin Davis, Charles Cold, Edward
Wright, George Carey, George Moore, John McIntosh, John Wells, Joseph
Lecomte, John Stoner, Robert Wells, Samuel Sinclair, Thomas Johnson,
Thomas Adams, William Moore, William Meyers, Peter Pilkey, Cornelius
Plummerfelt, Andrew Thompson, Richard Thompson, Thomas Simpson,
Simcoe Wright,* Isaac White, John Cawthra, John Matthews, Peter Stoner,
Andrew Kennedy, Robert Bright.

The York Volunteers in this first campaign of the war had won the
high commendation of the Commander-in-Chief and doubtless also the warm
approval of their fellow citizens. They were at home only a few days when
the detachment was considerably augmented and was sent to the Niagara
frontier under Captain Duncan Cameron, as senior officer commanding,
Captain Heward and Captain Selby from East Gwillimbury. The subalterns
included J. B. Robinson, McLean (afterwards a Judge), G. Ridout
S. P. Jarvis and Stanton. They were stationed at Brown’s Point between
Niagara-on-the-Lake and Queenston, and had charge of two batteries of
artillerv, the men being drilled in the use of the guns by a bombardier of the
Royal Artillery.

So the autumn slipped by until the night of October 12th, when General
Van Rensselaer began sending troops across the river to seize Queenston
Heights and cut the small British force in two. The vanguard of the Ameri-
can army was nearly 700 strong, and was composed of picked men.
Another 700, mostly regulars, formed the first reserve, and the remainder,
4,000 militiamen, stood ready to follow. The total available British force in
Queenston consisted of 300 regulars of the 49th regiment. At Chippawa,
nine miles away, were 150 men. At Brown’s Point and Fort George, about
300 more were fit for service.

The American landing was resisted and a considerable number of men
were killed, but Captain Wool succeeded in gaining a footing on a fisher-
man’s path which wound up southward to the top of the cliff. Thus he
was enabled to gain the heights without the knowledge of the British.
There was a battery of 24 guns on the Lewiston side, engaging the single
British eighteen-pounder half way up the heights. The sound of the can-
nonade brought Brock and his aides from Fort George and the York volun-
teers from Brown’s Point. The General at full gallop passed the militiamen

on the march.

*Simcoe Wright was the first white child born in York, as has been mentioned
before.
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Arrived at Queenston, Brock immediately mounted the hill to see
how the gunners were getting on. He had scarcely reached the artillery-
post when Wool’'s men came streaming over the crest. “Spike the gun
and follow me,” he cried. In a few moments the British were at the
bottom of the hill and Wool had the gun. Immediately Brock collected
100 men and directed a charge which overran the artillery-position and
pressed the Americans back. Just as success seemed certain an American
rifleman stepped from behind a tree only thirty vards away and shot the
General dead. The British retired bearing the body of their thrice-gallant
leader to the shelter of a house in Queenston.

D'Arcy Boulton, the acting Attorney-General of Upper Canada, had
gone to Europe in 1810, but did not reach the destination he intended. He
hoped to land in England, but was taken prisoner by a French privateer
and found himself in the fortress of Verdun, where he remained for four
vears. During his absence the work of his office was performed by John
Macdonell, who had been appointed by the Executive Council, subject to
confirmation by the Home authorities. Macdonell was ardent in militia
affairs and had been selected by General Brock as his personal aide-de-camp.

When the York militiamen arrived at Queenston they were assembled,
in company with some regulars of the 49th Regiment, and Lieutenant-
Colonel Macdonell led them in a charge up the hill. Again the gun was
re-captured, but at the moment of success Macdonell was killed and the
British force retreated. On the day of his death, word was received from
London that his appointment as Acting Attornev-General had been con-
firmed.

Since it was now clearly apparent that the main attack of the Ameri-
cans was on Queenston, General Sheaffe, commanding at Fort George,
brought every available man with him, seized the Heights two miles from
the river, made a junction with the 150 men from Chippawa and then, with
a cloud of Indians on his right flank, marched due west along the escarp-
ment towards the American position. At that moment the Americans
discovered that they had a serious battle to fight. The inexperienced militia
on the Lewiston side found constitutional objections to the crossing of the
river. The boatmen, mostly civilians, deserted their posts, and the men
on the Heights suddenly realized that they were in a desperate position.
The American left became entangled in the woods. Confusion and inde-
cision appeared, which the intelligence and gallantry of General Winfield
Scott were powerless to correct. Sheaffe came on with the bayonet, the
York militia with the light company of the 49th in the centre. There was
one scattering fusilade from the Americans. Then they broke and fled,
some to pitch headlong over the cliff, some to climb down and attempt to
swim the river, the rest to cluster at the verge of the precipice and sur-
render at discretion. The American loss was about 100 killed, 200 wounded
and nearly 1,000 taken prisoner. The British casualties were 150 in all, but
Brock, incomparable as a leader, was dead.

Major Allan and a guard of York militia convoyed the prisoners across
the lake to York on the first stage of their journey to Quebec, and by
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the middle of December all the survivors of the Queenston fight were back
at home.

Rev. Dr. Stuart, the Minister at Kingston, died early in 1812, and was
succeeded by his son, Rev. George Okill Stuart, who had been serving in
York. The vacancy was filled by the appointment of Rev. John Strachan,
who had made a reputation in Cornwall as a teacher, a preacher and a
resolute leader. He had been honored the year before by the University of
Aberdeen with the degree of Doctor of Divinity.

On November 22nd, at the instance of Dr. Strachan, a group of gentlemen
met in the church at York to subscribe towards the purchase of comforts
for the militia. About £150 was secured and on the recommendation of
Lieutenant Peter Robinson two flannel shirts and a pair of stockings were
provided for every man of the York Company.

War had been in progress for five months before the people fully real-
ized the debt they owed to the fighting men. Then a public meeting was
called in York to establish the first Canadian “Patriotic Society.” Here
follows an extract from the Minutes:

“At a meeting of the principal inhabitants of the Town of York and
its vicinity, held at York on the 15th day of December, 1812, Hon. Chief
Justice Scott being Chairman, it was resolved:

1. That a select society be established by annual subscription through-
out the Province to be called The Loyal and Patriotic Society of
Upper Canada for the following specific purposes:

i. To afford aid and relief to such families of the militia as shall
appear to experience particular distress in consequence of the
death or absence of their friends or relations employed in
the militia service for the defence of the Province.

ii. To afford like aid and relief to such militiamen as have been
or shall be disabled from labor by wounds or otherwise in
course of the service aforesaid.

iii. To reward merit, excite emulation and commemorate glorious
exploits by bestowing medals or other honorary marks of pub-
lic approbation and distinction for extraordinary instances of
personal courage and fidelity in defence of the Province by
individuals either of His Majesty’s Regular or Militia forces.

2. That the Society shall continue during the present war with the
United States of America and shall be under the special protection
and patronage of His Honor Major-General Sheaffe, or the person
administering His Majesty’s Government in this Province for the
time being.

3. That every person throughout the Province whose annual subscrip-
tion shall amount to one pound or upwards shall be admitted to the
honor of being a member of the Society, and have the privilege of
recommending objects of its charitable bounty.”

A list follows of the subscribers to the Fund who engaged to payv an-
nually during the war, and their residence in the Province, the sums
opposite their respective names:

£ s d
Hon. Chief Justice Scott . .........ccv .. 50 0 0
Judge Powell .. ...ttt i e e 50 0 0
Judge Campbell . ... i e e 25 0 0
John Small .. v ittt e et e et irre s eetoanessnssncenens 10 0 0
William Chewett .........coi it riennnrartineanas 15 0 0
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Johm BeiKie ..o it i vt e re s oo teineronnomnenan
William AJlAD ..t vt vtie e e ettt it e e
John Stracham . .. .. .vovieueeer et onseennnnan
William W. Baldwin ...... ...t
George Crookshank ............ocuivuinrnneneennnn
Peter Robinson ....... ...ttt riiennnnn
John B. Robinson ........... it
Alexander WoOod .........oiieiiuinenonanenenennns
D. Boulton, Jr. ...t viiin et it i ittt
Donald McLean .........ccceeeuenneeesnnnsnsensa
P. SelbY it et e e et e e e
John MecGill
Jordan Post . ... i e e
John Murchison ............. ... .. i
Henry Drean . ..ot vttt it
Captain Fish ... .. .. 00ttt iiiie e
Miss Russell ......... ittt
Stephen Jarvis . ...... .. ... i i e e e
Thomas Bingle .......... . it iiiiienanas
Jordan Post Jr. . v .t it ittt e e e
5 R T -3 o<
J. Cameron and the printing ............. ... ...
John Denison .......... . ettt
Andrew O Keefe ... .. ittt e
Hugh Carfrae ........ ittt ineetnenneeens
Francis Purvis . ... .. ... . ittt
Grant Powell . ... ... . ..t e e e
John Endicott .......... 00,
Maj.-Gen. Sheaffe of U, C. . ..... ... ...
Edward McMahon ......... ... i
William Stanton .............. .0t inunnnnn.
Thomas Ridout ........ ... ittt enan
Quetton St. GEOrge . ..... . ittt i e e
Lieut.-Col. Bishoppe . ...... ...,
Captain Gleg., 49th Regt. . ... ... . v,
Stephen Heward ...... ...ttt mnnernennes
Lieut.-Col. Smith ............ . i iieeas
Jesse Ketchum .......... . . ... ieiitiieiinnenn
Robert Nichol, QM. Gen. .........cttrtiuneeeen.
J. GIVENS .. it e e i et e e
William Jarvice (sic.) .......... ... .. . . i i,
Duncan Cameron .............iuiiieiunnnnneennns
Captain Derency ... ...ttt e
Peter Reeson . ... .ottt e
Alexander Legg .. ... .. e
Captain Long, A.D.C. to Gen. Sheaffe ...............
From Mr. Mercer, on account of the York and Durham
Militia. Muster 24th Dec., 1912 ... .............
From Mr. Mercer, 24th Jan. 1913 .................
John Dennis by Mr. John Cameron .................
Lieut.-Col. Hughes ............ it erennnn..
Dr. McAulay .............. e e
Lord Bishop of Quebet . ...... ...ttt teeennanns
James Irvine . ... ... it i s e e e e
Dr. Holmes . ... i it it sttt eiinnnnn
A, Hariott .o e e e e e e
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From Mr, Mercer, on account of the York and Durham
Militia vt r i it ittt e e e e e e 51 19 3
From Mr. Crookshank, the money advanced by the

Society for the use of the Hospital ............. 158 5 3
General Drummond in all ............... 0. 500 0 0
General Shank . ... .. ...ttt itennennnanenn 20 0 0

Halifax Currency ......... ..ot inennenenns £1,808 6 815

As the war proceeded interest in the fund increased, and the Report
of 1815 showed a total subscription, including contributions from London,
Eng., Jamaica, Montreal and Quebec, of £10,556 14s. 414d. Most of the
subscriptions from Jamaica had a liquid sound:

“Geo. Kinghorn, 2 puncheons of Rum.
John Jacques, 1 puncheon of Rum
James Laing, 1 puncheon of Rum, etec.”

The total contribution of Montreal was £3,210 15s. 3d.,, of Quebec,
£2,724 3s. 9d., of London, Eng., £3,333 6s. &d.

In the appeal which was made to the general public of London, Chief
Justice Thomas Scott said of the Upper Canada militia: “Many, though
exempted by age from military duty, scorn to claim the privilege, and it
is not uncommon to see men of seventy leaving their homes and demanding
arms to meet the enemy on the lines. Others too feeble to bear arms them-
selves are seen leading their sons to the military ports, and so strong is
the spirit of patriotism among the people that it infects the greater number
of those who have recently come to settle in the Province from the United
States, and makes them efficient soldiers.”

After a year of warfare the belligerents discovered an elementary fact—
that land fighting in Upper Canada was useless without control of the Lakes.
All useful communications were by water, since the roads were mainly
bottomless quagmires, and the garrisons of outposts were dependent even
for their daily bread and pork upon the success of some captain in tacking
through. Sir James Lucas Yeo commanded the naval force on Lake
Ontario and Commodore Isaac Chauncey was the American leader. The
respective bases were Kingston and Sackett’s Harbor. The forces were
small, mainly composed of converted trade-schooners. But both sides es-
tablished ship-yards and built competitively with green timber. Chauncey’s
fleet is described by Mr. C. H. J. Smider as follows:*

“He had that old waggon the Oneida a brig that crawled like a tortoise going
free, and slid sideways like a crab when she tried to beat to wind’ard. But
she had sixteen twenty-four pounders and that made her a tough nut to crack.
She was better at fighting than running away and that suited Melancthon T.
Woolsey, of Sackett’s Harbor, the lieutenant who commanded her, to a knock-
down. Chauncey built a twenty-four gun ship the President Madison in fifty-
eight dayvs from the day the timber was felled in the bush. Later on he built
another fine ship-rigged corvette, the General Pike, and a smart schooner, called
the Sviph. And he had a whole menagerie of little fore-'n-afters of stonehooker
size, from a hundred tons down. They were coasters bought up when the war
broke out and loaded with deck-jags of cannon. They were slow as molasses
and tippy as soda-water bottles. All they were good for was long-range work

# “In the Wake of the Eighteen-Twelvers.”
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in smooth water. Then they were terrors. The guns they carried were all
long-uns, twice as powerful as the caronades our fleet had, meant for nigh-hand
broadside work. In light weather, at long range, those schooners lived up to
their names — Scourge, Asp, Pert, Growler and Conquest. In a sailing breeze

they were as harmless as might be expected of Ontario, Julia, Hamilton, Fair
American, Governor Tomkins or Lady of the Lake. All told Chauncey ‘had
fifteen vessels that summer.

“Yeo had only eight at the most. There was the IVolfe, not quite as big
as either the Pike or the Madison; and the Royal George, ship-rigged like the
Wolfe but smaller. Then there were the brigs, the old Earl of Moira and the
Lord Melville — about half the size of the two ships; and the schooners, Sir
Sydney Swmith, Beresford, Simcoe and Seneca, none of them much bigger than
the larger Bay of Quinte traders to-day.. The last two were kept for transport
duty or harbor work.”

The story of the lake warfare of that summer is spirited and romantic.
Chauncey had been commissioned in September, 1812, and had used the
winter to good purpose. Yeo did not arrive at Kingston until May 7th
1813 and found the situation anything but comforting. There had been
a lack, on the northern side of the Lake, of co-ordinating intelligence.
General Sir Roger Sheaffe, who had succeeded Sir Isaac Brock as com-
mander of the forces and acting Lieutenant-Governor was a better fighter
than an organizer. He and Governor Prévost permitted the establishment
of a shipbuilding vard at York as well as at Kingston. Thus supplies of
all sorts which should have been concentrated at an arsenal behind heavy
batteries were “all over the place” and invited raiders. On the ways at
York was a thirty-gun frigate half-planked. Beside her in the frozen
mud of the dockvard lay the guns of her prospective armament. Chauncey
wanted that frigate. Therefore the moment the ice went out of Sackett’s
Harbor he brought out his fleet, and sailed westward, bearing besides his
seamen an army of 2,000 men under General Dearborn and General Zebulon
Pike, the discoverer, six vears before, of Pike’s Peak in Colorado.

On the morning of April 27, 1813, in a light east wind the fleet hove
to just outside the present \Western Gap and began to shell the Garrison.
while boatloads of men made for the shore. Fortyv Indians and a few
militiamen under Colonel Givens disputed the landing but the Americans
got ashore at the site of the old French Fort. Their riflemen scattered
into the near-by woods in chase of the Indians, killed a chief who had
climbed into a tree and secured the flank of the infantry now forming on
the shore. Not half-a-dozen effective guns were found in the whole place.
The \Western Battery, half a mile west of the Garrison, was armed with
two old eighteen-pounders, without trunnions, which had been clamped
to pine logs. Two companies of the 8th Regiment, three companies ot
militia, a few men of the 49th, of the Royal Artillerv, and some of the
Royal Newfoundland Fencibles formed the garrison, not over 700 strong.
The progress of the Americans was opposed from point to point, with severe
loss to the defenders until the Garrison had to be vielded. General Sheaffe
had laid a fuse for the destruction of the 500 barrels of gunpowder and
the explosion killed over 200 Americans. Previously forty British soldiers
had been killed by the explosion of an ammunition truck. With the re-
mainder of the regular forces Sheaffe marched through the town and east-
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ward along the road to Kingston, first setting the frigate and dockyard

on fire, and leaving the militia to deal with the invaders, who were in no
gentle temper.*

They thought that the explosion of the magazine was a meditated bit
of treachery, since the fight was practically over. Only the vanguard
of the American force had reached the vicinity of the Fort when the
explosion occurred. Among those mortally wounded was General Pike.
He was taken aboard the flagship President Madison and died on her quarter
deck in the presence of Commodore Chauncey.

* Among those who were in York when the Americans came was a young Irish
boy who had lately come to the town with his pbarents and was living at the garri-
son. In later years he wrote a curious little book entitled ‘““Journal of a Voyage to
Quebec in the year 1825, with Recollections of Canada during the late American war
in the years 1812-13. By P. Finan.” Newry was the place of publication. “Printed
by Alexander Peacock, Telegraph Office, 1828.” Some extracts from the book
which may be found in the Legislative Library here follow:

“On the 25th of April the Grenadier Company of the 8th Regiment arrived in
batteaux from Kingston on their way up the country. They were allowed to remain
during the 26th to refresh themselves after the long journey, and were to have
proceeded on the 27th. We returned to the garrison (from the town) on the
evening of the 26th. When we arrived all was bustle and activity. The American
fleet had appeared off the harbor, and from its manoeuvres it was supposed that
York was the place of its destination. The troops were under arms. .. .but little
apprehension was entertained for the safety of the place, which was rather sur-
prising, since the whole amount of the regular forces including the grenadiers of
the 8th Regiment did not exceed 300; the militia, ete. composing a few hundred more.

Early in the morning of the 27th the enemy’s fleet appeared steering directly
for the harbor....The morning was very fine, the lake quite calm, and the fleet
had an elegant and imposing appearance.”

After speaking in general terms concerning the landing; Finan continues: ‘“The
Grenadiers congisted of 119 as fine men as the British army could produce, com-
manded by the brave and elegant Captain McNeile...... I saw him and the most of
his little band return no more. Thirty alone escaped the havoe of the day.”

Finan’s description of the first, and the accidental explosion has specigl im-
portance: ‘““While part of our force was contending with the ememy in .the woods
an unfortunate accident occurred at the battery opposed to the fleet, which proved
a death blow to the little hope that might have been entertained of a sucecessful
issue to the proceedings of the day. A gun was aimed at one of the vessels, gtnd
the officers desirous of seeing if the ball would take effect ascended the bastion.
In the meantime the artillery man waiting for the word of command to_ﬁre, held
the matceh behind him as is usual under such circumstances. The trayellmg maga-
zine, a large wooden chest containing cartridges for the great guns being open just
at his back, he unfortunately put the match into it....Everyone in the t_)attery was
blown into the air, and the dissection of the greater part of _thelr bodies was in-
conceivably shocking. The officers were thrown from the bastion by the shock but
escaped with a few bruises; the cannons were dismounted and consequently the bat-
tery was rendered completely useless.”

Since the American vessels were firing on the garrison the women and children
were sent away to a place of safety. Finan and his mother were in the woods at the
house of a militia officer, but the boy slipped away to see the progress of the batt.le.
As he approached the clearing he felt the earth tremble. Then followec} the noise
of the second explosion, when a “cloud like a vast balloon rose into the air.” Finan
declares that he saw the flag pulled down at the Fort and the American flag sub-
stituted by a sergeant who had deserted from the British army.

There is a letter of Sheaffe’s written from Haldimand, April 30th, 18}3, to
the Governor-General of Canada corroborating Finan’s account of the accldex}tal
explosion and referring to the heavy loss of ““Captain W. Neale’” and the grenadiers
of the 8th Regiment. It ends with the following sentence: “I causegl the grand
magazine to be blown up, and have reason to believe that the new ship and naval
‘stores were destroyed.”

By this explosion 52 Americans were killed and 180 Wounded._ The flag pu_lled
down, and the mace were carried away and may be seen today in the American
Naval Academy at Annapolis.
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The commissioners who surrendered the town were Colonel Chewett and
Major Allan of the Militia, and Lieutenant Gauvreau of the Provincial Mar-
ine. The American officers accepting the capitulation were, Colonel Mitchell,
Major Connor, Major King and Lieutenant Elliott. Ratification of the
surrender was delayed by the Americans and Rev. Dr. Strachan sought
General Dearborn to make protest. He was not well received whereupon
he turned to Commodore Chauncey and said: " new mode, this, sir, of
treating people clothed in public character. I have had the honor of trans-
acting business with greater men without meeting with any indignity. It
is easy to see through these miserable subterfuges for delaying the ratifi-
cation of the capitulation. Perhaps the General, after allowing his troops
to pillage the town, mayv be induced, forsooth, to ratify terms, so that
when he returns home in triumph he may have it in his power to say he
‘respected private property.” \We have been grossly deceived already, sir,
but we shall not be duped and insulted. If the conditions are not complied
with immediately there shall be no capitulation. We will not accept it. You
may do yvour worst, but you shall not have it in vour power to say, after
robbing us, that vou respected our property.”

The protest was effectual. General Dearborn ratified the articles of
capitulation, paroled the militia and allowed the sick and wounded to be
removed. Meanwhile the Parliament Buildings had been burned and some
private houses had been looted, not by official orders, but by the act of
soldiers who had got out of hand. Two vears afterward, when ex-President
Jefferson made a complaint against the “brutality” of the British in burning
the \White House at Washington, Dr. Strachan wrote an elaborate open
letter to Jefferson, in which the following sentences occur: “In April, 1813,
the public buildings at York, the capital of Upper Canada, were burnt by
the troops of the United States, contrary to the articles of capitulation.
They consisted of two elegant halls with convenient offices for the accom-
modation of the Legislature and the Courts of Justice. The library and
all the papers and records of these institutions were consumed. At the
same time the church was robbed, and the Town Library totally pillaged.
Commodore Chauncey, who has generally behaved honorably, was so
ashamed of this last transaction that he endeavored to collect the books
belonging to the Public Library and actually sent back two boxes filled
with them, but hardly any were complete. Much private property was
plundered, and several houses left in a state of ruin. Can vou tell me, sir,
the reason why the public buildings and library of Washington should be
held more sacred than those at York? A false and ridiculous story is told
of a scalp having been found above the Speaker’s chair intended as an
ornament.”

General Dearborn in his report to the Secretary of War wrote: “A
scalp was found in the Executive and Legislative Chamber, suspended near
the Speaker’s chair, in company with the mace and other emblems of rovalty.
I intend sending it to you, with a correct account of the facts relative to the
place and situation in which it was found.” There is no further account
by the General, and clearly Dr. Strachan treated the tale as a mere inven-
tion. Robert Gourlay declared on the authority of a Member of the House,
that before the war a scalp had been sent in a letter hy an army officer to
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the Clerk of the House as a curiosity. The Clerk put it in a drawer out of
sight, being not a little disgusted with the taste of his friend. Probably
some of the plunderers found the savage trophy and cited the discovery
as justification for the burning of the place.

Colonel Simcoe, before leaving England for Upper Canada, wrote a letter
to his friend Sir Joseph Banks giving in detail some of his plans of ad-
ministration. He said that in the opinion of the Marquis of B public
money ought to be laid out for a collection of books that might be useful
to the Colony. This evidently was the Marquis of Buckingham, Lord
Lieutenant of Ireland.

In that letter reference was made to the need for an Encvclopaedia and
a work or two on Botany and Natural Science. Two vears later three cases
of books were shipped to the Lieutenant-Governor at Navy Hall, Newark.
It is believed that these formed the nucleus for the Parliamentary Library
which the Americans disorganized. Dr. Scadding gives a list of titles. It
will be observed that the Encyclopaedia is included: Encyclopaedia, 35
volumes; D’Anville’s Atlas; Johnson’s Dictionary, 2 volumes, folio; Uni-
versal History, 60 volumes; Receipts Public Accounts, 3 volumes; Cook’s
Last Voyages, 4 volumes; Palladio’s Vovage to New South Wales, 5 vol-
umes; Hanbury on Planting and Gardening, 2 volumes; Rutherford’s
Natural Philosophy, 2 volumes; Postlethwaite on The Deity, 2 volumes;
Anderson on Commerce, 6 volumes; Campbell’s Political Survey, 2 volumes;
Guthrie’s Geography, 6 volumes; Bomare’s Dictionnaire et Histoire Natu-
relle, 6 volumes; Campbell’s Lives of the Admirals, 4 volumes; Cary’s
English Atlas; Husbandry of the Midland, York and Noriolk Counties, 6
volumes—a total of 143 volumes—of solid literary roast beef and suet
pudding.

General Sheaffe, in a letter to Lord Bathurst on May 12th, regretted that
the money in the Provincial Treasury had fallen into the enemy’s hands
when he obtained possession of York. The amount was £2,000. Other
authorities declare that the iron chest of the Receiver-General contained
only one thousand silver dollars, and a quantity of “army bills,” a paper
money, bearing interest, which stood at par all through the war, but which
was of little use to the Americans. _

Prideaux Selby, the Receiver-General was lying unconscious, on the
verge of death, and no information could be secured from him as to the
gold reserve in his care. His clerk, Willilam Roe, had gone out the
Kingston Road and buried it. The Americans got wind of this expedition
and made a search, but found only £2,500 in army bills. After the invaders
had departed, Roe produced the treasure, three bars of gold, handed it
over to the Government officials in Dr. Strachan’s little parlor and took a
receipt.

On March 14th, 1814, the Assembly passed an Address to the Lieutenant-
Governor, Sir Gordon Drummond, which contained this paragraph: “In
examining the general account of the Receiver-General we observe he has
taken credit for the sum of f2.144 1ls 4d., paid to the Enemy to prevent
the Town of York from being burnt. It appears to us, may it please vour
Honor, that as proper measures had been taken for its security previous
to the capitulation, and as no stipulation was made as to its being delivered
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up, that a private contribution should not become a public charge against
the Revenues of this Province. But admitting, may it please your Honor,
that it was a correct charge, we apprehend a part, at least, of the amount
must have been a Crown Revenue, and that the whole should not be sus-
tained by us.”

After Sheaffe’s evacuation of York, General de Rottenburg, his senior

officer came to Upper Canada and took over the administration on June
18th, 1812.

While York was enduring the unpleasantness of an enemy invasion the
British force based on Amherstburg was preparing to attack Fort Meigs
on the south side of Lake Erie. A failure here in May and at Fort Stephen-
son in August put General Proctor on the defensive. After the fleet action
between Commander Barclay and Commodore Perry, a stern gamble on
Barclay’s part for the control of the Lake, since the British were short of
provisions, and were overweighted in both ships and guns, Proctor had
to evacuate western Ontario. His army was pursued by the Americans and
destroyed at Moraviantown. Yeo on Lake Ontario prevented the swamping
of Upper Canada.

Chauncey and Dearborn withdrew from York on May 8th and after a
run back to Sackett’s Harbor appeared at Niagara on May 27th. Vincent,
the British officer in command, had 1,000 regulars and 400 militia. The
American force consisted of 3,000 men and was landed at Mississauga Point
under the excellent gunnery of the American fleet. Vincent fought as long
as it was safe to do so and then withdrew towards Burlington Bay leaving
Fort George to the invaders.

Meanwhile Sir James Yeo with a landing force of 750 men under Colonel
Baynes made a try at Sackett’s Harbor and failed owing to the vacillation
of Governor Prévost and Baynes. Just when the fight had a promising
appearance, a retreat was ordered. Angry and disappointed, Yeo took his
little fleet up the Lake before Chauncey’s return to his base, and arrived
at Burlington on June 5th in time to harry the retreat of the American army,
thrown into confusion by Vincent and his chief aide, Colonel Harvey, at
Stoney Creek.

The strange action at Beaver Dams followed almost immediately. The
British right advance-post at this point was held by Lieutenant James
Fitz Gibbon with a handful of soldiers and about 200 Indian scouts under
a son af Chief Joseph Brant. The scouts annoyed the Americans so much
that six hundred picked men under Colonel Boerstler were ordered to rush
Fitz Gibbon's post and clear out the Indians. Laura Secord, the wife of
a Niagara settler and militiaman, wounded at Queenston Heights, over-
heard two Americans talking of the surprise in store next dayv for the British
at Beaver Dams. It was the evening of August 23rd, 1813, and she was on
her way to milk the cows. At dawn she set out for the British lines, twenty
miles distant. Through the forest she took her way avoiding well-trodden
paths and guiding herself by the sure instinct of the pioneer. The woods
had been drenched by a heavy summer rain and the heat was intense.
Despite toil and discomfort the heroine pressed on until the Indian advance
sentries found her and brought her to the officer in command. Her story
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confirmed information Fitz Gibbon had already received from his scouts
and he was able to make his dispositions in certainty.

Boerstler’s force was harried by invisible foes from the beginning of
the rr'larch. When it came into touch with Fitz Gibbon the Americans were
outw1tt<?d b3f a stratagem. The Irish lieutenant allowed the enemy to see
all of his thirty-four men in their red coats. Then, plunging under cover,
the men turned their tunics inside out, put them on and showed themselves
again. As the lining was a dark green cloth, the Americans imagined
that a corps of riflemen or rangers was before them. Another change, and
the red coats appeared in still another position. Harassed by the Indian
attack, and imagining that Fitz Gibbon was in force, the entire American
column surrendered. Not a shot had been fired by the British soldiers.

Vincent’s force remained active and alert, surprising the American post
at the Falls, Fort Schlosser, on July 5th, and driving the enemy to a con-
centrated position under the guns of Fort George on August 24th. Chauncey
learned in July that Colonel Battersby of York had brought two field guns
and a quantity of ammunition to Vincent. Therefore he returned to Toronto
Bay, landed men under Colonel Scott, burned the barracks and carried
away all the munitions he could find.

During the whole of August the hostile fleets were manoeuvering up
and down Lake Ontario, Yeo trying to engage the enemy in a heavy gale
when his rolling schooners would be useless, and Chauncey seeking to catch
the British force in light weather. He would have been in York again on
September 28th to fill his flour bins, had not Yeo been waiting for him in
Humber Bay, not far from the mouth of the river. There was a running
fight in a moderate easterly breeze which caused great damage both to the
Wolfe and the Pike, but was not decisive. Then Yeo steered for Burlington
hoping to bring the Americans on a lee shore. He himself drove his fleet
through the shallow gap into Burlington Bay, scraping the sandbar to do so,
and knowing that Chauncey could not risk his larger craft by following. The
American clawed off and tacked down the Lake to Niagara, believing that
his enemy had been safely imprisoned for the rest of the season.

Going in over a sandbar with a favorable wind was one thing. Getting
out was another. But with the full moon of October came an easterly breeze
that deepened the water on the bar. Then the anchors were carried out
into the lake by small boats and the ships pulled themselves across the sand
by manning the capstans. Yeo sent a small flotilla of transports to engage
the attention of Chauncey, and thus was able to reach Kingston to refit.
The naval commanders on Lake Ontario had fought a six-months’ draw.

In December the position of the Americans on the Canadian side of the
Niagara River had grown precarious, and McClure, the American com-
mander, determined to evacuate Fort George. On December 10th he com-
mitted an act of wanton brutality by burning the village of Newark,
rendering four hundred women and children homeless in the cold. The
American Government disowned the act, but it had been done. General
Sir Gordon Drummond, the newly-appointed administrator of Upper Canada,
authorized an immediate attack upon Fort Niagara under the command of
Colonel Murray. The fortress was taken by combined surprise and assault
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on the night of December 18th after a particularly resolute and gallant
action. Then the whole Niagara frontier on the American side was swept
clear of enemy troops and in reprisal the villages of Lewiston, Youngstown
and Buffalo were burned.

General Drummond reported to Prévost the capture at Niagara of 27
pieces of ordnance, 3,000 stand of arms, a number of rifles, ammunition,
blankets, clothing, several thousand pairs of shoes, 14 officers and 330 men.
In the assault 65 Americans were killed and 12 wounded.

To celebrate the capture of Fort Niagara the gentlemen of York gave
a ball “to the ladies and strangers” of the town on the evening of December
19th, 1813. A\ list of the subscribers here follows: Thomas Scott, the Chief
Justice; W. Dummer Powell, William Campbell, John Strachan, W. Allan,
D. Cameron, John McGill, S. Jarvis, Thos. Ridout, Wm. Jarvis, William
Warren Baldwin, Quetton St. George, W. Chewett, John Beikie, George
Cruikshank, Angus Mackintosh, Alexander Wood, Grant Powell, Alexander
Thorn, H. C. Horne, Wm. M. Jarvis, Wm. Lee, John B. Robinson, Mr.
Boulton, P. Robinson.

The ball was so successful that a series of Assemblies was organized
cor the social season of 1814-1815. The names of the subscribers were:
Thomas Scott, W. Dummer Powell, William Jarvis, William Allan, Alex-
ander Wood, William Smith, Grant Powell, S. Jarvis, John B. Robinson,
P. Robinson, George Ridout, George Jarvis, John Strachan, W. Baldwin,
James Hands, H. Lee, J. Quesnel, Quetton St. Géorge, Kitson, Lt. R. E,,
\W. Chewett, Al. Thorn, Capt. Lelievre, Sam. P. Jarvis, Wm. M. Jarvis,
Tho. Taylor, D. Boulton, Jun., L. de Koven, Lt., Roval Newfoundland Regt.,
Lieut. Ingonville, William Campbell, John Beikie, William Shanley, J. McGill,
Geo. Cruikshank, Geo. Shaw.

Of the 41st Regiment: Richard Friend, William Faulkner, J. Harfred,
H. Lott, \WW. T, Hall, Richard Bullock, Chas. Lane, H. D. Townshend, Geo.
Edge, Jas. D. Perrin, \lex. Major.

D. Cameron, Tho. Ridout, Angus Mackintosh. J. Heward, N. Horne,
Major Givens, Mr. Davenport, R.N.,; Lieut. Ryerson, Lieut. Hamilton, Lieut.
Ruttan, Lieut. Kerby, of the Incorporated Militia; John Douglas, 8th Regt.;
R. Stanton, Richard Shaw, Q.M'r. Troughton, Lieut. R. A.; James Macaulay,
William McAulay, Col. Maule, Mr. Kemble, Mr. Miles, 89th Regt., Mr.
Gossett, Engineers; Major Walmsley, 89th Regt.; Ed. Davis, Lieut. 82nd
Regt.; Mr. Wills, Royal Marines, Mr. Pearson, Roval Navyv, Captain Barclay,
Mr. Cruikshank, Col. Glen, Incorporated Militia; Lieut. Tompkins, R.A.;
Major Kirby, Mr. Archdeacon, Major de Hoen, Mr. Wall, Fort Adjutant;
Mr. Jackson, Q.M.G.; Lieut. Jarvie, Incorporated Militia, Dr. O’Leary,
Dr. Forsyth, Dr. White, Dr. Ward, Dr. Robertson. Dr. Lée, Dr. Palmer,
of the Medical Staff; Mr. Irvine, Mr. McDougall, Incorporated Militia;
eight officers of the Canadian Fencibles for one night, Lieut. McDougall,
Dr. Young, Mrs. Derenzy, Mrs. Tallow, Mrs. Janoway, Daniel Claus, Mrs.
Geale, Mr. Rolph, Mrs. Wallin, Captain Walker, Captain Fraser, Captain
McDonell, Captain Keer, Gus. Warffe.*

*This hst is from the Transactions of the Loyal and Patriotic Society, published
at Montreal in 1§18. There are some obvious typographical errors, which represen-
tatives of the various York families named will perceive, but which I did not presume
to correct, in the absence of proved error.—Editor,
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The expenditures on this series of Assemblies are given in detail. They

are interesting for themselves alone, but also for the curious mingling of
pounds and dollars:

Paid Brown for going several times round with sub- £ 8 d
SCriptions .. ... . . i e 1 2 6

Paid music for the season ....................... 22 15 0

Paid Charles, a black man, for waiting ............. 2 5 0

Paid Lackie, the baker, foreakes .................. 19 7 6

Paid female attendants .......................... 1 10 0

Paid O'Keefe foruse of room ..................... 28 15 0

Paid MclIntosh for wine, ete. . ........ ... ... 55 15 7%

Col. Maule's servant and the fifer of the “Niagara”. ... $6

Lemon, the violin player .............oiurernn.. $10

Fortheuseofaviolin ........... ... ... ..., $1

Musicians of Canadian Fencibles .................. $8

For advertising in the Gazette ..............cc.... $11,

In an address to the Prince Regent, passed by the Assembly on March
14th, 1814, the following paragraph recounted the services of the Militia:
“When it i1s considered, may it please Your Royal Highness, that the whole
male population of Upper Canada able to bear arms does not exceed ten
thousand men, and is scattered over a frontier of at least eight hundred miles
in extent; when it is considered that nearly one-half of these were embodied
for the whole of the first, and a very considerable proportion for the great-
est part of the last campaign, and that thev composed the principal part of
the force which successively captured the forces of Michilimackinac and the
army of General Hull; which carried by assault the batteries at Ogdens-
burgh, which fought and gained the battles of Queenston, River Raison and
Fort Meigs, and which repulsed the enemy under General Smith near Fort
Erie; when it is known that in the disastrous affair near Fort George on
the twenty-seventh of May last, they were warmly engaged with the enemy
and actually suffered as severely as His Majesty’s regular forces; when it
is known that the greatest part of the transportation and provisioning of
the forces in Upper Canada fell upon them, and that in such parts as have
been visited by the enemy their properties have been plundered and
destroyed, and themselves as prisoners carried away; when it is known that
the whole efforts of the enemy during the last two campaigns have been
directed towards the subjugation of Upper Canada, and that is yet un-
subdued, we think, mayv it please Your Roval Highness, it will be admitted
that the Militia of this Province have faithfully performed their duty; that
their services have very largely contributed to the security of this portion of
His Majesty’'s Dominions, and that it was the duty of the representative of
Our Sovereign to have laid before Your Royval Highness a faithful account
of our services and our sufferings. It cannot have been represented to
Your Royal Highness. Nevertheless, such is the fact that many of our
militiamen have fallen by the sword of the enemy; many have been dis-
abled, and a large proportion of them have died from diseases contracted
while in the field, and from being destitute of every comfort, our population
has decreased. Our properties have been destroyed and hundreds are re-
duced to beggary and want without even the consolation of knowing that
their exertions, their fidelity and their sufferings have been represented to
their Government and to their Country, for the maintenance of whose
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rights they made such sacrifices and such exertions, and to whose favorable
notice they look forward as their greatest reward. In thus humbly repre-
senting to Your Royal Highness the situation of our constituents, we have
performed a duty imperiously required of us.”

On May 10th, 1813, the following militia corps were in service: 1st York,
Lieut.-Col. Graham; 2nd York, (the Burlington Regiment), Col. Beasley;
3rd York, Lieut.-Col. Chewett; 1st Glengarry, Lieut.-Col. McMillan; 2nd
Glengarry, Lieut.-Col. Macdonell; 1st Prescott; 1st Grenville, Col. William
Fraser; 2nd Grenville, Lieut.-Col. Bunit; 1st Dundas, Lieut.-Col. Thos.
Fraser; 1st Leeds, Lieut.-Col. Sherwood; 2nd Leeds, Col. Stone; 1st Front-
enac, Hon. Col. Cartwright; 1st Addington, Col. William Johnston; 1st
Prince Edward, Col. Archibald Macdonell; 1st Lennox, Major Crawford;
Ist Hastings, Col. Ferguson; 1st Northumberland, Lieut.-Col. Peters; Ist
Durham, Lieut.-Col. Baldwin; 1st Lincoln, Hon. Col. Claus; 2nd Lincoln,
Lieut.-Col. Clark; 3rd Lincoln, Lieut.-Col. WWarren; 4th Lincoln, Major Ten-
brock; 5th Lincoln, Lieut.-Col. Bradt; 1st Norfolk, Lieut.-Col. Ryerson;
2nd Norfolk, Lieut.-Col. Nichol; 1st Oxford, Lieut.-Col. Bostwick; 1st Kent,
Hon. Col. Baby; 1st Essex, Col. Elliott; 2nd Essex, Lieut.-Col. Baptiste
Baby ; 1st Middlesex, Col. Talbot. \While on paper this force would be equal
to 30,000 men, there were never more than 10,000 militiamen on duty at any
one time, but clearly everv community leader, from the members of the
Executive Council down, was in active service. Some vears afterwards it
was said that the entire High Court Bench of Upper Canada had had battle-
experience and two of the Judges bore scars of the conflict.

General Drummond, in a letter to Lord Bathurst on July 10th, 1814, said
that the capture of the British squadron on Lake Erie and the defeat of
Proctor at Moraviantown, had led the disaffected in the District of London,
under a notorious partizan-leader of the enemy, to commit depredations
on private property, and carry off the loyal inhabitants; their chief object
being to disorganize the militia by seizing the officers and sending them
into captivity. A small band of loyal militia of the district organized, and
were able to defeat the marauders, capturing 70 of them. Of these 17 were
tried for high treason, 15 were convicted and sentenced to be executed on
July 20th. On the recommendation of the Chief Justice, and the Acting
Attorney-General, John Beverley Robinson, clemency was extended to seven
of the least guilty, who were banished from the country. The rest were
executed.

That portion of the campaign of 1814 related specifically to York began
with the concentration of some 5000 American troops at Buffalo under
General Brown and the capture of Fort Erie on Julv 3rd. General Drum-
mond, holding a reserve of 1,000 men at York, established with some 3,500
men, a fighting line from Burlington to Niagara. The invader had the
advantage of the initiative, and obviously his rdle was to strike swiftly and
in full force, before Drummond could gather up the skirts of his extended
line.

On the day following the capture of Fort Erie, Brown moved southward
and Drummond ordered an advance of 2,000 men under General Riall, his
second in command. The armies met at Chippawa on July 5th. At the first
British charge the American militia broke and were dispersed, but the
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American regulars were made in a sterner mould and were admirably
handled by General Winfield Scott and General Riplev. The British were
outflanked and beaten, losing one-quarter of their force. Gradually during
the next two weeks the defenders were pressed back. Brown had hoped
for the co-operation of Chauncey in an attack upon Fort Niagara and Fort
George, but the Commodore, realizing that Yeo was his “main job,” and
perhaps resenting the suggestion that he should serve as Brown’s subordin-
ate, declined to assist.

Brown therefore resolved to strike across country from Chippawa to
Burlington and cut the British line. He set out in strength on the morning
of July 25th, and almost immediately found himself in touch with the
British, who concentrated at Lundy’s Lane, seizing a slight hillock as a post
for seven field guns. Here was the most desperate battle of the war. It
began at six o’clock on the evening of July 25th. There were 4,000 Ameri-
cans against 3,000 British, but considering the inexperience of the American
militia, the armies were equally matched. For six hours the conflict raged
about that gun position. Again, and vet again, the Americans gained the
hill, only to be driven back by a bayonet charge. The regulars of the enemy
fought with magnificent tenacity. The British forces, well-drilled, resolute
and admirably led, met every assault with iron steadiness. Each side had
heavy losses, the British proportionately greater than the American, but
neither could establish a clear supremacyv. At length the American force
retired to Chippawa and the British slept on the position they had held so
steadily.

The exhausting fight at Lundy’s Lane kept both armies quiescent for
some three weeks. Then on August 15th Drummond tried to capture Fort
Erie by assault, but was repulsed with heavy loss. A counter-attack by the
Americans in mid-September was successfully resisted, though at heavy
cost, but the enemy’s forces were strengthening and Drummond was pressed
back by General Izard, who now had with him about 3,000 men. The British
lay at Chippawa but they had the moral backing of Yeo’s fleet, now anchored
at the mouth of the river. Izard could have driven the British back to
Niagara, but he would have been putting his head into a hornet’s nest. He
attempted a flank movement by the capture of Cook’s Mills, twelve miles
inland, but the place was too hot to hold.

General Drummond, in reporting the retreat of the enemy from Cook’s
Mills, wrote on October 20th, 1814, that the American commander (Bissell)
seemed very cautious about burning and plundering, “probably admonished
by the retaliation at Washington and on the sea-coast.”

With this reverse General Izard abandoned the invasion, blew up the
fortifications at Fort Erie on November 5th, and went into winter quarters.
So far as the harried Niagara {rontier was concerned the war was over.
The survivors of the weary York militia could go home and make prepara-
tions to turn those qualities of resolution, energy and ardent loyalty, which
war had revealed as their precious possession, to the building of a great
British-Canadian city and Province.

As to the Loval and Patriotic Society of York the money subscribed
was very carefully distributed. At first only those in really destitute cir-
cumstances were relieved by wecekly doles, but as the fund grew it became
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possible to recoup some of the settlers whose houses and personal property
had been destroved by raiders. On at least four occasions war had been
made against unarmed civilians; at Niagara, when General McClure, of the
New York State militia, burned the village; at St. Davids, on July 14th,
1814, where 22 buildings were burned by Colonel Stone; and at the Talbot
settlement on May 15th and 16th, 1814, when General McArthur's cavalry
ran wild. Said Dr. Strachan in his open letter to Jefferson: “To pass rapidly
with a large body of cavalry through a country thinly inhabited and with-
out the means of resistance, to feed upon the defenceless inhabitants, to
burn the mills. none of which belonged to Government, and to destroy
the provisions and the whole property of respectable men of principle, and
then to run away at the first symptom of serious opposition, is no great
exploit.”

The proposal to grant medals to soldiers taking part in any particulary
gallant exploits was found to be unworkable, as might have been expected.
A satisfactory list of possible recipients could not be prepared. Neverthe-
less, the medals were bought, 61 of gold and 548 of silver. Years after
they were sold to Paul Bishop, a blacksmith, as bullion, and the proceeds
were given to the General Hospital. .

During the winter of 1813-14, Yeo and Chauncey fought for the control
of Lake Ontario by building ships. The Prince Regent and the Princess
Charlotte of 1,200 and 1,400 tons respectively, were launched at Kingston.
The Superior and the JMohawk slid off the wavs at Sackett’s Harbor
the first a 62 gun ship, the second a powerful frigate. Early in May Drum-
mond and Yeo wanted to fit out an expedition against Sackett’s Harbor, but
Prévost declined to give them enough men. With the forces available
they captured Oswego instead, on May 6th, and destroyed some of the
stores intended for the fitting out of Chauncey’s new vessels.

On May 30th the British were less fortunate. A party of seamen were
sent to Sandy Creek in search of a flotilla of naval stores on the wav to
the American shipyard. Every man of the party was either killed, wounded
or taken prisoner. .\t last in early summer Chauncey’s fleet was in a
superior position and he hung off Kingston sending challenges to Yeo, which
that crafty Commodore ignored. He was waiting for the launch of his new
flagship the St. Lawrence, the most remarkable warship ever built on
fresh water. She was 190 feet long. Her stem and stern posts were
forty feet high. Her main yard alone used up all the timber of a hundred-
foot tree. The timber was unseasoned, but the anchors, capstans, rope,
sails and the multitudinous fittings were of prime naval quality, brought
3,000 miles across the Atlantic and tracked up the rapids of the St. Law-
rence in Durham boats.  The ship was pierced for 102 guns, ranged on two
gun-decks, and drew 27 feet. On September 21st she was successfully
launched, and from that moment Chauncey issued no more challenges. e
set to work on a ship to carry 120 guns, but she was never finished. The
war was ended on Christmas Eve by the signing of the Treaty of Ghent.

Says Samuel Perkins in his Contemporary History of the Late War,
published at New Haven: “The political changes in Europe had produced
an entirely different view on the subject of the negotiations within the
American Cabinet. All expectation of conquest on the Canadian frontier
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was at an end. The ability of the enemy to ravage and desolate the frontier
and seaboard was now alarmingly increased, and with their ability, their
disposition to do it had been abundantly manifested. The state of the
finances and the public credit had assumed a most unpromising aspect. If
peace could be made on the principle of restoring things to the state they
were in before the war, there was no possible inducement to continue it.
The subject of impressment had now ceased to be of any practical import-
ance. Great Britain having more scamen than she wanted on hand, had
no inducement to increase their number from American vessels. It was
not expected that she would now yield a point for which she had risked a
war under the most unfavorable circumstances.”

The War of 1812 was in itseli an indefensible and criminal blunder, a
tragic consequence of wilful misunderstanding and political jugglery on the
one side, and of high manners and tactlessness on the other. The British
armies were afflcted by a leader, Governor Prévost, whose vacillation and
stupidity betrayed a naval force on Lake Champlain to its destruction and
left the land generals with insufficient resources at times of crisis. DBut
Prévost at Quebec was matched by the leaders at Washington, and no
British fighting general failed as completely as did General Hull.

The Americans won a series of brilliant naval duels at sea, and secured
the command of Lake Erie, but the abdication of Napoleon gave Great
Britain a freer hand, and the blockade of the United States coast was soon
complete. The capture of \Washington by a flving column and the burning
of the \White Housc were in reprisal for the burning of the parliament
buildings of York.

At Detroit, at Queenston, at Chateauguay and at Lundy’s Lane, attempts
at the invasion of Canada were made futile by good generalship and brave
militiamen and a new spirit of confidence was born among the people of
Upper Canada.*

* The British Government determined in 1847 to issue a medal to the sur-
viving soldiers who had fought the nation’s battles between 1793 and 1814. It
was called the War Medal; and bore a figure of Victoria crowning the Duke of
Wellington with a laurel wreath. The legend was ‘““To the British Army, 1793-1814.”
The ribbon was scarlet with blue borders, and a clasp was provided for each con-
siderable battle. For the Canadian campaign the clasps were three ‘Detroit,”
“Chateauguay’ and “Chrystler’s Farm.” (The word Chrysler’'s might have been
better spelled!) In the Library of the Ontario Legislature there is a manuscript
list of the Upper Canadian militia who were granted these medals, The men from
York militia companies, which, of course, represented the county as far west as
Burlington were as follows: Pte. Charles Armstrong, Pte. Jacob Anderson, Pte.
Cornelius Anderson, Pte. Thomas Adams, Lieutenant Charles Askin, Pte. Geo.
Bond, Pte. Robt. Bright, Pte. Andrew Borland, Pte. Jacob Brooks, Pte. Geo. Breck-
indale, Pte. David Bridgford, Pte. John Beattie, Pte. Louis Corbier. Pte. Abm. Cor-
leer, Pte. Chas. Cole, Pte. Geo. Carey, Pte. John Cawthra, Pte. Calvin Davis, Pte.
Louis Fontaine, Pte. Bernard Glennon, Pte. Richard Graham, Sergeant Thos. Hum-
berstone, Pte. Andrew Hubbard, Pte. Andrew Heron, Pte. Wm. Harrison, Captain
G. B. Hall, Pte. Thos. Johnston, Lieutenant Samuel Peters Jarvis, Sergeant Wm.
Knoll, Pte. Andrew Kennedy, Pte. Wm. Kitchen, Pte. Richard Killings, Pte. Asa
Lee, Pte. Edw. Lawrence, Pte. Joshua Lecompt, Pte. Geo. Moore, Pte. John McIntosh,
Pte. Wm. Moore, Pte. William Meyres, Pte. M. O. Matthews, Pte. Jacob Miller. Pte.
Peter Pilkie, Pte. Henry Pringle, Pte. Corn. Plomerfelt, Lieutenant John Beverley
Robinson, Pte. Benj. Runnions, Pte. John Ross, Pte. John Smilger, Pte. John Stoner,
Pte Abram Stoner, Pte. Saml. Sinclair, Pte. Peter Stoner, Pte. E. W. Thompson. Pte.
Andrew Thomson, Pte. Richard Thomson, Pte. John Wilson, Pte. Edward Wright,
Pte. John Wells, Pte. Robert Wells, Pte. Simcoe Wright, Pte. Isaac White, Pte.
Amos Willcox, Pte. Jacob Yeager.
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In 1812, there were 44 houses in York; on Front Street, 8; on Market
Street, 15; on King Street, 11; on Newgate Street (now Adeclaide) 3; on
Hospital Street, (now Richmond) 6; on Lot Street (now Queen) 1. In
1815, according to Joseph Bouchette, there were 300 houses and a population
of 2,500, but this doubtless was the estimate of an optimist. Edward Allen
Talbot, writing in 1825, found only 250 houses and 1,336 residents. Dr.
Bethune said that in 1819 the population was about 1,200.
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CHAPTER V.
THE BEGINNING OF AGITATION

HEREAS, the glorious and honorable defence of this Province
in the war with the United States of America—.” So begins the
Preamble of an Act passed at the Session of 1815 to give relief

to young law students who were prevented by absence on active service
from being called to the Bar, and to such young men as were about to be
entered as students. The regulations governing entry to the profession
were eased for their advantage, even as they were 100 years later for the
advantage of their fighting great-grandsons.

During the war Parliament had provided that pensions should be paid to
the widows and children of militiamen killed on active service. The amount
named was £20 a vear. That Act was amended in 1815, broadening the
qualifications, but six years later there was still another amendment, as the
following quotation explains: “The classes of militia pensioners are greatly
increased, so that the public revenue has been found wholly unable to bear
the charge thereby incurred.” By this Act provision was made “against
misrepresentation and deceit” by the appointment of Pension Boards to hear
applications, and only the widows of killed or captured soldicrs were ad-
mitted as beneficiaries.

The sentiment of the country towards Sir Isaac Brock was expressed in
the text of the measure for the appropriation of £1,000 to erect a monument
to his memory at Queenston: “Whereas at the declaration of war by the
United States of America against Great Britain, the government of this
Province was administered with great uprightness and ability by the late
Sir Isaac Brock; and, whereas, by the wisdom of his counsels, the energy
of his character and the vigor with which he carried all his plans into
effect, the inhabitants of this Province, at a time when the country was
almost destitute of regular troops, were inspired with the fullest confidence
in him and in themselves, and were thereby induced most cordially to unite
with, and follow him on every operation which he undertook for their de-
fence; and whereas, after having achieved the most brilliant success and
performed the most splendid actions, that truly illustrious commander,
contending at the head of a small body of regular troops and militia
against a very superior force of the enemy, devoted his most valuable life,
and whereas the inhabitants of this Province reverencing his character, feel
it a tribute due to his memory to express the same by a public and lasting
testimonial . . . be it enacted . . . that therc be granted £1,000 for the
construction and erection at Queenston, near where he fell . .. a monu-
ment to the memory of the said Major-General Sir Isaac Brock.”

The House named Thomas Dickson, Thomas Clark and Robert Nichol
as Commissioners to supervise the erection of the memorial.

The cost of living had been raised materially by the incidence of war.
Wheat was 10s. a bushel, and flour £3 10s. a barrel. Peas, barley and ryve
were /s 6d per bushel; oats 5s. Hay was £5 per ton, straw £3. Live cattle
were £2 5s. per hundredweight; beef in the carcass, 72d. per pound; pork
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7 1-2d, mutton, 9d, veal, 8d, salt pork £7 10s per barrel. Butter brought 1s
3d and a 4-pound loaf of bread sold for 1s 6d.

The destruction of the Parliament buildings and the Government offices
caused so much inconvenience that the question of the suitability of York
as the capital of Upper Canada was re-opened. Governor Gore, in writing
to Lord Bathurst on May 30th, 1815, said that he had received the letter
requesting him to report on the most eligible place for the seat of Govern-
ment, and the suggestion that Kingston seemed more desirable than York.
The Governor, without expressing an opinion on the proposal, pointed out
the hardships that would be caused by such a change. He reminded the
Minister that on the removal from Newark to York, then a wilderness, the
officials had received grants of land which by the expenditure of money had
now become valuable. If York were abandoned these lands would become
of little value. He trusted, therefore, that if the Government officers were
obliged to make a third establishment some compensation might be granted.

Mr. John Beverley Robinson and Dr. John Strachan each drafted elab-
orate arguments opposing the proposed transfer, which were sent to Lord
Bathurst. Dr. Strachan expressed the opinion that the suggestion must
have been made to His Majesty’s Government by some military adviser who
had never considered its expediency or its consistency with the general policy
since the foundation of the Province. In case of a sudden emergency the
Legislature would not be able to meet if Kingston were chosen as the
capital, since the communications would be interrupted. York was in the
middle of the Province and was easily accessible. Dr. Strachan mentioned
the excellent influence of the emergency Session which had been held with-
out enemy hindrance early in 1812, and which fanned the loyalty of the
Province into a flame. He continued: “Already respectable people are
speaking of selling their lands and leaving the country, convinced that the
removal of the Government to Kingston is preparatory to the desertion of
the western part of the Province.” He also protested against the impover-
ishment of Government officials by making it necessary for them to desert
their homes.

This view of the position of the First Families of York was continually
overlooked by the critics of Government and of Government officers. When
Governor Simcoe determined to build a capital forty miles beyond the last
outpost of civilization on the sands of Burlington, most of his officers were
established comfortably at Niagara, and doubtless, lost monev bv the re-
moval. D. W. Smith was recouped by the sale of his house to the Govern-
ment, but there was no such good fortune for Peter Russell, and others.
William Jarvis’s house at Niagara was burned in his absence. Besides, a
considerable outlay was required in order to make the York estates habit-
able. Probably the first Government officials of Upper Canada had de-
merits, but it is by no means certain that they were avaricious land-
grabbers. They spent their own money to make the new town possible
and were not free from embarrassment in consequence of the necessary
outlay. Long after the establishment of the town they were still in danger
of losing everything by a whim of the British Government, and not until
thirty vears had elapsed were the successors of the original grantees in
a way to become wealthy.
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At the time of the war the Lieutenant-Governor lived in a spacious
house close to the Garrison. As this was burned at the time of Chauncey's
raid on April 27th, 1813, the British authorities authorized the purchase
of Elmsley House, built by the second Chief Justice of the Colony. It was
situated on the southwest corner of King and Simcoe Streets, and here
Governor Gore set up his Court when he returned from England in 1815,
to bask in the praises of the Torv coterie.

After the capture of Fort Niagara the Legislature had appropriated £175
to purchase swords of honor for Colonel Murray, Inspecting Field Officer
of Militia, and Captain Kerby of the Incorporated Militia, who had greatly
distinguished themselves in the assault. Major Kerby’s letter of appre-
ciation which was read in the Assembly on March 6th, 1816, has all the
stately formality of the times: “Should I ever hereafter be called upon to
draw it in defence of His Majesty’s Government, or of this Province, the
recollection of this flattering remark (mark) of the approbation of mv
former services will animate my future exertions.” Colonel Battersby, of
the Glengarry Fencibles, was also honored with a sword.

Coincident with the ardent sentiment of patriotism as shown in the
Legislature, appeared a resolution to make pro-Americans feel the dis-
pleasure of the majority. The Assembly passed a rigorous bill “to punish
persons who may have violated their allegiance to His Majesty during the
late war.” The Legislative Council requested a conference by a Joint
Committee with reference to the last clause, which declared that persons
giving their parole voluntarily to the enemy should be subjected to the
same punishment as for High Treason.

\When it was made clear in Committee that such a law would prevent
prisoners of war from being released on parole the Assembly consented
to the expunging of the clause. But there was a vigorous determination
to prevent further trouble by barring the way to Americans who desired
to take up land in Upper Canada. Settlers were needed, but the Govern-
ment preferred immigration from the British Isles.

“During the war,” said Rev. Dr. Strachan, writing in 1818, “the danger
of the promiscuous introduction of settlers from the States was most
severely felt. In several districts where they were the majority, or sup-
posed themselves to be so, rebellion was organized. This was particularl
the case in the London District, and would have been still more so in the
Home District, but for the prompt energy of a few.”

Those who thought there was no more danger of war believed that the
restriction of immigration was unwise, but unfortunately thev held the
same opinion as a group of land-speculators whose motives for the ad-
vocacy of an Open Door were too obvious to escape notice. The Govern-
ment officials preferred to be cautious. They had learned their lesson
in 1812.

The conflict between the Legislative Assembly and the Legislative
Council was resumed with undiminished energy during the session of 1816.
On February 1st Ralfe Clench, Member for Second Lincoln, was escorted to
his seat in the Assembly by the sergeant at arms, and on motion of Mr.
Durand and Mr. Mears, the House determined that “Rali Clench, s,
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shall apologize to this House for his intemperate warmth this day, in
animadverting on the conduct of an Hon. Member of this House respecting
a motion made by him in his place in this House.” The vote was 12 to 7.
Then Mr. Durand, seconded by Mr. Mears, moved that it be resolved “that
the House are satisfied with the apology made by Ralf Clench, Esq., this
day to the House.” Chrysler, Nichol and Burwell voted in the negative. One
can almost see the three gloomily resolute in their corner.

Intemperate warmth appeared to be common. On March 26th Robert
Nichol, member for Norfolk made this apology: “Mr. Speaker: From respect
towards this House and an anxious desire to comply with all the orders, I
in obedience to their commands, have to apologize to this House for the
expressions made use of by me on this floor yesterday, and which, with
propriety, may be understood to apply to some Hon. Members thereof, and
I am sorry that my intentions should be so construed as to have hurt the
feelings of any Hon. Member of this House.” The Journal adds: “And
received a reprimand from the Speaker.”

The nature of this dispute is explained in the resolution of the Assembly
passed on February 23rd: “That the Commons have with much regret to
complain of the interference of the Honorable the Legislative Council with
their most important privileges, inasmuch as they have sent down a
Bill to the Commons, requiring their concurrence thereto, which from its
essence and import, could only constitutionally, originate in the Commons
House of Parliament, because that the Bill in question purports to affect
the Revenue of this Province; the Commons considering it their exclusive
right to originate all Bills of this nature.”

Third reading was reported on February 26th of a Bill to “authorize
and provide for the building of a gaol and court house in the Town of York.”

On March 7th, 1816, at the request of the Legislative Council, the As-
sembly appointed a committee to confer with a Council Committee as to
the means for procuring copies of the Journals of both Houses, which were
burned by the enemy during the war. As a result a Joint Address was
presented to the Lieutenant-Governor requesting him to procure the copies
and giving assurance that Parliament would make good anyv expense in-
curred.

During the Session of 1816 the Assembly appointed a Committee Select
on Finance of which Robert Nichol was Chairman. The report of that
Committee was received on March 26th and in summary was as follows:
That the Revenue from ascertained sources for the current year would
amount to more than £54,000. That the unascertained revenue was derived
from various sources; duties on articles imported from the United States,
licenses to hawkers and pedlars. fines and forfeitures, arrears of duties im-
posed in Lower Canada on articles passing Coteau du Lac between Feb.
15th, 1813, and April 25th, 1814. The Committee complained of the back-
wardness of certain Collectors in remitting the public money in hand. The
outstanding balance in 1814 was £1,966 16s 1014d; in 1815 it had rcached
“the enormous sum of £4,422 1s 115d.” \When to this amount was added
the whole of the duties on shop, tavern and still licenses issued on and
after January 5th, 1816, the total would be nearly £10,000.
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“The evil to be apprehended from suffering the accumulation of these
balances, exclusive of the loss of the use of the monev to the Province, is
that it may be a temptation to individual Inspectors to apply the money
to their private purposes, by which it might not be in their pcwer to pay
it in if suddenly called for.”

The Committee was surprised to find that nothing had been done in
consequence of the different Addresses of the House of Assembly with
respect to the £2,144 11s 4d delivered up to the enemy at the time of the
capture of York, and which had been charged entirely to the Provincial
Treasury.

One more address was prepared on this subject: “The Commons House
of Assembly have, for two years past, endeavored, though without success,
to procure the pavment of the sum of Two Thousand One Hundred and
Fifty-Four Pounds, Eleven Shillings and Fourpence, which it is contended
was improperly charged against the revenue of this Province by the repre-
sentatives of the late Receiver General. We have ascertained, may it please
Your Excelléncy, that a considerable part of the above sum was Crown
Revenue and therefore it could not with propriety be charged against the
Province. The Commons House of Assembly, being desirous of having the
business finally settled, humbly request that Your Excellency will take such
steps as to vou will seem meet to have the said sum of Two Thousand One
Hundred and Forty-Four Pounds, Eleven Shillings and Fourpence, return-
ed into the Public Chest.” His Excellency promised “due consideration,”
but nothing happened.

The Speech from the Throne delivered on February 6th, 1816, had con-
tained a paragraph admitting that the District Schools as established by
law were not providing sufficient advantages for the youth of the Province.
“The dissemination of letters is of the first importance to cvery class; and
to aid in so desirable an object I wish to call yvour attention to some pro-
vision for an establishment of schools in each Township, which shall afford
the first principles to the children of the inhabitants and prepare such of
them as may require further instruction to receive it in the District Schools.
From them it seems desirable that there should be a resort to a Provincial
Seminaryv for the vouth who may be destined for the professions, or other
distingui'shed walks of life, where they might attain the higher branches of
education.”

The legislation which followed this announcement is Chapter 36 of the
Statutes of 1816, and is the real beginning of the school system of the Prov-
ince of Ontario. The Government proposed an appropriation of £6,000 to
aid in the establishment of Common Schools. The allotment to the various
Judicial Districts was as follows: Home, £600; Newcastle, £400; Midland,
£1,000; Johnstown, £600; Eastern, £800; London, £600; Gore, £600; Niagara,
£600; Western, £600; Ottawa, £200. As soon as a competent number of
persons should unite to build or provide a schoolhouse, and engage to
furnish 20 pupils or more, they were empowered to name three trustees
who would have the right to appoint a teacher, provided that he were &
British subject. The trustees were to have authority to make regulations
for the government of the school and to dismiss the teacher if his work
were not satisfactory or his character were open to question.
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A district Board of Education was to be formed to which reports as to
the work of each school were to be made quarterly. A teacher “on pro-
ducing a certificate of having well-demeaned himself,” would be entitled
to his proper proportion of the Government grant, which was not to exceed
£25 annually.

The Common School Bill was drafted by a committee under the chairman-
ship of James Durand. The preliminary report of that committee declared
that the District School institutions had fallen short of expectations, that
the people among themselves had shown a laudable zeal to promote educa-
tion and that this zeal should be fostered and encouraged by Government.
The Committee also expressed the opinion that a University “should here-
after be established” where the Arts and Sciences might be taught to the
yvouth “of all denominations.”

An instance of this zeal had been given in particular by the people of
Williamstown, in the County of Glengarry, who had erected at a cost of
£300 a frame schoolhouse, 40 feet long, 30 feet wide and 16 feet in the
height of the walls, opening it on January 2nd, 1815. The names of these
educational pioneers were Alexander Mackenzie, D. Macpherson, Donald
Fraser, Peter Ferguson and John \Wright.

The session of 1816 had only just opened when a petition was received
from the magistrates and inhabitants of Kingston declaring that the exist-
ing laws were insufficient to effect the repairing and improving of the
streets, keeping them clean, paving the foot-paths, and preventing irregul-
arities frequently committed by persons on horseback and in carriages.
Much evil had resulted from the want of authority to form fire companies,
to compel householders to keep fire-buckets and ladders, to fix the size of
bread, or to prevent cattle running at large in the streets. In view of these
conditions Parliament was requested to pass a law establishing a Police.
York as well as Kingston suffered from these same inconveniences.

The Petition of Sundry Merchants of the Towns of Kingston and York
presented to the Assembly on February 16th, 1816, is a document of histor-
ical importance: “Your petitioners are building a steamboat of fifty horse-
power for the purpose of transporting stores and merchandise from Prescott
to Kingston, or any other place on the borders of Lake Ontario, within this
Province. This boat will also be fitted up in the best manner for the accom-
modation of passengers and will possess all those advantages to be derived
from a comfortable, secure and speedy voyage, without dependance upon
the winds. The expenditure necessarv to complete the steamboat will be
nearly twelve thousand pounds, and in case of any interference from foreign
vessels of the same or any other description might be ruinous to many who
hold shares.

“Your Petitioners therefore pray that all foreign vessels navigating by
steam or otherwise may be prohibited by law from carrying in any manner
from one port within the waters of Lake Ontario to another port within the
same waters in this Province.

“And as your Petitioners will, after the boat is completed, be still at very
great expense, and as they have run much risk in venturing their capital
for the public good and the improvement of the water navigation, they also
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pray that for a short term of years they may be favored with an exclusive
privilege to navigate by steam the waters from Prescott to Queenston with-
in this Province.”

“Thomas Markland and Others” signed the petition. No action was
taken but in due time the steamer Frontenac appeared.

The enormous sum of £3,000 was appropriated by Parliament to purchase
a service of plate as a testimonial to Governor Gore. Ribald persons after-
wards referred to the legislation as “Governor Gore’s Silver Spoon Bill.”
Perhaps the best proof that Gore was a weakling is given by his willingness
to accept this testimonial at a time when the Province was suffering for
good roads, and other public works, and when hundreds of abler and more
useful citizens had been disabled by the war which the Governor had sur-
veyed from the safe shore of England.

In view of the practical destruction of the Public Library at the time
of the American raid, Parliament appropriated £800 to buy books.

The elections for the Seventh Parliament were held in 1816 and Peter
Robinson was chosen for the East Riding of the County of York.

The successful application of Kingston for a measure of municipal con-
trol over the streets of the town encouraged the town of York to petition
the Legislature in 1817 for similar control, declaring over the signature
of Duncan Cameron, J. P., and forty-two others that the increasing popu-
lation and importance of the seat of the Provincial Government, required
more energetic and efficient police regulation than the Magistrates consid-
ered themselves authorized by the laws then in force to enact.

James Durand, who sat for the newly-formed Countv of Wentworth,
had been a member of the previous Parliament, and had been active in
opposition to the Government party. His election address, printed in the
Niagara “Spectator” of February 14th, 1817, was written with much free-
dom of criticism and stirred the anger of his opponents. Accordingly, the
document was brought officially to the notice of the House.

The Address reviewed the “boisterous times” when the writer had first
become a Member of Parliament: “The Habeas Corpus Act was suspended,
Martial Law was conditionally proclaimed, the troubles of war were upon
our country, we were without a civil Governor, and Militarv men, chang-
ing every few months, were at the head of the Administration. You all
know well the situation of those times and how the Military domineered
over the community, and vou also know what little satisfaction you could
have obtained when applying to the Magistracy for the protection of the
law; the Habeas Corpus Act being suspended seems to close the lips of
most people; and the instances were rare of any man who would presume
to dispute the mandates of commanding officers.

“Your political vessel, freighted with your laws and liberties, was blown
about to and fro at the will of the military storm, and your seamen and
pilots, (the Magistrates) had abandoned her to the merciless tempest. It
was then, my friends, when the troubled seas ran high, that T offered my
little barque to you to tow her into port; ‘twas then I launched my pinnace
from the shore to use my humble efforts for you, when no larger barque

would show its head.”
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In this florid strain the Address proceeded, citing the alleged threat of
General Vincent to burn the houses over the heads of those militiamen who
did not obey his call, the menaces of other officers, and the action of Colonel
James of the Thirty-seventh Regimént, stationed at Burlington, who placed
military guards on all the roads with orders to stop all sleighs with pro-
visions on board and seize them for military stores.

Then Mr. Durand reviewed his course of action in the House when he
had moved for a public inquiry into these circumstances, and also into
“the shameful state of the York gaol.” He gave at length the reply of Sir
Gordon Drummond intimating that all extraordinary measures taken were
based on necessity for the defence of the Province, and he reviewed a
speech which he had delivered in the House in opposition to a renewal of
the suspension of the Habeas Corpus Act.

The Address continued: “This was the Session of Parliament for trying
the stuff of the members; it was a time the like we may never see again
in our days, and fairly tried the mettle of the men chosen by the public.
No plough would work well in those rocky days unless well-steeled, and I
soon found those that were laid only with iron. The member for the West
Riding of York, John Willson, at this juncture told me that times were too
dangerous for a man to open his mouth, and went away a few days after
the sitting commenced and never returned to his duty during that im-
portant session, leaving the Road Money for his District to go where it
liked, and the welfare of the country to take its fate; and yet this corrupt
man had the barefacedness to accuse me with being away only two days
during the last session. . . . I likewise opposed the old District School
Bill, brought in unprecedentedly twice in the last session; first with one
thousand pounds a yecar additional for supporting a few students in Divin-
ity, and lastly with five hundred pounds a year for the same purpose, leav-
ing it in such a way that the teachers were to have their salaries whether
they had one scholar or not; and behold, we find that immaculate reformed,
refined gentleman, loyal Squire Inspector, John Willson of Saltfleet, the
man to second this notorious bill. But I crave his mercy; he was not the
refined gentleman, Squire Inspector John, until after he had done this and
several other things as preparatory proofs of toolship. To the honor of the
majority of the House this Bill was rejected with contempt.”

In concluding Mr. Durand dwelt at some length upon his own reputation
and public record and developed the following peroration: “The happiness
of the people is the strength of the State, and their happiness consists in
the absence of taxation, simplicity of manners, and proper respect for
religion, morality and the laws of their country. Once more, then, Friends,
I invite you to favor me with the Honor of your suffrages; and by a long,
strong, bold pull, at one time convince the tools of corruption that the
path to the people’'s patronage is honest, independent conduct.”

Mr. Durand’s seat in the House was scarcely warm when Mr. Nichol,
seconded by Mr. Burwell, moved that James Durand, having been proved
to be the author of a false, malicious and scandalous libel, reflecting ser-
iously on the conduct of His Excellency the Lieutenant-Governor, the
former House of Assembly and of individuals who are now Members of
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this House, be committed to the Common Gaol of the Home District during
the present Session.

Probably the party division in the Assembly may best be shown by
the vote on this motion: Yea: Nelles, McCormick, Jones, Robinson, Van
Koughnet, Cameron, Macdonell, Burwell, Swavzie, Nichol, Hall, Clench.
Nay: Cornwall, Howard, MacNab, Casey, McMartin, Cotter, Secord, Burn-
ham and Fraser—12 to 9.

Always in time of war, the liberties of the subject are likely to be in-
vaded for the defence of the State. If the Government has the confidence
of the people such invasion will be accepted willingly, provided proper
provision is made for the payment of damages so inflicted. The weakness
of autocracy rests in the difficulty it is under in satisfying the civilian
mind that military necessities are necessary. The Government of Upper
Canada was an irresponsible autocracy, but it was in the main an honest
autocracy, and judging by the events of the war, an efficient one. As in
the case of John Mills Jackson the supporters of the Administration were
too easily perturbed by criticism and doubtless too severe in their treatment
of the critic. )

AMr, Durand did not wait for the execution of the Speaker’s warrant
for his commitment. In consequence he was adjudged guilty of high con-
tempt and a flagrant breach of privilege, was expelled from the House and
declared incapable of serving in the present Parliament. The motion carried
by a majority of one. But Mr. Durand was re-elected by Wentworth and
was sworn in once more at the beginning of the Session of 1818.

Hon. Samuel Smith became Administrator of the Province in 1817 and
in his Speech at the opening of Parliament in February of the following
vear suggested the advisability of resuming the former practice of setting
aside annually a sum towards the building of Public Offices. Mr. Burwell
and Mr. Van Koughnet were appointed by the Assembly to confer with
the Legislative Council on that portion of the Administrator’s Address.

After the destruction of the Parliament Buildings in 1813, the brick
walls had been repaired and the place refitted to serve as a barracks. Tem-
porary accommodation was provided for the Legislature, first at Frank’s
Hotel on King Street, near Berkeley, and then in a house owned by William
Firth, situated at the corner of York and Wellington Streets. There was
some thought of buying this property. Mr. Firth’s legal representative,
Dr. W. W. Baldwin, offered the house and the front one-acre for £1,000,
or the whole parcel of two acres and buildings for £1,100. Owing to a flaw
in the title, due to a clerical error in a former bill of sale, the offer was
declined and a rental of £130 was paid for the use of the premises.

Accordingly the two Houses appointed Peter Robinson and Grant
Powell as Commissioners to secure plans and erect suitable buildings on
the site of the “elegant halls” destroyed by the Americans. The appro-
priation of plans was £157 10., for the construction £1,500, for extras
£333 13s. 7d., a total of £1,991 3s. 7d.—approximately $8,000. The Build-
ings were opened in 1820 and served the needs of Parliament until December
30th, 1824, when they were destroyed by fire. A defective smoke-flue was
the cause. The furniture and the library were saved but some records
were consumed.
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To-day the site of this nursery of Democracy, where the pageantry of
a Georgian Court was wont to appear, in contrast with the workaday
homespun garb and manners of the pioneers, is a dreary waste, bounded by
the dull retorts of a gas plant, by dusty coal yards, and by tottering build-
ings. Only as one looks out over the Bay is it possible to reconstruct the
pleasant scene that met the eyes of our grandfathers when this square
was the heart of Ontario.

The extravagant adulation of Governor Gore by the official class of York
was probably caused by the vigorous criticism of him among the reforming
element of the population. He had many social qualities. He was good-
humored and convivial so long as his authority was unquestioned, and so
long as the wisdom of his measures was admitted, but he would brook no
opposition and the popular discontent aroused by his administration brought
unpopularity to the men who supported him. In 1817, on April 7th, he ar-
bitrarilv prorogued Parliament, thus ‘“sending the rascals about their
business.”

He was succeeded in 1818 by Sir Peregrine Maitland, who held office
for ten years, continued the custom of his predecessors in insisting upon
every Crown prerogative, and greatly intensified the popular discontent.

Sir Peregrine Maitland was a handsome personage with an air of
amiable melancholy (possibly after Byvron.) It is not surprising that Lady
Sarah, second daughter of the Duke of Richmond, and Lennox ran away
from the Ducal residence in order to marry him. Reconciliation soon
followed and the Duke became fond of his son-in-law. The Maitlands
were present at one of the famous entertainments of history—the Duchess
of Richmond’s Ball, given at Brussels in June, 1815, on the eve of the Battle
of Waterloo. On that famous field Sir Peregrine was in command of the
first brigade of the first British Division, composed of the 2nd and 3rd
battalions of the First Foot Guards, a fact that will indicate his reputation
and experience as a soldier.

Robert Gourlay, a Fifeshire laird, had married in 1807 Jean Henderson,
a niece of Hon. Robert Hamilton of Queenston, who brought him 400 acres
of land in the Norfolk district. In Scotland he had revealed an itch for
controversy and an insistence upon his own opinion that made him many
enemies and caused him acute financial embarrassment. In 1817 he resolved
to visit Canada and view his property. He landed at Quebec in May of
that year, walked from Montreal to York and interviewed many settlers
with the object of securing information for a Statistical Account of the
Colony which he had a mind to write. He continued his pedestrian journey
through to the Talbot settlement, and thence to Niagara, and the Genesee
countryv of New York State.

Returning to Niagara he prepared a list of questions which he deter-
mined to send to the leaders of each settlement so that the results of his
observations could be checked by men familiar with the actual conditions
of life in each community. For the most part the questions related to the
conveniences or lack of conveniences for the settler, such as the number of
mills, the availability of brick-clay, the crops, the possibility of securing
supplies. It was exactly the sort of questionnaire that any statistician of
experience and ability might send out.
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Gourlay submitted his queries and the Address to Resident Landholders
which accompanied it to Judge Powell, Dr. Grant Powell, D’ Arcy Boulton
and his three sons, the Jarvises, Colonel Cameron, Colonel White, Captain
Fitz Gibbon and others, finding no one critical of his design or of the
nature of the inquiries. Dr. John Strachan alone took exception to one
question requesting the settlers to state what in their opinion retarded the
progress of the townships and the Colony. Let it be remembered that
Gourlay was a Scottish Radical, and Strachan a Scottish Conservative ;
that the latter had wecaried of agitation which in war-time had crystalllzed
into sedition and treason, and which came for the most part from those
regions of the country which had been chiefly settled hyv Americans. Natur-
ally Strachan doubted the wisdom of inviting criticism of the Govelnment
during the post-war period which was difficult enough.

Despite his protest the address was published in the Upper Canada
Gazette at York on October 30th, 1817, and most of the community-leaders
answered the questions. Nothing came from York, where the influence
of Dr. Strachan was exceedingly strong. Immediately Gourlay trailed off
into vituperation. He spoke of Strachan as “a monstrous little fool of a
parson, rogue would have been nearer the truth.” Strachan, in turn, said
of Gourlay, in a private letter “This man I must alwavs consider as a
wicked and malignant person who had no.regard for the truth, and com-
posed and published the most venomous and unfeeling slander.”

Probably one of these “slanders” was the Second Address, published
in the Niagara Spectator on February 12th, 1818, which said that the
Province was in a state of waste and decayv while Little York was “dull,
dirty and disgusting.” The Third Address, which was in no milder vein,
appeared on April 2nd, 1818.

The natural result in those times was a prosecution for seditious libel,
first at Kingston and then at Brockville. Both prosecutions failed, a fact
which may indicate the popular sympathy for the offender. But the admin-
istration had recourse to the Alien Act of 1804, which legalized the depor-
tation of ‘“suspicious foreigners” who had not lived in the Province for
six months and who had not taken the oath of allegiance. According to
the letter of the Act Gourlay could be instructed to leave the Province,
and if he refused, could be imprisoned. Meanwhile he had arranged for a
series of meetings to protest against the mis-government of the Province.
That move was countered by Parliament in the passage of the famous
“gagging act” of 1818, It was an Act to make illegal meetings purport-
ing to represent the people or any description of the people under the
pretence of deliberating upon matters of public concern, or of preparing and
presenting petitions, complaints, remonstrances, declarations and other
addresses to the King, or to both or either of the Houses of Parliament
for alterations of matters established by law or redress of alleged griev-
ances in Church or State.

To us in these times such legislation was merely hideous tyranny. So
it appeared to Gourlay, who was at least fifty years before his day in
political thought. So it appeared to the friends of Gourlay who were chafing
under grievances, real or alleged. How it was regarded by the Govern-
ment, sworn to maintain tranquillity in the Province, may be judged by
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the following extract from the speech of Sir Peregrine Maitland in pro-
roguing Parliament: “You have afforded seasonable aid to the Constitu-
tion by vour Bill intituled, ‘An Act for preventing certain Meetings within
this Province.” It is a subject for regret that the Constitution should have
stood in need of such aid, but let us hope that the good disposition of His
Majesty’s subjects will put an early period to this unhappy necessity. If
any portion of the people of this Province be indeed aggrieved, they are
well aware that a dutiful Petition proceeding from themselves would find
easy access to the foot of His Majesty's Throne.”

Gourley retorted with a couplet

“A babe of mighty Wellington, come o’er the sea,
Hath with thy own foul fingers gagged thee.”

On his refusal to leave the Province he was imprisoned at Niagara, tried
under the Alien Act and deported to the United States. He was again in
Canada in 1835 and though he never ceased proclaiming his grievances he
refused to join the Rebellion of 1837. :

Robert Gourlay had the mind and the diligence to do a useful thing
for the Province in his day, but he continually aroused antagonism. Hard
usage was his portion but perhaps his temperament, his tongue and his
pen invited it. His influence in forming the free Democracy now known
as the Dominion of Canada cannot be denied. He was one of three useful
men in the early life of Canada, John Mills Jackson, Robert Gourlay and
William Lyon Mackenzie—all disturbers of the peace at a time when,
probably, the peace needed disturbing.

Gourlay's excellent Statistical Account of Upper Canada contained a
map, in a corner of which appeared a diagram of the method of laying out
land in the Colony. Since the Clergy Reserves were the subject of a
long and acrimonious political discussion, the diagram is worth reproducing:

This represents a Township di-
vided into 42 lots. Six, the dark-
shaded ones, were reserved for the
support “of a Protestant clergy,”
and six, the light-shaded ones, were
held as Crown lands. The difficulty
of road-building, when two-sev-
enths of the land was left unsettled
is obvious.

The colonizing lord, Thomas
4 Douglas, Earl of Selkirk, founded

a settlement of Scottish folk at
Kildonan on the Red River in 1811.
It was the first attempt to sow the
seeds of civilization on the great
plains and naturally it was resented
by Indians and fur-traders. Since Lord Selkirk owned a majority of the
Hudson’s Bay Company stock, no effective objection could come from that
source, but the Company's great rival, the North-\West Company of Montreal
harassed the settlers until a little war broke out. Selkirk’s representative,
Governor Semple, and twenty-one others were slain by Indians and North-

W,
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West voyageurs at Seven Oaks, near Kildonan, in June, 1816, and for a
time the settlement was ended.

When the news reached Lord Selkirk he came to York, surrounded him-
seli with some disbanded soldiers and started west by wayv of Georgian
Bay. On his arrival at Fort William, the chief post of the North-\Vest
Company, he produced warrants for the arrest of the servants of the Com-
pany, but went further by seizing the Fort itself and commandeering the
supplies.

The Company, after vainly seeking at York a warrant for the Earl’s
arrest, found Frangois Baby of Sandwich in a more complaisant frame of
mind and secured authority for His Lordship’s arrest on a charge of
stealing 83 guns, the property of the Company. Dr. Mitchell, J.P., of
Drummond Island, was also prevailed upon to issue a warrant against
him for rioting.

William Smith, deputy sheriff of the Western District, centred at
Sandwich, went to Fort \William to arrest Selkirk but found himself arrested
instead and kept a close prisoner at the Fort until May, 1817, when the
Earl set out to meet his accusers, He took a sufficiently roundabout
route, by wayv of St. Louis, Washington, Baltimore, and New York, thence
by Albany and Buffalo to York, arriving in January, 1818, and having dinner
on the first day with his old friend Chief Justice \William Dummer Powell.

Word was sent by the Judge to D’Arcy Boulton, attorney-general, that
Selkirk would wait upon him, and at the interview Mr. Boulton informed
the Earl that he had instructions from England to institute criminal pro-
ceedings against him at Sandwich. Thither the colonizer repaired. The
Grand Jury reported No Bill in the theft case, but committed him for trial
for riot, resistance to arrest and assault on the body of William Smith, the
unlucky deputy sheriff. He was acquitted.

Then at York during the October assizes, 1818, began a series of trials
growing out of the Seven Oaks massacre. Frangois IF. Boucher and Paul
Brown were charged with the murder of Governor Semple. The counsel
prosecuting were John Beverley Robinson, the newly-appointed attorney-
general, and Henry John Boulton, solicitor-general. For the defence ap-
peared Samuel Sherwood, Levius P. Sherwood and Dr. \W. \W. Baldwin.
The men were acquitted on a plea that they had acted in self-defence.

Then civil cases instituted by William Smith and Daniel MacKenzie,
the latter of the North-West Company, were tried, and Selkirk was com-
pelled to pay damages of £500 and £1,500 respectively. It has been said,
and often repeated, that the Court officials were under the domination of
the North-\West Company and that the trials were a travesty. Mr. Justice
William Renwick Riddell has declared, after a careful study of the Court
proceedings, that the general impression has been wrong. In his opinion
justice was not perverted. More, the whole trial was “ a model of pro-
propriety and fairness.” It was a cause célébre in the Province of Upper
Canada.

Dr. Strachan had the belief that Lord Selkirk was in the wrong through-
out, and wrote a vigorous pamphlet setting forth that opinion. Of this
pamphlet he said in a letter subsequent to the publication: “My motive
was entirely disinterested, and had nothing to do with the Earl’s rivalship
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with the North-West Company, of the propriety of the fur trade. In
this contest I was a neutral spectator, taking no step on either side, though
I knew then as well as I do now that His Lordship was the aggressor.”

Mr. Samuel Peters Jarvis went to Quebec in the summer of 1815 to
establish his youngest sister there at boarding-school. He was requested
by Mrs. Thomas Ridout to take her daughter with him and make arrange-
ments with Miss Ridout’s brother in Quebec, Mr. Thomas G. Ridout of
the Commissary Department of Government, to put the girls under his
protection.

Mr. Ridout undertook the commission and consented to pay Miss Jarvis’s
accounts as they came due and draw upon her brother at York for settle-
ment. During the following year Mrs. Ridout went to Quebec and in some
unfortunate manner received the impression that Mr. Jarvis was not re-
paying her son. She told the story and it reached the ears of the supposed
offender. Immediately he wrote to her husband, the surveyor-general,
demanding a contradiction. Instead of inquiring into the facts, Ridout
handed the letter to his son George, who wrote in reply to Jarvis that he
was ready to ansuer for any imaginary injury Mr. Jarvis had received from
any member of the Ridout family.

Those were peppery times. Immediately Jarvis demanded an apology
or a hostile meeting “on Saturday morning next, seven o’clock, at the
five mile meadow opposite Brown’s Point,” on the Niagara River. Ridout
accepted, if he could reach the place on time, but accident prevented the

duel and a hollow reconciliation was effected through the good offices of Rev.
Dr. Strachan.

In 1817, John Ridout, a law-student in his brother’s office, was conducting
a civil suit against Samuel Jarvis’s father, and the younger Jarvis was trying
to make a settlement out of court. A quarrel arose. Ridout was ordered
out of Jarvis's office. Later, on the street there was a fight. Ridout struck
Jarvis with a heavy cane, breaking the bones of his right hand, and the
injured man retaliated by knocking Ridout down. Captain Fitz Gibbon,
of Beaver Dams fame, and Dr. Robert Horne stopped the conflict.

A few days later Mr. James E. Small, acting as John Ridout's second,
called upon Samuel Jarvis with a challenge. He accepted, and named Henry
John Boulton, son of the attornev-general, as his friend. Mr. Boulton
was a practising lawyer, and the law, which he was sworn to guard, was
very clear on the subject of duelling. But social custom overrode the
law, as so frequently it does.

The meeting took place next morning on the Elmsley property, near
the present corner of College and Yonge Streets. It was a showery dawn,
and the party waited in a barn for a better light. Then the principals
were placed eight yards apart and were instructed that the signal would
be “1, 2, 3, Fire.” At the count of “2” Ridout fired and missed. He was
rebuked by his second for the apparent foul, but he asked for another pistol.
According to the Code that was impossible. He had to stand to Jarvis's fire.
A moment later he was mortally wounded.

Tarvis was tried for murder before Chief Justice Powell. The jury was
out only a few minutes returning with a verdict of Not Guilty.
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The late Chief Justice Falconbridge, cited by Mr. Justice Riddell, declared
that for years the poor lad’s mother regularly waited at the door of St.
James’s Church to curse Henryv John Boulton for his part in seconding the
“murderer” of her son.

Not all the quarrels in this touchy York society had so tragic an ending.
Colonel Macdonell, who was slain with Brock at Queenston, had a sharp
difference in April, 1812, with Dr. W. W. Baldwin. The two men crossed
the Bay to Gibraltar Point but their better sense prevailed. Macdonell
refused to fire at his old friend, and Baldwin fired in the air, after which
they shook hands with some cordiality—and perhaps also with some relief.

An interesting picture of York in 1819 is given by Rev. Dr. A. N. Bethune
in his Memoir of Bishop Strachan: “We crossed the Don over a strong
wooden bridge, and after half a mile’s drive alighted at Mr. D. Forest’s
Inn, the best in the place, though Jordan’s, nearly opposite, notwithstanding
its low, shabby exterior, was the more popular one. There were a few
scattered houses on King Street as far up as the residence of the Lieutenant-
Governor (at King and Simcoe Streets) and on Front Street, at long inter-
vals, they reached nearly to the old garrison. There were also a few on
Duke, Yonge and Queen Streets. There were but three brick edifices in
the town, and exclusive of the military the population was about 1,200.”
Dr. Bethune spoke with approval of the society of the place, declaring
that York contained not fewer than 20 families “of the highest respec-
tability.”

Dr. Strachan’s house was burned in 1815, and soon afterwards he found
himself in a position to acquire a lot on Front Street between York and
Simcoe Streets. On this property, and directly opposite the entrance to
the present Union Station, he built a commodious brick house of Georgian
design, long known as the Palace. Robertson’s “Landmarks” declares that
it was the first edifice constructed of brick that had been burned in Toronto.
It was completed in 1818 Up to this time, with the exception of tne
the old Parliament Buildings, the only brick buildings consisted of stores
on the corner of King and Frederick Streets. One was occupied by Quetton
St. George, general merchant, and the other served after 1821 for the Bank
of Upper Canada.

In 1820 St. James’s Church was enlarged at a cost of £1,700. The sale
of the pews covered the indebtedness, and the church had now become an
imposing edifice, sixty-six feet long, sixty feet wide, and with a “neat
steeple.” There were galleries but no vestry and the rector was forced to
robe for the service at the foot of the pulpit stairs in full view of the con-
gregation. There were 64 communicants. By 1845 the Sunday School had
cighty pupils, 30 girls and 50 boys, and the girls were taught by the three
grand-daughters of Chief Justice Campbell.

The clerk was Mr. Fenton, who formerly had been a Wesleyan local
preacher. He had an odd habit of writing pungent criticisms of the ser-
mons he heard and then absent-mindedly leaving the slips of paper in his
place——greatly to the satisfaction of the young folk who made a point of
looking for them. During 1820 Bishop Mountain came from Quebec on an
official visit and met all the Anglican clergyv in Upper Canada—sixteen in
number. By 1818 the Methodists of York had erected a meeting house on
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King Street, west of Jordan Street, where the head office of the Canadian
Bank of Commerce now stands. The frame building was at first 40 feet
square, but soon it was enlarged to 52 by 40.

Dr. Strachan, who had been named as an Executive Councillor in 1815,
was honored in 1820 by nomination to the Legislative Council and soon
became the spokesman of the Administration in the Upper House.

The legal profession was growing in numbers and in importance and
during Michaelmas Term in 1820 the Law Society passed the following
resolution: “That the Society so apply a sum of money, not exceeding
£500, in the erection of a building for their use, to be called Osgoode Hall,
on the area opposite the Church, lately purchased by them.”

No definite action was taken until 1825. In that vear the members asked
the Government for a suitable grant in aid, and pledged £2,000 towards the
erection of the building. Then a lack of agreement with respect to the
site caused delay. Some of those interested considered that Russell Square
on the northwest corner of King and Simcoe Streets was the proper lo-
cation. Ultimately that notion was abandoned and the Square became the
site of Upper Canada College. On May 2nd, 1828, the Society unanimously
resolved that the purchase of six acres from the Attorney-General (John
Beverley Robinson) in front of his Park lot be carried into effect without
delay, the sum agreed for by the Society with him being £1,000 (currency),
or $4,000.

There were two views concerning the nature of the building to be erected.
Mr. D’Arcy Boulton, Jr., would have preferred a small structure suitable only
for the needs of the time, which would have cost perhaps £700. Mr. Robinson
considered that it would be better to spend £3,000 on the “central edifice
of future buildings to be extended laterally as the increase of the Society
may hereafter require.” The latter plan was adopted and John Ewart was
ordered to build under the direction of Dr. \V. \WW. Baldwin and Mr. Boulton,
Jr.

The work lagged, but on April 29th, 1830, a resolution of the Society
favored making progress. By November the building was insured for £2,000.
Convocation first sat in Osgoode Hall on February 6th, 1832, and before the
end of the vecar, law-students were housed there. They paid for board
and room £37 10s. per annum. Separate meals were: breakfast, 1s. 2d.;
lunch, 1s.; dinner, 1s. 6d. A bottle of wine was procurable for 5s., a pint-
bottle for 2s. 6d. The original building is part of the present east wing.

Much concern was expressed over its distance from the middle of the
town.

Mrs. Cockburn advertised in the Gazette of May 23rd. 1822, that she
succeeded Mrs. Goodman as the director of a school for young ladies, and
was under the patronage of Lady Sarah Maitland. The rates per quarter
were given as follows:

“For education in the English language grammatically, History,

Geography, the use of the Globes, with plain and fancy needle-
work, £2. Writing and ciphering, 10s., the French language,

£1, drawing and painting on velvet, £1 10s. For board and
lodging, #8 10s.
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“Music, dancing, flower and card-work are also taught in the
school and charged moderately.

“Mrs. Cockburn will receive a junior class of little children from
four to seven years of age for five dollars per quarter each.

“Entrance, One Guinea. Every lady to provide a table and tea-
spoon, knife and fork, sheets and towels, and to pay for her own
washing.”

In 1822 the state of the subscription-list to supplement the Fund for
the erection of a monument to General Brock was made known by publi-
cation in the Gazette. The contributions in the Home District were as
follows:

His Excellency the Lieutenant-Governor and Commander of the Forces, £11 13s
4d; Hon. Mr. Justice Campbell, £1 3s 4d; Hon. and Rev. Dr. Strachan £1 10s 0d;
Hon. D. Cameron, £1 3s 4d; Hon. J. Wells, £1 3s 4d; Colonel Givens, £1 3s 4d;
Major Hillier, £1 3s 4d; William Allan, £1 3s 4d; Stephen Heward, £1 3s 44d;
John Beikie, £1 3s 4d; Ed. McMahon, £1 3s 4d; Stephen Jarvis, 10s 04d; H. J. Boul-
ton, £1 3s 4d; Geo. Ridout, £1 3s 4d; Sam. Ridout, £1 3s 4d; Captain Fitzgerald,
£1 3s 44; Hon. H. J. Dunn, £1 3s 4d; William Chewett, £1 3s 4d; James Chewaett,
16s 0d; Alexander Chewett, 10s 0d.

The Trustees in 1822 of the General Hospital of Upper Canada built
with the surplus of the Loyal and Patriotic Society — £4,000 — were the
Chief Justice, Hon. James Biby, Hon. and Rev. Dr. John Strachan, William
Claus, George Markland, John Henry Dunn, Samuel Smith, John Beverley
Robinson.

The price of provisions in 1822 reflected the general commercial de-
pression of the time. Beef was from 2d. to 4d. per pound, mutton and
veal, from 4d. to 5d., pork from 2d. to 2V4d. Fowls were 1s. 3d. per pair,
turkeys, 3s. 9d. each, geese, 2s. 6d. Butter was 714d. per pound and the
price of wheat was 2s. 6d. per bushel. Beer was procurable at $6 a barrel.

On April 23rd, 1822, St. George’s Day, the East and \West Regiments of
York militia, with Captain Button’s troop of cavalry, attached to the North
York Regiment, assembled on Garrison Common to receive at the hand
of the Lieutenant-Governor a stand of colors. Lieut.-Col. James Fitz
Gibbon commanded the Guard of Honor.

Sir Peregrine Maitland said: “Soldiers: I have great satisfaction in
presenting you as the representatives of the late Incorporated Battalion
with these colors, a distinguished mark of His Majesty’s approval. They
will be to you a proud memorial of the past and a rallying-point around
which vou will gather with alacrity and confidence, should your active
services be required hereafter by your King and Country.”

The colors bore the word “Niagara.” The Editor of the Gazette said
with reference to this parade, which was followed, in the evening, by a
ball at Government House, “We were particularly struck by the new
uniform of the West Yorks as being particularly well adapted for the kind
of warfare incident to a thickly wooded country. Even at a short distance
it would be difficult to distinguish the greyv coat or jacket from the bole of
a tree.”

The British Government was not satisfied as time went on that the
establishment of the two Provinces in Canada had been wise and believed
that more efficient and economical administration might be effected by
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reunion. The Upper Canada Gazette printed in May, 1822, the following

extract “from a British paper.”

“The Government, it seems, have determined on uniting Upper and
Lower Canada, with a view, as it is given out, to save the expenditure
incurred by the present double administration. The measure, however, will
not be carried into effect without great opposition in the country, and
Mr. Robinson, Attornev-General in Upper Canada, has been sent over with
a memorial and remonstrance against it. . . . The administration of the
two Canadas costs this country half a million a year without producing
any equivalent advantage. But this is altogether the fault of the system,
and very different reforms are necessary than merely uniting the two
provinces to remedy the matter.”

All European goods imported by the people of Upper Canada were
landed at either Quebec or Montreal, and the officials of Lower Canada
collected the duty. Almost as soon as Upper Canada was organized as a
Province an agreement was made by which Lower Canada paid a proportion

of the collection to its western neighbor.

Difficulties arose in fixing the exact amount payable. The war inter-
vened and for a period Upper Canada made a claim for arrears of duty
amounting to thousands of pounds. A compromise was effected in 1817
whereby Quebec paid £1,585, but thereafter the principle of dividing the
duties was attacked.

The Parliament of Upper Canada prepared a Joint Address to the King
dated January 8th, 1822, setting forth the claim to a proportion of the im-
posts on goods entered for consumption in Upper Canada and appointing
Mr. John Beverley Robinson to carry the Petition to England.

Mr. Robinson arrived in London on March 22nd and was astonished to
learn that the Government contemplated the re-union of the Provinces, as a
money-saving measure. He admitted the difficulties which had arisen in the
administration of both Provinces but he submitted an argument in opposi-
tion to the Union which had uncommon force and at the same time uncom-
mon restraint. The final paragraphs of this argument were as follows: “I
will take the liberty of remarking further that the Act by which the Pro-
vince of Quebec was divided, and the present separate Government is estab-
lished, was the result of great and long deliberation; and if the change of a
system so matured should prove disagreeable to the inhabitants of both or
either of the Provinces, it may be expected that they will feel it more deep-
ly in proportion as it shall appear to have been hastily decided on, and with-
out an opportunity having been afforded them of making known their senti-
ments. The people of Canada have ever been treated by Great Britain with
a mildness and a degree of parental indulgence that would make them the
more sensible to any apparent want of consideration even of their feelings.

“Another matter occurs to me upon which it is necessary to guard
against any erroneous impression. The French inhabitants of Lower Cana-
da, I am firmly persuaded, are as peacefully disposed, as much inclined to
submit to authority. and as loyally attached to the British Government as
any portion of His Majesty’s subjects, and whatever trouble their represen-
tatives may give by refusing to make a permanent provision for the Civil
List, or upon questions of revenue or of any kind between themselves and
the Executive Government is not to be ascribed to the preponderance of
French influence over the English, but to that desire which is found in all
Assemblies to assert to the utmost the share of power which they think the
constitution gives them, a disposition which I think the descendants of Eng-

lish, Irish and Scotch will be found as likely to persevere in as the descend-
ants of Frenchmen.”
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Mr. Robinson remained in England until he secured the approval of the
Government for adjustment of duties, and would have returned at the end
of the vear 1822, had he not been requested by Earl Bathurst to remain until
after the meeting of Parliament in February, 1823.

In the Legislative Council on March 5th, 1823, the following resolution
was adopted: “That the thanks of this House be given to John Beverley
Robinson, Esq., for the distinguished ability, zeal and discretion manifested
in the discharge of the important trust confided to him as commissioner to
bear to the foot of the Throne an humble address on the fiscal relations of

this Province with Lower Canada, and in so successfully obtaining the ob-
ject of our prayer.”
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CHAPTER VI,
FROM AGITATION TO REBELLION

URING the ten vears from 1815 to 1825 a dominant and attractive
figure in York was Chief Justice William Dummer Powell. His town
house on King Street and his country seat at Caer Howell, near the

present Conservatory of Music, were familiar to the society of the period
and were centres of education and refinement.

Judge Powell was born in Boston in 1755, his father being a contractor
for the British Navy, and a man of Welsh extraction. His mother was Janet
Grant, the daughter of a wealthy Scottish family. He was educated in
Boston, in Tunbridge, England, and in Holland, and spoke French and Dutch
with fluency. He was married at the age of twenty to Anne Murray, of
Norwich, England, who was visiting relatives at Boston when the American
Revolution began. ‘

The Powells were Lovalists, and William Dummer served as a volunteer
in the British forces which beseiged the city after the famous Boston tea
party. When General Gage returned to England Powell and his bride went
with him. In London Powell studied law, and in 1779 came to Canada and
practised in Montreal for ten years. Then he was appointed Judge of the
District of Hesse, which included all of Upper Canada west of Long Point.
His headquarters were at Detroit, where he remained until 1794, when he
was appointed a puisné Judge of the new Upper Canada Court of King’s
Bench. After a sojourn at Newark, he removed to York, where he made his
home until his death in 1834. His oldest son, John, who was in business, had
a prominent part in the defence of Toronto in 1837, and was Mayor of the

City from 1838 to 1840.

The second son who bore his father’s name, William Dummer, was a
lawyer who died at a comparatively early age. Grant was a physician who
served during the war of 1812. Jeremiah had a particularly adventurous
career. After being educated in England he returned to America in 1801
and was placed in the commission office of Lennox and Maitland, New York.
In 1804 he went to Hayti and began business there as a commission merchant
with a man named Windsor. Things did not go well. The firm earned the
enmity of Dessalines, the “black Emperor,” and by 1806 young Powell’s
position became uncomfortable, if not dangerous.

Then Don Francisco Miranda came to Hayti on his filibustering expedi-
tion against Venezuela, which had the approval of the British Government,
then at war with Spain. Powell was persuaded to join the party, but on
April 20th Spanish coastguards met and destroyed the expedition. Miranda
saved his skin, but 57 of his followers were captured. Ten were hanged the
nert morning. Thirteen were sent to prison for ten years in an unwhole-
some district, sixteen were sentenced to eight yvears’ imprisonment, fifteen
to ten years in a comparatively comfortable place, and three were reserved
for the King’s pleasure. Jeremiah Powell was in the second-last class.

157
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When the news reached York Judge Powell got leave of absence and
set about the considerable task of getting the lad released. He left home
in July, 1806, visiting Boston, Philadelphia and then London, England. No
passports were issued for travel in Spain, but James Monroe, the American
Minister, facilitated his journey by making him an official messenger for the
American Embassy. Then bearing letters from Lord Holland and from Dr.
Jenner, the discoverer of vaccination, he proceeded to Spain, saw the King
and secured the pardon of his boy. A British warship bore the necessary
papers for service on the Venezuelan Government, and Jeremiah was re-
leased. His father was back at York by October, 1807. The son reached
home in February, 1808, but after a month of rest went adventuring once
more. In that same vear he sailed irom Curacao for England on the ship
Alerander, which was never again heard of.

The youngest son, Thomas William, was drowned at Kingston, whither he
had gone to attend school. He was only ten years old.

The daughters of the family were one who died in infancy, Anne, who
grew to be a beautiful, but opinionated voung woman, Elizabeth, who died
unmarried, and Mary Boyles, who became the wife of Samuel Peters Jarvis
of York.

In 1822 Anne determined, against the advice of her family, to go to Eng-
land and see her father. She was friendly with John Beverley Robinson and
his wife, and at first proposed to go with them. Her mother objected. Anne
was angered and went with the Robinsons to New York. There she did not
avail herself of the opportunity of going in the same ship, but waited a
month for the next packet, the Albion. That vessel was wrecked on the
coast of Ireland and Anne Powell was among the lost. Her body was washed
ashore and was buried in Templetrine Parish Church, where a monument to
her memory was erected by her father. Of nine children born to Judge
Powell and his wife, three had been drowned.

Dr. William Warren Baldwin, physician, lawver, Clerk of the Peace, and
eminent citizen, found himself one morning a considerable landed proprietor.
The York property of the Hon. Peter Russell, devised at his death in 1808 to
his sister Elizabeth, was willed by her to Dr. Baldwin, as the family’s next
friend. On the Park Lot west of the Grange, which was a part of the legacy,
was erected the Baldwin country seat, long known as Spadina House. It
was a roomy, one-storey frame building, sitting on the brow of Russell Hill
on the site of the present Austin residence. It was burned in 1829, but was
replaced by a two-storey frame building which stood until recent times.

In the first “Spadina” during the Christmas season of 1824 the young
folk of the family and their friends presented an elaborate dramatic enter-
tainment. A programme, in manuscript, is preserved among the Powell
Papers in the Toronto Public Libraryv. It has uncommon historical interest,
not alone because of the glimpse it affords of a happy home after the Dickens
model, but because of the histrionic activity of Robert, in later years a figure
of much importance on the political stage of United Canada.

ProLoGUE
to “The Revenge,” as performed before the familyv and their much esteemed
neighbors, Col. and Mrs. Wells, at Spadina, during the Christmas holydays,
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1824-5. Spoken by Robert Baldwin in the character of “Alonzo,” and written
by his father, W. W. B.:

The Tragic Muse, caressed from earliest time,
Needs not from us a complimentary rhyme,
Yet, though our tyros would not wish to tear
One sprig of laurel from the poet’s hair,

All ery, while all admit the author’s merit,
“Would that his ‘Zanga’ breathed a better spirit,”
No more does Virtue need the gloom of Vice,
To bid emotions in our bosoms rise,

Than need an Eastern gloom the Western skies
To spread their glories to admiring eyes.
Though ‘‘Zanga’s’” rage some moderation knew
‘“Alonzo’s’’ horrors need not lessen too.

Such awful contrasts Nature seldom draws,

And pen and pencil should obey her laws.

Yet so it is the author doth prescribe,

And we have nought to do but to transcribe
Upon our features, voice, our actions, air,
Pride, anger and contempt, love, hatred and despair.
Be not surprised if youthful action faints
Beneath the weight of passion which he paints.
Remember, friends, we would not have you think
We dip our fortunes in the poet’s ink,

Or place our honours in the Drama’s praise,
Though Garrick, Roscius, live till nowadays.
You parents mark our course, in virtue’s scope,
Ours be the task to realize your hope,

And trust all modest scruples in despite

That friendship, not our vanities invite

You, worthy neighbors, to partake this night
Pleasure more pleasing if it hap to spread
Round hearts like yours a sympathetic thread.
Pleased as we are that so much taste and worth
Should grace and animate our Christmas sport.
And now while chearful, holy days permit

An hour from labour stolen and lent to wit
And joke, and dance and merriment,

Reproof be mute while mirth is innocent.

And if our play attains the wished success

To improve our voice, our action, our address,
You’'ll all admit the time not spent in vain,
Wherein the “Utile” and ‘“Duke’” join.

This last line probably has some family allusion which makes it Greek
to the modern reader. Occasionally the scansion fails and the figures are not
happy, but Dr. Baldwin was not addressing the public. He was concerned
in a gentle conspiracy to please the children, and his prologue shows him
in a charming light. The Sullivan young folk were first cousins of the

Baldwins:

THE REVENGE

performed at Spadina during the Christmas holydays, 24-5, by the juvenile
part of the family.”
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DranaTis PERSONZE

Don AIONZO ... i ittt ee et nnnens Robert Baldwin
Don Carlos .........ciieeeivennanns Robert Sullivan
Don AIVATEZ . .. vt v ittt i st nnnnss William Baldwin
Don Manuel ...........cc0iivenvnnnnn St. George Baldwin
ZANER ..o v evn ettt Henry Sullivan
LEONOTe .o i i ittt it Eliza Sullivan
Isabella ..........ciiiiiinneeeeans Louise Sullivan

SHE Stoors To CONQUER

DraMAaTIS Prrsox=z

Mr. Hardeastle ....... .........ccu.e Robert Sullivan
Sir C. Marlow .............c s William Baldwin
Young Marlow ...........ccuiivunnne Henry Baldwin
Mr. Hastings ............cccvvuu..n Robert Baldwin
Tony Lumpkin ..................... Henry Sullivan
Diggory ....... .. Mr. Stotesbury
Stingo ... e St. George Baldwin
Mrs. Hardeastle .. .................. Mrs. J. Baldwin
Miss Hardeastle . ................... Miss C. Shaw
Miss Neville . ........ i, Eliza Sullivan
Maid ..... 0 e e Louise Sullivan

AFTERPIECE TO BOTH PLAYS
BoMBasTES Frrioso

Bombastes Furioso ................. Henry Sullivan
Fusbos .....ciiiiiiiii s Robert Sullivan
Ist courtier . ......... . ... Robert Baldwin
2nd courtier . ....... .. .. ... oL, William Baldwin
Drummer ..........c. 0ttt Augustus Sullivan

Laurent Quetton, who had come to York with Count de Puisaye, took
kindly to the country and soon after his arrival established in 1802 a general
store. He had changed his name to Quetton St. George.
at the corner of King and Frederick Streets was the first brick building
to be erected by a private individual. He remained in York through the
war of 1812-14, and after the downfall of Napoleon returned to France,

leaving his business in charge of his attorney, Dr. \WW. \W. Baldwin.

His establishment

He had

prospered in Canada, and after his death it was found that he was the owner
of 8700 acres of land. A statement of his losses by reason of the war was
submitted to the authorities by Dr. Baldwin, in 1823:

Goods destroyed at Lewistown in December 1813 by
the enemMIY . . v it ettt et e e e e e
Goods and merchandise destroyed by the enemy
at York, April 27th, 1813 .. ..............
Taken by the enemy at York, by a detachment of
the enemy under Colonel Scott in the sum-
mer of 1818 ... ... ittt i e
Ditto, destroved by army of enemy under Colonel
Brown, 8th June, 1814 ..................
By ditto lost, being driven on shore by a vessel of
the enemy off York in 1813 ...............
Furs lost in 1814 by a boat captured by the enemy
on the way to Montreal ...................
Waggons pressed into King’s service at Head of the
Lake and never restored .................

£
173

338

21
1,311
125
43

25

15

16

15

d

414
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£ 8 d
An ox killed in Government work at Head of the
) O - Y 10 0 0
24 barrels of flour stolen at Head of the Lake by
Indians and soldiers during war ............ 75 0 0
£2,176 6 T4

At the time of the raid upon York by Chauncey and Dearborn, Dr. Bald-
win concealed some of his household valuables in Captain de Hoen’s barn,
up Yonge Street. On the night of November 20th, 1813, a group of soldiers,
said to have belonged to the 8th Regiment, broke into the barn and carried
away the following articles:

£ s d

1 silver sugar dish, with cover, and tongs of silver,
valued at ....... . . 8 10 0
1silver goblet . ...... ... .. . . . e 4 0 0
1 silver soup-ladle ...... ... ... ... . .. .. 3 0 0
9 tablespoons of silver ........... ... .¢iuiiiinenrnn. 9 0 0
11 desserts do do ... ... e e 7 10 0
2 silver sauce ladles ......... ... . .iiirii i 1 15 0
4 do salt SpoODS . ...... .. ... e, 1 0 0
12 do teasPOONS ...ttt it e 3 10 0
1 black silk GOWN . ... ... e e 5 16 8
£44 1 8

These were the household goods of a stately gentleman in fairly good
circumstances.

It was a time when the modest affluence which could furnish a dinner-
table adequately was magnified unduly in the eyes of the poor. The great
majority of people in Upper Canada found it hard to provide the dinner it-
self. Immigrants lately come from Scotland and Ireland, “homesteaders”
from Eastern Canada and the United States, dwellers in log huts, familiar
with toil, unfamiliar with finerv, must have looked with envy upon the
“County families.” Those families could afford to send their children abroad
for an education. They could afford to fare sumptuously every day, to main-
tain a wardrobe of bottle-green swallow-tails for the men and rustling
cowns for the women.

Yet these leaders of Society themselves had been poor. When agitators
assured the people that their lofty neighbors had battened on public funds
and public lands, had gained their wealth at the expense of the Province ; when
it was said that the taxes of the poor were applied to the solace of the rich
it is not surprising that dissatisfaction grew, whether the accusation were
true or not. \When the popular House demanded reforms in government
and all its proposals were denied, all its plans blocked by the appointed
House, unrest swelled into clamor and clamor into a stern and resolute
anger. Dr. Baldwin’s syvmpathies were with the Reformers. This was per-
haps the only “County family” of a Whiggish tendency to be found in the
neighborhood of York.

The first steamer on Il.ake Ontario was the Frontenac, promised by
“Thomas Markland and others.” It arrived at York on its first trip on June
6th, 1816, and continued in service between Kingston, York and Niagara,
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until 1827, when it was burned at the Niagara wharf. Its successor was the
Alciope, built at Niagara .in 1828. Passenger traffic between York and
Niagara was served also by the Richmond, a sailing packet, which made
its first voyage on July 24th, 1820.

The Bank of Upper Canada was incorporated in 1819 at the petition of
Robert Charles Horne, John Scarlett, Francis Jackson, William Warren
Baldwin, Alexander Legge, Thomas Ridout, Samuel Ridout, D’Arcy Boul-
ton, junior; William B. Robinson, James Macaulay, Duncan Cameron, Guy
C. Wood, Robert Anderson, John Baldwin, and others. The capital stock was
to consist of 16,000 shares of £12 10s each. The Government might subscribe
for 2,000 shares, but no individual could hold more than 80. The first bank
within the Province continued in business until 1866.

An Agricultural Society was formed in 1818 and a Cattle Show was held
on May 7th, 1820. About this time also tenders were invited for the new
Market Building, and the Hospital was established in its own building on
the present Richmond Street near Simcoe.

As early as 1800 William Bond had had a nursery garden at the corner
of Ontario and Duke Streets. In advertising it for sale he enumerated 41
apple trees, 30 peach trees, 9 cherry, “black and red plums, red and white
currants, gooseberries, etc.”

An inquiry into the state of the Postal Service was made by a Committee
of the Assembly during the Session of 1821, Dr. Baldwin being Chairman.
The testimony of William Allan, Deputy Postmaster of York, gave a schedule
of prevailing rates which follows: ‘

Eastern mail to and from York: Halifax, 2s 9d., Quebec, 1s 6d, Mont-
real, 1s 2d., Lancaster, 1s 1d.,, Cornwall, 1s 1d., Prescott, 10d., Kingston 10d.,
Belleville, 10d., Port Hope, 6d.

Western mail to and from York: Dundas, 8d., Grimsby, 10d., Niagara,
10d., Burford 1s., Port Talbot, 1s., Vittoria, 1s., Delaware 1s., Sandwich, 1s
4d., Amherstburg, 1s 4d.

The annual receipts at the York post officc were from £800 to £900 per
annuni. Altogether there were 35 post offices in the Province.

Primary education was still an affair of the parents and not of the State.
On April 30th, 1805, William Jarvis, James Macaulay, William Chewett,
Thomas Ridout, Allan MacNab and others made a contract with Alexander
William Carson, a school teacher, to conduct a school for the children of
the men named, and others up to the number of 25, “in the arts of spelling,
reading, writing and arithmetic” in a house owned by William Jarvis, and
situated on lot No. 3, on the north side of Duke Street. The hours of teach-
ing were to be from 8 to 12 and from 2 to 5 from May 1st to October 1st;
from 9 to 12 and from 2 to 4 from October 1st to May 1st. The salary ar-
ranged was £3 15s a month, and the gentlemen undertook to find good and
sufficient board and lodging for the teacher, “liquors excepted.”

The dream of Dr. Strachan, the successive Governors, and the Colonial
Office, was the creation of an Established Church in a country where Anglic-
ans were in the minority and where various kinds of Dissent were flourish-
ing. The law had set apart one-seventh of the land for the support of “a
Protestant clergy.” The interpretation that the only Protestant clergy were
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Anglicans gave a gratuitous insult to Presbyterians, Lutherans, Methodists,
Tunkers and others. The payment of public money for the support of
Anglican clergy and the use of clergy reserve funds (derived from the
growth of land values, because of Nonconformist settlement in the country)
in the propaganda against Nonconformity was a supreme folly. The re-
actionary argument that since the Church of England was a part of the
King’s Government, a Dissenter was of questionable loyalty, was used by
churchmen, not for the extension of public peace. The settlers of all sects
had proved that no matter after what form they prayed their arms were
taken for the support of the King’s Government in 1812.

The attitude of the authorities towards Dissent is well illustrated by a
letter from General Drummond to the Minister, under date of April 30th,
1814. The General asked for authority to obtain more clergy with the usual
allowance to each of £100 a year. He continued: “Previous to the war itin-
erant fanatics, enthusiastic in political as well as religious matters, were in
the habit of coming from the United States, and from the scarcity of clergy-
men they were cordially received and thus disseminated their noxious prin-
ciples.”

In 1821 the Roman Catholic congregation of York obtained permission
from Parliament to dispose of a lot at the corner of George and Duke
Streets, and purchase land in a more eligible situation for the building of a
church. The trustees were James Baby, John Small, and Rev. Alexander
Macdonell. Land was procured where the present St. Paul’s Church stands.

When the first chapel was built in the year 1824 a group of leading
citizens of Protestant faith contributed generously, the collectors being Dr.
Wiiliam Warren Baldwin, the Solicitor-General, Mr. H. J. Boulton, Mr.
Simon Washburn and Colonel James Fitz Gibbon. The Trustees made public
announcement of this kindness in the following resolution: “That we hail the
liberality which our Protestant and dissenting brethren manifested on this
occasion as a certain prelude to future concord among all classes of the
community.”

The strong and steady loyvalty of the Macdonell family of Toronto and of
the members of the Clan in the County of Glengarry, gave proof that religion
was an affair of the individual soul rather than of the State. Yet the Court
of Sir Peregrine Maitland saw no reason to abate sectarian arrogance, or to
consider the claims of Dissent.

Bv an Act of 1824 the Presbyterian Congregation of York was authorized
to purchase one or more parcels of land sufficient for the erection of a church
and the establishment of a burying ground.

Barnabas Bidwell’s election to the Assembly for Lennox and Addington
was contested in 1821. He had been a municipal officer in the State of Massa-
chusetts and had taken the oath of allegiance to the United States before
removing to Canada “under a cloud.” Despite the protest of his supporters,
who declared that thev had known him for ten years, during which time
his conduct had been thoroughly worthy and his loyalty to the British con-
stitution approved, Mr. Bidwell was unseated. Matthew Clark was elected
in his place, but he in turn was unseated. Bidwell’s son, Marshall S. Bidwell,
was the next choice of the constituency, and while an effort was made in
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the House to declare him incapable of serving, since he was a native of the
United States, and had not been naturalized by any British Act of Parlia-
ment, that effort failed. Marshall Spring Bidwell took his seat and for many
vears was a distinguished figure in the life of Upper Canada.

An advertisement appeared on October 1st, 1822, in The Upper Canada
Gazette, calling a meeting of the Directors and those who were subscribers
to the Toronto Library, “that was established in York in December, 1810.”
The meeting place was De Forest’s Hotel, and the object was “to take into
consideration the disposal of such of the books as now remain, belonging
to the said Library, in the possession of William Allan, Treasurer.” There
was a postscript to the notice requesting persons who had any of the books
to return them to Mr. Allan. Evidently this was a collection entirely apart
from the Parliamentary Library, destroyed by the Americans, probably a
private circulating Library, after the type well-known in the small towns
of England and Scotland.

On the 16th of January, 1824, a Committee of Parliament recommended
that the sum of £200 should be placed at the disposal of His Excellency the
Lieutenant-Governor, for the purpose of completing the present sets of the
“Statutes at Large,” “Annual Register,” “Parliamentary Debates.” “Quar-
terly Review,” “Edinburgh Review,” and to procure a second set of the
“Statutes at Large,” and the latest edition of “Burns’ Justice.” The follow-
ing sentence in the report of the Committee indicates that human nature is a
“constant.” “Several books are missing from the Library, but as it is sup-
posed they are in the possession of gentlemen connected with the Legisla-
ture, it is probable that they will be speedily returned.”

Edward Allen Talbot, “of the Talbot Settlement, Upper Canada,” wrote
a book about the Province, which was published in 1823. The reference to
York was hardly complimentary: ‘“The streets of York are regularly laid
out, intersecting each other at right angles. Only one of them, however,
is vet completely built and in wet weather the unfinished streets are, if
possible, muddier and dirtier than those of Kingston. The situation of the
town is very unhealthy; for it stands on a piece of low marshy land which
1s better calculated for a frog-pond or beaver-meadow than for the residence
of human beings. The inhabitants are on this account much subject, par-
ticularly in Spring and Autumn, to agues and intermittent fevers; and prob-
ably five-sevenths of the people are annually afflicted with these complaints.
He who first fixed upon this spot as the site for the Capital of Upper Can-
ada, whatever predilection he may have had for the roaring of frogs or for
the effluvia arising from stagnated waters and putrid vegetables, can scarcely
have had very great regard for preserving the lives of His Majesty’s sub-

jects. The town of York possesses one great advantage, which is that of a
good, but defenceless, harbor.”

The result of Dr. Strachan’s visits to England in 1824 and 1826 appeared
on March 31st, 1827, in the issue of Letters Patent for establishing at or
near the town of York a College, with the style and privileges of a University,
to be called King’s College. It was announced that His Majesty had granted
£1,000 per annum as a fund for the building, to be paid out of the moneys
furnished by the Canada Company, and to continue during the terms of the
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agreement with that Company. There was to be no religious test, except
to students in Divinity, but all seven professors were to be members of the
Church of England and subscribers to the Thirty-Nine Articles. The Bishop
was to be the Visitor, the Lieutenant-Governor the Vice-Chancellor, and the
Archdeacon of York (Dr. Strachan) was to be President by virtue of his
office.

It was not unnatural that the members and adherents of other religious
bodies found in this Charter yet another cause of offence. As far as possible
Dr. Strachan had succeeded in making the Anglican Church an Establish-
ment in Upper Canada, although the great majority of the people were Dis-
senters, and it seemed as if he were resolved upon making all higher educa-
tion Anglican. The fact that no religious tests were to be administered to
students was more than balanced by the fact that the Professonat would be
Anglican to a man, and probably that they would be in Holy Orders. Here
was occasion for dissension in a Province and a community which already
had sufficient cause.

Meanwhile, at the instance of Sir Peregrine Maitland, a block of land
had been set aside to serve as an endowment for a proposed boys’ school after
the type of the Public Schools of England. Sir John Colborne ardently sup-
ported the enterprise and in the spring of 1829 arrangements were complet-
ed for building and organizing Upper Canada College. The organization was
complete before the school-building was ready and on Monday, January 8th,
1830, the first classes met in the Home District Grammar School, by this
time on the corner of Lombard and Jarvis Streets. The Principal was Rev.
J. H. Harris, D.D., a former fellow of Clare Hall, Cambridge. Rev. T. H.
Phillips, D.D., of the Grammar School, was Vice-Principal. The Classical
Masters were Rev. Charles Matthews, M.A., of Pembroke College, Cam-
bridge, and Rev. W. Boulton, B.A., of Queen’s College, Oxford. The
Mathematical Master was Rev. Charles Dade, M.A. Fellow of Caius
College, Cambridge.* French was taught by Mr. J. P. de la Haye; English,
Writing and Arithmetic by Mr. G. A. Barber, and Mr. J. Padfield, and the
Drawing Master was Mr. Drury.

The College buildings were completed in 1831, being situated in a lot
of six acres on King Street opposite Government House. The dimensions
of the two-storey structure were 32 by 80 feet. The material was red brick.
The terms for boarders were announced in the papers as £35 for boys from 6
to 12 vears of age, and £41 for all over 12. The original endowment of the
institution, which has had a brilliant scholastic history, was 66,000 acres of
Crown lands.

Colonel Ryerson, of Norfolk County Militia, a United Empire Loyvalist
and a sturdy Tory, was choleric and unreasonable when he first heard that
his sons Egerton and \William were likely to become Methodist preachers.
Time moderated his vexation, and there came a day when he regarded his
carnest and high-minded boys with a measure of pride. Egerton from his
carliest twenties was a figure of importance in the life of Upper Canada.
His numerous controversies with Archdeacon Strachan on the rights of Dis-

*Rev. Mr. Dade died in Georgetown, and a monument to his memory was erected
by former pupils. By an odd conceit there is carved on the stone the accepted figure
for the proof of the 47th Proposition of Euclid, Book 1.
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senters were sustained with energy and with dignity. As the founder and
first editor of The Christian Guardian, established in 1829, he defined very
clearly the position of the Methodist people, differentiating them from the
Republican party but not abating in any degree his protest against discrim-
ination and injustice.

In 1826 the British Government made an agreement for the sale of the
Upper Canada clergy reserves to an English colonization corporation known
as the Canada Company. The commissioner appointed by the Company to
supervise its business at York was John Galt, poet, dramatist, novelist and
traveller. Before the agreements were ratified a new proposal was made, at
the instance of Rev. Dr. Strachan and his associates, whereby the clergy
reserves were returned to the hands of the Anglican Church, and the Canada
Company received in lieu of the 800,000 acres surrendered, that portion of
Western Ontario known as the Huron tract, stretching from Wellington
County to Lake Huron and covering 1,100,000 acres.

Mr. Galt, in his Autobiography, said that Dr. Strachan got back his 800,-
000 acres and 750,000 acres more. During the three years that Galt was in
Canada he and his friend, William Dickson, founded Guelph, Goderich and
other communities in that fertile part of Ontario. Bosanquet, one of the
townships of Lambton, was named after Charles Bosanquet, the Governor
of the Company.

The commissioner was a hypochondriac. His health was never good
and he was sensitive. His view of York in 1827 was not flattering:
“In a small new town accommodations were not easilv found, but I ob-
tained at last a room of about ten feet square, for an office, for which I
paid a dollar a week. The best tavern in York was a mean, two-storey
house, and being constructed of wood every noise in it resounded from
roof to foundation.” The office was at the corner of King and Frederick
Streets. The tavern was Frank’s Hotel. In the ballroom of that house
of entertainment the first professional dramatic company seen in York
gave its performances.

Mr. Galt’'s manner was not happy, and he soon gained the reputation
of being unnecessarily haughty. On hearing that Sir Peregrine Maitland
was about to appoint him Colonel of a Militia Regiment he thought that
the time had come to unbend a trifle. He writes: “I determined t., chanwe
my recluseness into something more cordial towards the general inhab-
itants of York. I therefore directed one of the clerks to make arrange-
ments for giving a general Fancy Ball to all my acquaintances and the
principal inhabitants. T could not be troubled with the details mvself, but
exhorted him to make the invitations as numerous as possible. " A short
time before this project Judge \Villis, with his lady and mother, had ar-
rived in the Province, and as the old ladv agreed to superintend the en-
tertainment I was sure it would be well done.”

The ball took place on New Year's Eve, December 31st, 1827, and was
a social occasion long remembered. The walls and ceiling of the room at
Frank’s were covered with hemlock evergreen and dotted with lights. The
floor was decorated with the arms of the Company. Lady Mary Willis
appeared as Mary, Queen of Scots; Mr. Buchanan, son of the British con-
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sul at New York, as Darnley, and Mr. Thomas, of the Canada Company
office, as Rizzio. Judge Willis represented the Countess of Desmond, aged
100 years, and his daughter wore the cap and bells of Folly. Dr. William
Warren Baldwin was a Roman Senator, his two sons represented the
Dioscuri, and his nephew Augustus Sullivan, Puss-in-Boots. Dr. Grant
Powell appeared as Dr. Pangloss; Colonel Givens, his son Adolphus, and
Raymond Baby were Indian chiefs. Mr. Gregg of the Commissariat De-
partment, appeared as Othello, and was greatly disturbed when Mr. Kerr,
dressed as a Kentucky backwoodsman, expressed a desire to buy him.

A merry entertainment—but Mr. Galt’s colonelcy was withheld owing
to a misunderstanding which brought a reprimand from the Directors of
the Company to Mr. Galt on a charge of having insulted the Governor.

Judge Willis had a brief term of office, but one not without variety.
He incurred the displeasure of the administration and on July 17th, 1828,
the Gazette contained the following mnotice: “His Excellency has been
pleased to appoint Charles Alexander Hagerman to be Judge of the Court
of King’s Bench, in the room of John Walpole Willis, amoved.”

By 1832 new Parliament buildings were erected on a plot of six acres
of land facing on Front Street and bounded on the east by Simcoe Street.
They were handsome brick structures of Georgian type. The main build-
ing was 133 feet long and 90 feet wide; each wing had a length of 90 feet,
being 55 feet wide and the Chambers for both branches of the Legislature
were spacious and convenient. The cost was in the neighborhood of
£10,000. Hon. William Allan, William Thompson and Dr. Grant Powell
were the commissioners serving as a building committee. The original
contractor failed in business, and the work was directed by John Ewart,
who also built Osgoode Hall.

It is unfortunate that these buildings, which had high architectural
merit, were crowded and hustled by the growing and irreverent city until
they were swept out of existence. Today the site is a network of railway
tracks and a wearisome length of freight sheds.

During the summer and autumn of 1832 Canada had a visitation of
Asiatic cholera. The disease had appeared in England some months be-
fore and the physicians found themselves helpless before it. Dr. William
Marsden described the situation as follows: “On the first appearance of
this unknown disease in London medical men of every grade, more par-
ticularly those practising in the higher branches of the profession, on view-
ing the afflicted patient became terrified and panic-stricken; and the public
in consequence of their professional advisers being ignorant of the nature
of this malady, were completely bewildered and paralyzed.

“In this state of things the richly-endowed hospitals of the metropolis
closed their doors against the wretched sufferers, the affluent inhabitants
fled, and the great and wealthy members of the faculty dared not, or would
not, condescend to visit the habitations of the afflicted.” The Free Hospital
for the Cure of Malignant Diseases, then in Greville Street, Hatton Gar-
den, made up fifty beds for cholera patients, but this was the only hospital
service provided. Dr. Marsden declared that the disease was neither con-
tagious nor infectious; and thought that its origin was from air that had
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been overcharged with water. “We are equally in the dark respecting the
origin of all epidemic diseases.”

That was only ninety vears ago. Of all the progress of the Nineteenth
Century the advancement of Medical Science was perhaps the most notable.

The disease appeared at Quebec in early summer among a shipload of
emigrants and caused 2,800 deaths out of a population of 28,000. Among
the English-speaking people, who numbered about 5,000, there were 785
deaths, and on June 15th and 16th, 140 persons were buried by Anglican
clergymen. Gradually the infection spread until it reached York.

The percentage of fatalities was not as great in York as in Quebec.
No exact figures seem to be available, but at least 400 persons died of the
disease. Archdeacon Strachan’s constitutional energy and courage found
vent in serving the afflicted to the utmost of his powers. Although he was
up and about at all hours of the day and night he found time to organize
a subscription for the relief of widows and orphans, bereaved in the course
of the epidemic. The total amount collected was £1,263 9s. Of this the
congregation of St. James’s Church contributed £1,176 3s; the Kirk of Scot-
land £49 15s 8d; the Presbyterian congregation £18 11s. and the Roman
Catholics £19 11s. No separate list was kept of the contributions of Meth-
odists, although Rev. Egerton Ryerson’s name is set down in the Treas-
urer’s books for £3 10s. Mr. E. E. Alexander Wood was Treasurer and
about 150 families received timely relief.

In the spring of 1835 a number of the parishioners of St. James's
Church purchased a piece of plate for presentation to Dr. Strachan. The
following address accompanied it: “Reverend Sir: During the prevalence
of the Asiatic cholera which on two occasions had raged violently in the
City, your parishioners and others were so deeply impressed with a sense
of yvour faithful and zealous discharge of the duties of a Christian minister,
that many of them have since resolved to record permanently their feel-
ings of gratitude and respect.

“The measures for this purpose which were taken when the occasion
was recent, have been carried into effect and we now attend upon vou with
a request that you will accept it from us in affectionate remembrance of
the fortitude, the energy, the unwearied perseverance and benevolence
with which you devoted yourself to the duties of your sacred profession
when surrounded by affliction, danger and despondency.

“In common with those whose sufferings you labored to alleviate and
whose distress awakened our warmest sympathy, we would express by
this offering our thankfulness that amidst the mortality by which you
were encompassed, vou have been spared for the further exercise of those
Christian charities which we have seen vou ever ready to extend without
regard to consideration of personal danger or fatigue, looking only to the
necessities which required your assistance, and to the means which vou
had it in your power to apply to their relief.” )

The subscribers to this testimonial were John B. Robinson, James B.
Macaulay, Peter Robinson, George Crookshanks, \Wm. Allan, Alexander
Wood, D. Cameron, Joseph Wells, F. T. Billings, John Beikie, William
Chewett, Andrew Mercer, C. A. Hagerman, D’Arcy Boulton, Wm. H.
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Draper, C. Gamble, Wm. B. Jarvis, Alexander Dixon, George Monro,
Thomas Carfrae, George Gurnett, George Ridout, Robert Blevins, William
Atkinson, Theodore Hart, John Craig, George Duggan, George T. Deni-
son, William Proudfoot, P. G. Anderson, James Newbigging, G. S. Boul-
ton, R. C. Horne, James Fitz Gibbon, S. Washburn, James Nation, R. S.
Jameson, Raymond Baby, John McGill, James Beaty, John Powell.
Thomas Bright, William Cooper, John Ritchie, John Ewart, Robert Gil-
lespie, John G. Spragg, James F. Smith, H. Heward, John Radenhurst,
Thomas H. Taylor, Robert Stanton, G. H. Markland, John Caldwell, Grant
Powell, N. Coffin, Major Winnett, Walter Rose, S. Ridout, John Ridout,
Thomas Helliwell, Thomas Dalton, Robert Hawke, George P. Bull,
Thomas Barnes, J. W. Brent, John F. Taylor, W. Cawdell, George C.
Ridout, William H. Lee, James Trotter, John Armstrong, J. G. Beard, Wil-
liam Arthurs, William Stewart, Hugh Richardson, S. P. Jarvis, R. Rich-
ardson, Captain Truscott, William Campbell.

Chapter 2 of the Statutes of 1817 was entitled “An Act to Establish a
Police in the Towns of York, Sandwich and Amherstburg.” It provided
that the Magistrates assembled in Quarter Sessions might make such pru-
dential rules and regulations as they might deem expedient relating to pav-
ing, lighting, keeping in repair, and improving the streets of the said
towns, regulating the “assize” of bread and abating nuisances. Powers
were granted to enforce the town laws relative to the running at large of
cattle and swine, to inspect weights and measures, and to supervise fire-
men and fire companies. It was specifically stated that the beach east of
Russell’s Creek, and the carriage-way in front of t